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TR Property Investment Trust plc

The investment objective of TR Property
Investment Trust plc is to maximise
shareholders’ total returns by investing

in the shares and securities of property
companies and property related businesses
internationally and also in investment
property located in the UK.

INTRODUCTION

TR Property Investment Trust plc (the "Company” or the
“Trust”) was formed in 1905 and has been a dedicated
property investor since 1982 The Company is an
Investment Trust and its shares are premium listed on the
Lendon Stock Exchange.

BENCHMARK

The benchmark 15 the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed
Europe Capped Net Total Return Index in Sterling.

INVESTMENT POLICY

The Company seeks to achieve its cbjective by mvesting in
shares and securities of property companies and property
related businesses on an international basis, although,
with a Pan-European benchmark, the majornty of the
investments will be located in that geographical area The
Company also invests in investment property located in
the UK only.

Further details of the Investment Policies, the Asset
Allocation Guidelines and pelicies regarding the use of
gearing are set out in the Strateqic Report on page 25 and
the entire porliglio is shown on page 18

INVESTMENT MANAGER

BMO Investment Business Limited acts as the Company's
alternative investment fund manager ("AIFM”) with
portfolio management delegated to Thamas River Capital
LLP ("the Portfoho Manager” or “the Manager”) Marcus
Phayre-Mudge has managed the portfalic since 1 April
2011 and been part of the Fund Management team since
1997,
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INDEPENDENT BOARD

The Direclors are all independent of the Manager and
meel reqularly to consider investment strategy, to monitor
adherence to the stated objective and investment policies
and (o review performance. Details of how the Beard
operates and fulfils its responsibilities are set out in the
Repart of the Directors on page 41.

PERFORMANCE

The Financial Highlights for the current year are sel out
opposite and Histoncal Performance can be found on
page 3. Key Performance Indicators are set out in the
Strategic Repart on pages 26 and 27.

RETAIL INVESTORS ADVISED BY IFAS

The Company currently conducts its affairs so that its
shares can be recommended by Independent Finangial
Advisers {"IFAS"Y in the UK to ordinary retail investors in
accordance with the Finanaial Conduct Authority (“FCA™
rules in relation to non-mainstream investment products
and intends to continue to do so. The shares are excluded
from the FCA's restrictions, which apply to non-mainstream
investment products, because they are shares in an
autherised investment trust

FURTHER INFORMATION

General shareholder information and details of how to
invest in TR Property Investment Trust plc, including an
investment through an 1SA or saving scheme, can be
found on pages 111 and 112. This information can also be
found an the Trust’s website www.trproperty.com

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST 1



Financial Highlights and Performance

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
20N 2020 Change
Balance Sheet
Net asset value per share 41797p 358.11p +16.7%
Shareholders’ funds (£'000) 1,326,433 1,136,453 +16.7%
shares in issue at the end of the year (m) 374 374 +0.0%
Net debt™ 16.5% 7.6%
Share Price
Share price 392.50p 317.50p +23.6%
Market capitalisation £1,246m £1,008m +23.6%
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2N 2020 Change
Revenue
Revenue earnings per share . 12.25p 14.62p 16.2%
Dividends?
Interim dividend per share 5.20p 5.20p +0.0%
Final dividend per share 5.00p 8.80p +2.3%
Total dividend per share 14.20p 14.00p +1.4%

Performance: Assets and Benchmark

Net Asset Value total return®S +20.7% -11.5%
Benchmark total return® +15.9% -14.0%
Share price total returnts , +28.3% -16.8%
Ongoing Charges™*

Including performance fee +1.40% +0.80%
Excluding performance fee +0.65% +0.61%
Excluding performance fee and direct property costs +0.63% +0.59%

1. Net debt is the total value of loan notes, loans {including notional exposure to CFDs and Total Return Swap) less cash as a proportion of net asset value.

2. Dividends per share are the dividends in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2027 An interim dividend of 5.20p was paid in january 2023. A final dividend of
S.00p (2020: 8.80p) will be paid on 4 August 2021 to shareholders on the register on 18 June 2021,

The shares will be quoted ex-dividend on 77 june 2021,

3. The NAY Total Retum for the year is calculated by reinvesting the dividends in the assets of the Company trom the relevant ex-dividend date. Dividends are deemed
to be reinvested on the ex-dividend date as this is the protocol used by the Company’s benchmark and other indices.

4. The Share Price Total Return is calculated by reinvesting the dividends in the shares of the Company trom the relevant ex-dividend date.

5. Ongoing Charges are calculated in accordance with the AIC methodology. The Ongoing Charges ratios provided in the Company’s Key information Docurnent are
caleulated in line with the PRI requlation which is different to the AIC methodology.

& Considered to be an Alternative Performance Measuse as defined on page 98,

2 TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST



Historical Performance
For the years ended 31 March

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Performance for the year:

Total Return (%)

NAVN 154 -8.5 21.5 224 283 8.2 80 15.5 91 -5 20.7
Benchmark® 15.2 -8.9 178 149 233 5.4 6.5 10.2 56 -14.0 _15.9
Share Price® 126 95 258 37 295 A6 91 255 62 168 283
shareholders’ funds (£'m)

Total 670 588 684 809 1,010 1,065 118 1,256 1,328 1,136 1,326
Ordinary shares 531 470 684 809 1,010 1,065 1m8 1,256 1328 1,136 1,326
Sigma shares®™ 139 118 - - - - - - - - -
Ordinary shares

Net revenue {pence per share)

Earnings 6.94 707 6.74 809 8.89 8.36 1.38 13.22 14.58 14.62 12.25
Dividends® 6.00 6.60 700 745 770 8.35 10.50 12.20 13.50 14.06 14.20

NAV per share {(pence) 20710 183.60 21525 25494 31812 33556 352.42 39564 41854 35811 41797

Share price (pence) 17710 15450 18630 24750 310.50 29750 31450 38250 39400 31750 392.50
indices of growth

Share price® 100 87 105 140 175 168 178 Fal) 222 179 222
Net Asset Vaiue® 100 89 104 123 154 162 170 "% 202 173 202
Dividend Net® 100 10 nz 124 128 139 175 203 225 233 237
RPI 100 104 107 110 it 112 16 120 13 126 128
Benchmark® 100 87 99 105 126 130 134 144 47 123 140

Figures have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

(A} The NAV Tota! Return for each year Is calculated by reinvesting the dividends in the assets of the Company fram the relevant ex-dividend date. Dividends are
deemed to be reinvested at the ex-dividend date as this is the protocot used by the Company’s benchmark and cther indices. This is considered to be an Aiternative
Performance Measure as defined on page 58.

{B) Benchmatk index: composite index comprising the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed Europe TR index up to March 2013, and thereafter the FISE EPRA/NAREIT Developed
Europe Capped Index. Source: Thames River Capital.

{C) The Share Price Total Return is calculated by reinvesting the dividends in the shates of the Company from the relevant ex-dividend date.
(0} The Sigma share class was launched in 2607 and Sigma shares were redesignated as Ordinary shares on 17 Decemnber 2012.

(E) Dividends per share in the year to which their declaration relates and not the year they were paid.

(F) Share prices only. These do not reflect dividends paid.

(G} Capital only values, These do not reflect dividends paid.

(H) Price only value of the indices set out in (B) above.

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST
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Chairman’s Statement

| S

David Watson
Chairman

Whilst underlying earnings were initially
impacted by the pandemic, the message
from the vast majority of our invested
companies, which largely excludes
owners of retail property, has been a
considered and strong resumption in
dividends.

TR PROPERTY {NVESTMENT TRUST

INTRODUCTION

The start of this reporting penod was very close to the
recent COVID-19 influenced nadir of global equity markets
In March 2020. Since then equity markets have been
determinedly focused on the future rather than reflecting
on the more immediate economic data and human
tragedy of the pandemic. As a result, I'm able to report
healthy returns for the year with a net asset value ("NAY")
total return of 20.7%, well ahead of the benchmark total
retuin of 15.9%. The share price total return was even
stronger at 28.3% as the discount narrowed over the year

Stock markels have taken great comfort from the huge
amount of central bank stimulus and state aid for both
cerporates and indrviduals. Since November 2020, this
sense of suppart has been augmented by optimism
following the announcements and subsequent rollout of 2
range of vaccine programmes

The ¢nisis has forced a dramatic change I the way we work,
consurne and relax. Qver the last year our managemment team
has pondered not only the pace of Lhese changes across a
wide range of property sectors but also their sustainability
once the world reverts to “the new normal”

Over the last quarter of the financial year under review
and into the start of the new ane, we have seen very
dramalic share prce movements as ivestors rotated
from companies offernng the safety of secure income
towards thase offering greater nsk, particularly whete the
companies were trading at large discounts to their asset
value. Your manager's report will examine in mare detail
how the portfolio structure has evolved through these
thematic rotations



REVENUE RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Earnings for the year were 12.25p per share, 16% lower
than the prior year earnings of 14.62p.

The headline earnings per share figure is shightly deceptive,
earnings before tax were 24% lower than the previous year,
but a significant tax refund and some further prior period
withholding tax recovenes reduced the revenue tax charge
from an effective rate of 11.3% in 2020 to just 1.9% for the
financial year to March 2021, further details of this are set
out In the Manager’s Report.

The Beard has announced a final dividend of 9.00p per
share, bringing the full year dividend to 14.20p per share
{2020: 14 00p) an averall increase of 7.4% on the prior year
dividend The Bcard 1s conscious of the income aspirations
of some of our investor base and, although this dividend
is not fully covered, the Company has significant revenue
reserves available, As long as the Board has a reasonable
expectation of income returning to previous levels in the
medium term, the Board is happy o mainlain @ modest
level of dividend progression.

REVENUE OUTLOOK

within our portfohio, the manager anticipates income

for the year to March 2022 (o be spiit inta three broadly
equat parts with one third suffening a reduction and in
some cases significant cuts or even suspensions, a third
with income returning to pre-pandemic levels, and lhe
balance offering some level of increase We do not expedt
total income levels to return to pre-COVID-19 levels within
the current financial year although we do expect an
improvement relative to 2020/21.

After allowing lor the proposed dividend, revenue reserves
will still amount 10 12.18p per share qiving plenty of
capacity for the board to supplement the dividend again

In 2021/22, providing a return to pre-Covid levels can
reasonably be anticipated in the medium term

Oedinary Share Class Perfosmance: Total Return over 10 years (rebased)

200 I Benchmark Total Return  Jll TR Property Share Price Total Return 57 TR Property Net Asset Value Total Retum

Mar-10 Mar-11 Mar-12 Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15

Mar-16 Mar-17 Mar-18 Mar-19 Mar-20 Mar-21
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Chairman’s Statement continuod

NET DEBT AND CURRENCIES Noshere buy-hacks were made 11 the penod. although
the discount was wade atwanous pomts during the yeor
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discounts end our meanager focused our casital on those
opeoruntes
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demonstrates the benettof the fleability of our bonovand  tHE BOARD
structure, with a bose lavol supported by aur fixed

I am gretetul to my Board collezques and to the team
longer-tarm debt and the majonty achicved tougn the iy R - EYUES « o

ct TR for thatr support end commitmant this yecr Y

revalvng credit faalines and exposure thicugh contracts -

for diftorance (CRDs ). hew metin pal UH"!-IH&‘HE}‘ o tho lwws 2nd commen
sense alowed and v tucll, wenan necessae Though

Sterhing rezched o low cgamnst the Burnin Septembpel stcll 1 beheye the Bocrd hos on escellert halance and

2620 dn- y T2ers of 2 mo deal Bro<t and remaned spread ol skifls and cxpernar LJLJF:)DHL’T»- or the Trust's

telatizeb, weak untl lznuary 20210 As the new yeer emved objectives Wil ta 1ele tl:*‘|,‘ new members, and 2

nel (lpgp\[a ssias wath buresuerac, foi qoods Howninyg chanage n Cherr - heve been keen to ellowr us 2l ime

tebresn the UK and kurope Bresit issues took 3 back t ~ettle o our ks, Bven so. 1 am consaous of the

seat pumyvestons’ minds zs they focused anthe moute terr of our SI0L Simaa fier wlase ndependange,

normelisation ccrass the U< 2nd Catope os the vocomne skells end commutment are axeim pl(- v He Doags o unigee

pragaemmes ollad oat The UK s (Iﬁ.wl‘,- cheod of the contbuton with s cantmeniel pmpﬂrl ESEmEnT

Gl s espeet ard sterhng strengtie wd steodil cspertse that o hnghly velusd b s all 20d thes anll be

teepioneds ol geei 2nd naoch 2. ) nerd to replace. Fqually se oleeys engwy ard henet tAom
the taduction of 2 tresh ad cngu ong raed soowe sl

Ot pohc, s o mantar o hedged carrerc, exposure i ste1t the pracess at foo<ng “or by :np!-::-f.:.?m:*|wr fetorthiy

iz enth the tenchrak Stesting roprosents zrourd 2 . e Lo Sl 2 anderly suceossion

of the Bepcimark theretore m"*w Jtherieg Sterhisg s 2

hecdaind o e AY ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

FACTORS ('ESG’)

v bave edded moe intormennn or cur
cesponsihle ieczstment cpproech Foriman,
heve mzintzined 2 stiong pesition in r*;m of ot nq
ENGIgement >Jw‘w‘ 2d by oot sigmficent s

Ppropart; Comgaies s 7e !
: r:r‘u., Maikat hes Ralped ensorz harous

e rant hes b

acome 15 antedged end crsund 56 of oy ceme

1S re02l ed H) G Ny HTneT ?|‘f3|'“ Stelingy therefore
25 oul ncomz Shghtl, more rone

so then the second, so

SUSrgel 51.,,“‘-\,,
15 g2ty i the ot half of the

BLLTRE cLleet 00 iOn yES IR0 L ne el uber

TR BPROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST



140434 D1431VH1S

AWARDS All at e time when fixed mcome yiolds aie at histoncally

The Trust was the winner in the Specialist Equities lows Tevels and muc long duration sovereign debt offors
category of the Citywire Investment Trust Awards. This is neyetive yiekds to edemption.
particularly pleasing as we were in competition with Trusts .| ..

T - . stete offers ¢ substantie! margim over fieed income
specialising in a broad range of equities and alternatives.

with the oppartunsty to reflect 20y economig recovery
through rentel growth. As & reol asset 1t also has some
mflation prootng credentials. However, as the kast fifteen
months has rermided us, sentument can often overnde

WINNER fundarmentals m hquic equity merkets and our manaqers
INVESTMENT TRUST 2020 -
. IEDEENTERTREN will continue to tocus on the assessment of carmings
TR PROPERTY sustannelnlity and modum term growth potential
OUTLOOK David Watson
The pandermic has hed ¢ dramencimpact an the workd Charrinen
and on all aspects of real estate I some mstences this 3 June 2021
wies i accelerztion of trends et were well undeoeicy
suchr ey the stractural sh ammchaanst reteiling Fol
uthers, such as ingeesed remoie working, it hes bom\ N

very fast gestatien ponod of en embryonic trend, Asport
hotel occupancy and busmass travel il ikely suffes @
long-term negative shift as comparses embrace net only
e qenarction of cemmuonication tools But elsy ther
shviichmental credentals, The mesn common foatuee
across these examples is the ditficulty i predicbng the
seele and permaneney of this emI‘J Lo \A-Im il De‘ he
revw nonnal tor these esset classes s the challenge far
OU Managenent team es we loak forward to the post
pondesmic woild . What e con he sure about 1s thet the
econonuc backdiop s a ekl wath hugel, clevated
of government debt, ongomg centrab benk / gnvernmental
stmstfus peckages end hghen lesels of domestic seviigs,
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Manager’s Report

Marcus Phayre-Mudge
Fund Manager

Capital is clearly seeking real assets.
There has been several recent instances
of private equity acquiring listed
properties companies. This will continue
if public companies are undervalued.
Such market dynamics provides us with
a strong valuation underpin.

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST

PERFORMANCE

The Net Asset Value total return for the year to 31 March
2021 was 20.7%, ahead of the benchmark tatal return of
15.9%. Al the intenm stage, | reported that Continental
European property companies had significantly
cutperformed their UK counterparts (relurns of 11 3% v
2.1%}. The secand half saw the complete reverse. The UK's
performance in the second half was so strong that the

12 month performance of 19.1% (in GBP) ocutperformed
Continental Europe at 18 7% (in EUR).

The nitial impact of the pandemic on European real estate
equities saw the benchmark fall 36% from the pre-Covid
peak af 19th February to the trough on 18 March 2020 Our
financial year therefore started close to these depressed
levels and the steady recovery since then is reflected in
the healthy figures for the year under review. However it
is worth noting that coliectively the sector remains nearly
15% below the pre-Covid peak.

This extraordinary year has clearly been hke no other and

the gulf in performance of the different real estate sectors
(and therr respective listed companies) requires the sarme

adjective The year can be neatly divided inta pre and post
the vaccine announcement

From March to October investors focused an owning
sustamable, pandemic preof income such as residential,
supermarkets and healthcare alangside fogistics,
warehousing and industnial where the underlying tenants’
businesses had remained open and 10 many cases

were thiving Consumer facing seclors such as retall,
restaurants, holef and leisure were shunned. We divide our
universe of pan European real estate companies Into 26
bespoke groups and over the 7 months from the trough on
18th parch 2020 our logistics / industrial group returned
+54% , German residential +60%, healthcare +38% whilst
UK retall fell 45% and Eurcpean retail returned just 1%,
London retail aiso suffered falling 26% as tounsm levels
(both domestic and internaticnal) coliapsed

However, from November onwards we saw a complete
volte face as mvestars focused on the possibility of

a normalising econarnic outlock post the vaccine
breakibrough. In our world that meant buying back inte
the consumer facing sectors. Stocks exposed to these



sectors had been standing at large discounts given the
market’s expectation of further asset value declines and
they enjoyed significant price recovery. Stocks such as
Hammerson and Shaftestury, who had both carried out
emergency capital raises {more on this later), enjoyad
100% and 85% price appreciation from their respective
(pre-vaccine announcement) capital raise prices.

The Trust was defensively positioned as we entered the
pandemic with overweights to European PRS (privale
rented secler) particularly in Germany, supermarkets

(UK and Nordics}, healthcare (mainly UK) and logistics /
industrial across both the UK and Europe. These exposures
drove much of the relative outperformance from March to
November,

London exposed stocks suffered particularly as office
workers have not returned {we estimate office utilisation
rates at €25% versus a Continental average of over 50%)
and this combined with the collapse in tounsm (both
domestic and internationat) has lempararily hollowed out
our global city Our UK office exposure was concentrated
in decentralised offices through C1S and McKay whilst

we avolded London retail focused names such as Capco
and Shaftesbury as well as those businesses wilh short
occupational leases such as Workspace

As the reliel / reopening / reflation” trade gathered
momentum, | closed our underweight exposure to
European shopping centres, bought back 1nto some Central
London retail and renewed our expesure to office markets
particularly those cilies with the shorter commute umes.
Essentially t was still shying away from the largest two
conurbations {London and Paris) whilst adding te smaller
ones such as Madnd and Gublin and maintaining exposure
to decentralised office sectors in the UK, Sweden and
Germany

The pandemic has turned much on its head” and in our
corner of the equity market it was the performance of
Swiss property companies which was much weaker than
history would have predicted. Traditionally a safe haven,
these stocks did not initially recover from the March fows
with investors focused an the problematic relall exposure
of the largest listed companies. We continue Lo be
underweight the group.
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Another positive surprise has been in self-storage which
reported very steady numbers through the worst of the
year. Whilst our stock selection in the UK was correct
(Safestore total return +27% versus Big Yallow +14%), the
runaway success was Shurguard, the Continental player
relurning +48%, which we didn’t own. In our defence, the
stock enjoyed strong demand from index trackers as it
entered various benchmarks midyear.

Most of 2020 was an understandasly subdued

penod for M&A corporate activily wilh one particular
exception, Norwegian offices Entra (where we were a
top 20 shareholder) was the subject of a bidding war
between two Swedish listed players, Castellum and
Samhallshyggnadsbolagel {also known as SBB). Whilst
neither successfully gained control, the share pnice total
return was 57%, our most successful investmenl in the
pernod.

The portfelic has some gearing This was reduced 1n
February and March 2020 but has subsequently returned
to pre-pandemic levels. Why have gearing in volatile
times? The Trust continues to take advantage of its

closed ended structure and holds & number of illiquid
small cap stocks. These well-run companies {even when
exposed to oulperforming subseciors) aften suffer from
limited investor altention, being deemed too small. As a
consequence, in rising markets they often underperform
their larger brethren (in market parlance their ‘beta’1s less
than one). Adding some gearing helps compensate for
these lower beta names. Cur experience Is that over time
the underlying property fundamentals will be recognised
and, if not, then the market will take them private of
merge them together. Qur physical properly expasure also
sits outside our benchmark and additional gearing ensures
that we are not underexposed Lo equilies versus our
benchmark given that a propartion of capital is invested In
physical property.

OFFICES

Of all the segments ol the commeraal real estate
landscape, the future demand for offices remains the
hardest to forecast. The two undemable consequences of
the pandemuc, for this asset class, has been the reaiisation
that employees cf corporates of all sizes can work
remotely {for tong periods) if required and secondly that

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST 9
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Manager’s Report corureed

the next generation of 'best in ¢lass” oflice accommedation
will be utilised very differently with lenants having new
priorities. Bullt inte these demands will be the overarching
need for energy efficiency, carbon neutrality and
sustainability through the life cycle of the building.

The take up figures for the last year (across the 15 major
cities we monitor) offers ittle comparative value given the
inability for businesses to physically relocate in many of
these markets from March 2020. Taking Londen as a case
tn point, Savills reported that west End take up fell from
4.4m sq ftin 2019 to 17m in 2020. Office utilisation rates
through 2020 and into 20271 have varied hugely. A broad
rule of thumb was that the larger the aty {and the longer
the average commute time) the lower the affice ulilisation
rate. Generafly the smaller cities also had hugher levels of
commuting by private transport of where workers were
using overgreund public transpert. Scandinavian and Swiss
aties have seen almost normatised utilisation rates whilst
London and Pans remain sub 30%. Looking forward, what
(s impartant to us is the amount of new space which was
scheduled to complete {construction was halted for very
short perieds in mest markets) and whether there are
signs of demand as we move inta the post vaccine period

Looking across Europe as a whaole, the combined effect of
reduced leasing achivity and construction completions led
to 100bps Increase In vacancy to an average of 5.9% (BNP
data). This single statistic clearly hides a wide range of
levels Unsurprsingly, London and Panis have experienced
the greatest increases from 5% to nearly 8% but Dublin
collects the wooden spoon with vacancy increasing to
over 9%. This 1s a good example of 3 small market where
a (temporary) demand strike meets @ number of large
completions and refurtishments However the histoncally
low levels of vacancy in many atres pnar (o the pandemic
have insulated most markets, with modest downward
movements In prime rents recorded across the German
Big &, Milan, Madnid, Oslo, Amsterdam and Stockholm

The delivery of new office buildings has also been
deferred, particularly for tall buldings. The hew Londan
Architecture’s Annual Tall Bulldings Survey recorded

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST

a 27% dechne in planning applications for buildings

aver 20 storeys in 2020 when compared with 2015 We
were surpfised that the fall wasn't larger but 73% of all
applications were in the latter part of the year and hints at
developer confidence regarding demand for new build.

Investment demand has remained very resilient almaost
regardless of short-term weakness in occupational
markets. The welght of capital seeking real assets is

a theme which will recur through this report. The nise

in the fong end of the curve as the reflaton theme
gathers momentum is proving very damaging for fixed
Income structures. High quality offices - offering large lot
sizes - with secure income delivening 3.5-4% net yield

is attractive versus negative yielding sovereign bonds.
Further up the risk curve, opportunistic capital also remains
very active and listed development specialists such as
Greal Portland Estales and Derwenl London have found 1t
hard to deploy capital amidsl fierce competition

The 2021 CBRE EMEA Investor Intentions Survey highlights
London as stilf the most attractive city for investment

In Europe wilh an estimated €40-45bn of global equity
tooking 1o be deplayed inlo the market across all types
of buildings This 1s the highest figure since the survey
starting tracking demand in 2012. Whilst transaction
volurnes slowed last year, the first two months of 2021
{lraditionally a guiet time) have seen volumes reach
£875m greater than the same period 1n 2019, Part of the
London attraction is that yields didn't compress dunng
the Brexit uncertainty making the city look much cheaper
than other big European cities. Post the EU-UK Trade and
Cocperation Agreement we expect this gap o narrow

RETAIL

The MSC / IPD data for the 12 months to March 2021 saw
all retail property capiat values fall 12 8% with a serious
acceleration 1n the decline of shapping centre values
which fell 25.5% over the last 12 months {0 the interims,

I commented that we felt the valuation community were
behind the times due to their requirement to look at deal
evidence. Essentially, 1n fast moving markets the published
figures will already be out of date Stock markets know



this and retail landlords across the globe have been
trading at very large discounts to therr {no lenger valid)
last published figures.

The woes of retail are well understood. The pandemic
has accelerated trends which were well established.
Reopening of ecancmies will see footfall return to
shopping centres but the levels of sustainable rents
remain the subject of market forces. In the UK the loss

of a huge number of well known brands either through
bankruptcy or retreat has resulted in average vacancy
levels in shopping centres reaching over 15% (MSC) data;,

This means the negotiation boot remains firmly on the
tenants’ foot and we predict a further 15% falls in rental
vatues. The cne area where Lhere are clear signs of price
stabilisation is in retaii warehousing Open air with plenty
of free parking, this type of retail asset sits well in an
omni-channel environment where retailer margins are
maximised through click and collect Affordability 1s the
eternal watchword and whilst there are some parks with
very high rents (often fashion retailer led) the majority will
see modest dechines in rental values. Occupancy cost ratios
are also not burdened by escalating service charges

ACross Europe, the picture 1S more nuanced. Valuers are
even mare conservative than thewr UK counterparts and
capilalisation rates are yet to move matenally. In some
countries, retailers have been given huge amounts of
government support and as a result rental delinquency

is generatly lower than in the UK. In addition, many
shopping centres are anchored by hypermarkets (which
have remained open) and not department stares (a UK/
US concepl no longer hi for purpose beyond a handful

of tourist destinations such as Selfridges and Galeries
Lafayette) There have been lower levels of retailer
bankruptcy across Continental Europe and we put

this down to two factors: less overrenting and the UK
Insolvency legislation. On this latter point, a huge number
of UK retailers have taken advantage of the CVA {(company
voluntary administration) to force landlords (generally a
large creditor) to accept corporate reconstructions which
unduly damage their interests. A recent High Court ruling
involving the overly indebted retaller New Look, reinforced
this tenant friendly legisiation.
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Investars remain very circumspect towards this asset class.
Income insecurity has resulted in investors requinng much
higher initial yields. CBRE estimate that UK prime shopping
centre yieids have moved from 4.5% to 7% 1 the last

5 years with poorer secondary schemes in the high teens
or lterally unsaleable Retall warehousing has bucked the
depressing trend at least from an investor perspective.
Investors are increasingly confident that they are able

to measure tenant affordability and this is the key to
determining pricing. In the last couple of months we have
seen competitive bidding for a number of retail warehouse
schemes, something not seen since 2018

DISTRIBUTION AND INDUSTRIAL

UK industrial and logistics take up hit a record 597m sq fl

in 2020. Whtlst the pandemic suppressed demand in many
other parts of the property market, it clearly stimulated
logistics and business activity which utilised industrial
property. Amazon again accounted for 3 sizeable (20%:)
portion of the activity and 1t was this XL segment {250,000 +
sq ft) which was the major beneficiary of the surging online
demand. The online share of retail sales rose from 19.2% in
2019 t0 279% in 2020 hitting a new high of 36.3% in January
2021 as we retumned to lockdown. This will scale back as we
reopen but the boost to onlire scale and efficiency 1s here to
stay. Supply has respended but has been more than matched
by this demand. As a consequence, supply has fallen to
73.4m sq ft, down 6% on the year, and this tightening has
orcurred in every size bracket.

Rental growth continues to march on but there has been
a broadening of growth rates across the regions. Greater
London and the East Midlands recorded growth of over
7% whilst average rates across the country at 3.9%. Such
strong rental growth, the secure income and the positive
outlook has diiven both domestic and mternational buyers
to pay record prices for this secter whether it 15 fast mile
urban units, XL big boxes or terraces of we!l located
industrial units. Prime yields are 3 5 to 4% and even short
income is not deterning investors as evidenced by the sale
of our Bristol distnbution unit at 4.5% initial yield with

3.5 years unexpired.

The same picture of rude health is evident across
Continental turope. According to BNP take up increased

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST 11
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14% across the 6 targest European economies and vacancy
rates dropped to 5.5%, their lowest and all against a
backdrop of a sharp contraction in GDP Again it was a
surge In e-commerce and home delivery which drove
demand. Prime vyields across Europe tightened 25bps in
2020, matching the UK with no signs of decompression
even as the long end of the curve nses. Investment
demand 1s truly global with US and Asian institutionaf
capital competing with mare domestic long term capital
all determined to participate 1n this stuctural shift.

RESIDENTIAL

As expected the sector has remained highly resihient
during the pandemic. The majonty of our investments are
in German and Swedish housing where rents are subject
to state control The remaining expesure 1s Finland and the
UK where renis are open-market. The former offer greater
security with rents tied to indexaticn whilst Lhe latter
offers mare opportunity o capiure market growth but
with the commensurate nisk 1f vacancy rises and market
rents fall. During the crisis, the security of income and very
high occupancy levels resulted in the sector retaining its
popularity German housing has experienced price nses in
virtuaily all 1ts sub-markets.

As explamed earlier, Berlin remained the outlier

as the Sltate of Berlin imposed a S year rent freeze
(Mietendeckel). The subsequent Constitutional Court ruling,
which confirmad that renl controls are determined at the
Federal, not State level, came just after the year end In
mid-Apnl. We are pleased with this outcome and the share
prices of both Deutsche Wohnen (4.4% of net assets) and
Phoenix Spree (2 3% of net assets) responded positively.
New construction of apartments in Berhin had all but drnied
up as developers awalted the outcome of the appeal.
Berlin remains the cheapest capital aity in Western Europe
in which to rent an apartment {f you can find ane). The
desire of a left-wing local autharity to keep 1t that way
regardless of the side effect of shutting gut new migrants
through the consegquential collapse in the supply of new
homes has been suitably rebuffed.

ALTERNATIVES

This group encompasses sectors that have thrived
{supermarkets, healthcare, self-storage) in the cnisis and

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST

those which have nat (student accommadation, hotels).
Share price performance was an amplified reftection of
not only the underlying property performance but alse
the dramatic shift in investor sentiment Self storage
share prices have traditionally performed poorly in
slowing economic conditiens as the income 1s considered
short term and volalile. However the pandemic has
focused investors” minds on the emerqging strength of
this seclor where a small group of operators {mostly
listed companies) have the financial muscle to dominate
the price comparison websites Another emerging lrend
has been the increasing business usage of a product
traditicnally seen as the demain of private customers.
Bustnesses have seen the merits ef immediate, hassle free
access to short or langer term storage. The supply chain
disruption during the pandemic heightened the need far
space as the mantra became a little more just in case and
a little less just in time” Our self storage group returned
-4%% from the low point (18th March 2020) to the end
of October However, from November 2020 to the end of
March 2021 they have collectively returned just +4.1%.

A classic example of 3 switch i sentiment as investors
rotated away from the ‘Covid relative winners' group inlo
the value names which had underperformed and looked
very cheap on historic metiics

In another alternatives’ sub-sector we expernienced the
complete reverse Student accommaodation businesses
suffered a collapse in inceme and Unite {our only
expesure) led the field in refunding rents which was the
correct PR strateqy but depleted therr top ine. The well
documented dithculties for students through the last
two academic years and the complete inabiity for many
averseas students to enroll physically impacted investor
sentiment with the sub-sector falling 46% between 19th
February and 18th March 2020 and then staging a weak
recavery of Just +17% from then to the end of October
Whilst this performance compares poorly with self storage,
since the beginning of November the sub-sector has
rallied 30% as the likelihood of the reopening of lertiary
education improved

Supermarkels have continued to attract invester
attention Our exposure 15 through Supermarket Income
REIT (UK} and Cibus (Sweden and Finiand} Supermarket



Income REIT raised a total of £490m in three separate
transactions through the year and now has a market

cap of over £900m. Cibus also raised capital (SEK

S00m) in two tranches to make further acquisitions The
larger supermarket operators have been able to altract
customers through their online network which the hard
discounters (Lidl, Aldi) are not able ta cffer. Volumes

and margins will narmalise post the pandemic but these
operalors have had the opportunily o prove the resilience
of their omni-channel model which utilises last mile
distribution from their network of stores. It 1s one of the
few parts of the retail landscape where physical stores are
truly integral to the anhne journey.

DEBT AND EQUITY MARKETS

Property companies remained busy on debt refinancings
threughout the pandemic and the huge amount of central
bank support and government stimulus ensured a healthy,
liquid market where pricing did nol weaken_ According o
EPRA, €152bn was faised 1n 2019 at an average coupon of
1.8% and 2020 saw €15.6bn at a cost of 1.6%. These figures
are not directly comparable as the mix of debt offerings in
each period was different but they are a clear indicalor as to
the health and price stability in the debt markets, German
residential compantes were again busy with Yoncvia raising
€2.5bn in four transactions borrowing 10-year money at 1%
Later in October, Gecing, Europe’s largest cffice REIT raised
€200m in a 2034 term bond at 0.86%.

Early in the crisis, we saw a number of strong businesses
trading at premiums raise equity capital for opportunistc
expansion. This was n sectors with clear underlying
demand, namely healthcare {Assura, Aedifica, Primary
Health Properties), seli-storage (Big Yellow), logistics/
industrial (LondonMetric, Seqro, VGP ), supermarkets
(Supermarket Income REIT, Cibus) and German residential
{vonovia, ADQ Properties, LEG). The Autumn saw
oppartunistic raises in Sweden and Norway {3alder,
Klovern and Norwegian Properties) a region which had
experienced low levels of lockdown restrictions. More
recently in February and March this year we saw renewed
activity in the UK, as the vaccine rollout improved
sentiment, with raises from Target Healthcare, LXI, Tntax
Eurohax and Supermarket Incoame REIT again. Continental
European raises In 2027 have so far been confined to
healthcare {Cofimmmoa) and student accommadation (Xior).
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Past the summer we saw the beginning of an expected
surge of more defensive raises as companies linally
came under cashflow and valuation pressure. In the end
il was just 3 handful of retall focused names who had
been mismanaging their balance sheets long befcre

the pandemic. Hammerson's £600m raise effectively
recapitalised the balance sheet with a 24 for 1 nghts issue
accompanied by the (previously announced) depaiture of
the CEQ completing the overdue C-suite shuffle of Chair,
CEO and CFO. In late October, Shaftesbury announced a
£300m placing and open offer. Locking back their iming
was speclacularly unfortunate as the announcement of the
first vacanes came less than a fortmight later

These game changing announcements immediately
altered expectations and there 15 nowhere better to
illustrate the point than the corporate saga at Unibail-
Rodamco-westhield (URW). URW had anncunced a €9bn
‘Reset’ plan comprising €3.5bn capital raise, dividend
canceltation and & planned €4bn of dispasals. A group

of activist shareholders lead by Leon Bressler (the CEO

of Unibail from 1992 to 2006) launched a campaign to
oppose these AGM proposals and launch an alternative
strategy which did not incfude a deeply discounted capital
raise. They proposed the sale of the US {ex Westfield)
portfolio and a return to their roots as an owner of

prnme European shopping centres. Thelr timing was
fortunate, with the 10th Noevernber AGM coming just
after the vaccine anncuncement and the improvement n
investor sentiment even for deeply indebted businesses.
Essentially convinaing investors that they didn’t need

to put ‘good money after bad” and that the self help
strategy would succeed. They were successful in their
campaign and shareholders voted againsl the ‘Reset’
plan. This led to the departure of the Chairman, CEQ

and CFO and the promotion of existing senicr managers
to the Beard. The share price, which had troughed al

€35 per share, subsequently doubled amidst the closing
ol short positions This corporate tale neatly encapsulates
the dramatic change in investor sentiment {and pricing
of previously unloved businesses) which we saw from
Novemnber cnwards.

INVESTMENT ACTIVITY - PROPERTY SHARES

Turnover (purchases and sales divided by two) totalied
£468m equating to 36% of the average nel assets over
the period. This was broadly in line with iast years

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST 13
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equivalent figure (329 which itself wos well chead of
the veer 10 Macich 2019 (20%9) 11 has therefole heen two

veers of elevated portfolio rotetion due to maorket volatihit,

fhe reprd reductionn leverage i February 2nd derch
2020 was tollawed by 2 swift reinvestment in the portfeho
winch accurrad 10 Apnl end Maay as share prices tecovered
from therr f2arch fows 2nd this remnvestment w5 boosted
by our perticipation in the majont; of the lerge number of
offensive caprial raises as descrihed eorlier
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ot prammma to osset value and therefore were chie
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reele perpetyelly ot dmum Llols esset value, The exit
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transformation of this Bavswatar asset whore we heve
added 16,000 s ft of new retid Spece (Bnnaging sxaling
hionds ke Graham & Green 2nd 1 Rehel to the cred) as
woll a5 doubling the waitrose foatprint from 20,000 to
AQGDO g L

At Wendsworth, followang the successtul granting of
plannmig n Novernber 2019 we heve continued to wolk
with wandswrorth Borowgh Counal ond the Grezter London
Authonty to deliver the complex and detalled 506
agreement As antiapated tus will take time, Meenwhile,
we continue to let aay of Jnits on the estate which come
verant on shart term leases. The demend for industnel
space haos continued to grow over the pest 12 months

and central London 1s no excoption New rents cooss the
estete are i the high £20s per sg ftand post the year end
me have lot tho only vacancy to Sweety Betty, the tmghiy
successtul UK lesure and feshion reteiler

REVENUE AND REVENUE GUTLOOK
Revende carmings for the current vear of 12 25p were 1o
lower then the pnor yea

Lernings were enhanced oy o tex refund and some furthe)

prigl penod withbolding tax recovenies which reduced the

rewentre tax charge rate to only 1.9%, The mast sigrificent

contabuton by ferwas o taxoetund and intarest thereon

resylting from the finel settlerment of our long unniag

FIl GLEY claim anth HEARC H]L tax refund ond mterest
movnted to £17m, end that, togethar wth the ability

to relezse same 2ssotlated [Jff)ul':t ans meent an oyverall

cortnbution of ¢ 7’[) to the trevenue accannt,

Long standmg investeis may rocell that this denm was
first mentianed in aureports for the yoar ended Licrch
2010 tallpanng @ chenyge in UK tex lawe that afl overseas
dividend recepts wece non-texable m the UK from 1ol
2009 There waere wanous chellenges running through

the Laropesn cuurts thet this trecetment of oversaaes
drvedenads should be apphed 1o eahar penods These
hove ultieately hed some degree of success znd dast
yvear i RC cnnownced thet they would seftle an the onen
computations, We reached agiceaent aath HEARC it our
g open Computetions Just before the fmancal rear end
pad the 1 repeyment hes been received

In addinon to the tox ietund received wo were able to
remstete losses which had been utilised foe the relevant
penods. These will now be avallable guing forwerd,
2lthough use wall be subject o cotent zestnctions.

our underlying mcame ovel the yeer fell by eround 24
some compantes cancelled drvaidends payable early
the finaicicl year it reaction o the COVID-19 pandemic,
or reduced distnibutions and tis was documentad 10 the
lnterirn Report The second half sew a similar level of
ncome reducton @5 that seen n the fisst halt 1n addion,
in the tmal quarter of the year some of our oversess
Incorme was impacted by sterling strength.

The tonget-term autlook s stll not dear The UK has rolled
out a successtul vecanation programme and at the time
ot wrting the casing of rastnchions 1s orgressing alony
the government roadmep tmetable. This hes enabled us
te he a little more confident bout our UK earings wmth
2l companies (Pmludn'lg some small cap ratail focusad
businesses) recommencing dividends fur 22

Thers have been clear real estate winners #nd lesers end the
portiohao ierans well posionad waards those sectory whidh
have mentemed robust 2armings trough the pandermc. DUl
exposure t dex-inked nceme remeins High and wa will
see dividend mueases hore clongside those names expused
&0 buoyent coachtions such as mdustnal and fogistics. Other
areas Al remai under pressure

O belence we expect the income friom aur portfolio to
Increase ovel the cuirent financaal year es hoth the UK and
Continent ﬁ LUMpe experence Sirong past vacoe recoyeries
However 1t should be noted that stranger sterhig would
recluce the income frem ot siersees holdings cid any
reductions 1 geanng would 2lso leed o lowerinceme

GEARING AND DEBT

The Charmar has aleedy commented an goeiay levels
crd elso highlhighted the heratits of our flexbie hurraaing
structure

This theabibty, hes been craach i such ¢ wabtile yoer Ou
geanng oscilated v e 10 1enge @y we respondad 1o
the dizmetic changes 1n market sentiment through the
sear Over the penod we stillsed both sur revolving loan
foe lises and our CED copebihty in order o acheeve this
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We increased the capaaty on our [CBC loan facility during
the year and the remaining loans were renewed at
existing levels. We did see small increases on margins
an some renewals We also looked at the potential Lo
take out new or extend our longer-term debt. Our Euro
denominated loan note is due for repayment in 2026 and
the Sterling note in 2031, however the flexibility of the
shart- lerm faciliies is valuable in more volatile markets
and has certainly worked well for us in the current year.

We continue (o explore new options in all markels,

outLogK

As economies emerge from the gnp of the pandemic,
Investors have focused on assessing whether the damage
(or growth) was temporary, Jonger lasting or permanent,
Real estate investors are no exception and the range

of premiums / discounts to net asset values of listed
companies lughhghts the breadth of expectations across
the property spectrum. The ditficulty 15 that there is no
precedent for the profile of recovery in tenant demand
across so much of this asset class. Clearly existing
structural shifts have been accelerated and new ones have
emerged which may prove more permanent than the
markets currently expect All of this uncertainty leads us (o
facus on incame sustainability and those markets where -
If demand does return - supply is constrained.

whilst tepant demand 1s hard to gauge we do benefit
from a benign financng environment Debt markets are as
accommodating as they have ever been, even If the long
end of the curve is nising. We see no reason for margins Lo
widen in the near term. Inflabionary pressures are building
and fixed income asset values reflect these expectations
Property offers mncome which (s bied either directly
(index-linked) orindirectly {rental growth} to economic
expansion. Our mtenticn 1s to remain forused on areas
where that income s both sustainable and where 1t offers
growth

In the neaf term, we aim to maintain the exposure to the
private rented residential sector {particularly 1n Germany
and Sweden) as the market continues to yndervalue not
only the quality of those earmings but also the steady
growth profile There 1s nsk - in Germany - that 3 left
wing cealiion government would amend the current

TR PROPERTY INYESTMENT TRUST

federal law resulting in local cities getting more contrgl
over rents. However the renl freeze in Berlin (over the

last 18 months}) resultted (n a reduction in the number of
available apartments as well as a slowing in the pace of
new apartment delivery. We trust that commaon sense

will prevail over politicat dogma. Eisewhere, undervaiued
Income streams are evident in supermarkets and in

parts of the healthcare market. Alengside index-hnked
sustainahility we will alsg matntain exposure to the ,
greatest growth opportunities. The structural shifts in

retail behaviour are still ongoing. Evolution in the speed

of delivery and post pandemic supply chain dynamics

will drive growth across the logistics landscape from ‘big
box" to ‘last mile’” We will continue to own the developers
where we see increases in the value of landbanks as well
as growing development margins. nvestar demand for the
end praduct shows no sign of abating.

Office markets will rematn volatile Businesses will spend
time working out their requirements 1n 3 post pandemic
world. Interaction and collaboration will drive office usage.
Tasks that can be fulfitled without physical interaction will
be timetabled for remote warking. A new balance will
develop with one sure fire certainty, the premium being
attached to best in class newly built space with complete
environmental cedentials. Developers will sespond to
this demand and we expect an acceleration in buildings
being identified for refurbishment earher than previausly
envisaged. Obsclescence of the existing office stock will
accelerate.

Post the year end in early May, 5t Modwen Properties
announced that an offer of 542p per shaie from
Blackstone, a 24% premium to the last published NAY
had the support of the board This company has a large
strateqic landbank, a high quality lagistics portfolio and
a growing housebuilding unit and whilst 1t was trading
close to its asset value, privale equity clearly feels 1t 15
undefvalued. This is a reminder, as stated in @ number of
previous reports, that the depth of both equily and debt
avattability underpins histed company valuations.

Marcus Phayre-Mudge
Fund manager

3 June 2021



Portfolio

Distribution of Investments
as at 31 March

2021 2021 2020 2020
£'000 % £000 %
UK Securities
- quoted 395,644 28.3 352,188 304
UK Investment Properties 830 59 94,510 8.1
UK Total 478,715 34.2 446,698 38.5
Continental Europe Securities
-~ quoted 921,801 65.8 708,597 611
Investments held at fair value 1,400,516 100.0 1,155,295 996
- CFD {creditor)/debtor’ (41) - 8,698 07
- RS ureditor? - - (3.808) {0.3)
Total investment Positions 1,400,375 100.0 1,160,185 100.0
Investment Exposure
as at 31 March
Fiirql 201 2020 2020
£'000 % £'000 %
UK Securities
- quoted 395,644 25.6 352,188 289
- CFD exposure® 45,41 29 32,257 26
- TRS exposure* - 6,598 0.5
UK investraent Properties 83,07 5.5 94,510 78
UK Total 524,156 340 485553 98
Continental Europe Securities
- quoted 921,801 59.5 708,597 58.2
- CFD exposure’ 100,560 6.5 24,471 2.0
Total investment exposure® 1,546,5?7 100.0 1,218,621 100.0
Portfolio Summary
as at 31 March
2020 2019 2018 2017
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Total investments £1,401 £1,155m £1,291Tm £1,316m £1,345m
Net assets £1,326 £1,136m £1,328m £1,256m £1,118m
UK quoted property shares 28% 3% 3% 3% 29%
Overseas quoted property shares 66% 51% 590% 62% 63%
Direct property {externally valued) 6% 8% 8% 7% 8%
Net Currency Exposures
as at 31 March
201 2021 2020 2020
W LELVETTOT T8 Company  Benchmark
% %
GBP 279 28.3 270 268
EUR 51.2 509 530 531
CHF 6.7 6.6 79 79
SEK 12.9 12.9 no n3
NOK 13 13 11 0.9
1 Net unrealised (loss)/gain on CFD contracts held as balance sheet {creditor)/debtor.
2 Net unrealised foss on total return swap (TRS) contiact held as balance sheet creditor.
1 Gross value of CFD positions.
4  (3ross value of TRS pasition.
5  Total investments illustrating market exposure including the gross value of CFD and TRS positions.

I UK Securities

B ux Property
3% Continental Europe

94.5%

M Equities
B UK Property
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Investment Portfolio by Country
as at 31 March 2021

Market Market
value value
% %
Austria
€A Immobilien 9,092 0.6 Sweden
9,092 0.6 Kungsleden 36,061 5
wihlborgs 23,390 17
Belgium Cibus 18,201 13
Warehousing and Distribution de Payw 24771 1.8 Fabege 17,594 1.2
Aedifica 16,502 12 Castellum 16,805 1.2
Cofinimmo 13,677 10 Fastighets Balder 16,216 12
VGP 8,070 0.6 Nylosa 12,008 09
Xior 5,926 0.4 Catena 8,933 06
Care Property 4,301 0.3 Samhails 3,737 03
Montea 2,329 0.2 Pandox 2,690 0.2
Intervest Offices & Warehouses 1,923 0.1 155,635 111
Weteldhave 247 -
78,286 56 Switzerland
o PSP 1,999 30
Einland 41,999 3.0
Kojame 17,500 1.2
Citycon 2170 0.2 United Kingdom
19,670 14 SEGRD 60,357 43
Derwent London 33,584 24
france safestore Holdings 32,193 23
Argan 53,987 39 Landsec 31,327 2.2
Gecina 24,036 17 Stenprop 30,477 2.2
Lovivia 13,457 10 Phoenix 25,213 18
Kiépiemre 10,364 0.7 Lnite Group 25,143 18
Altarea J13% 01 Sirlus 22,211 16
103,95 74 Picton 21,330 15
(15 Holdings 20,077 14
Germany Londanmetric Property 19,903 14
Yonovia 145,982 10.4 McKay Securities 18,104 13
LEG 63,904 46 Secure Income REIT 15,551 1
Deutsche Wohren 54,499 39 Supermarket Income REST 9,614 07
Aroundtown 39,306 28 Tritax Eurobox 1,634 0.6
V1B Vermoegen 37,980 27 PRS REIT 6,189 0.4
TAG immobilien 33,294 24 Assura 5,194 0.4
Alstria 8,811 0.6 Target Heaithcare 4,418 0.3
Deutsche Euroshop __ 5283 0.4 Primary Health Properties 3,848 0.3
389,059 28 Atrato Capital 1,468 (13]
iretand Capitat & Regional 1,062 01
an it nti 7 ;
Hibemnia REIT 20,998 15 (apital & Counties 553,2;4 _Q-‘;;%
irish Residential Properties o 29% 0.2 T -
23,988 17 Direct Property _ 83071 59
Netherlands CFD Pasitions (ra1) 00
Eurocommercial Properties 25,077 1.8 {induded in current liabilities) . o N
Unibail-Rodamco-Westfieid 14,499 1.0
NSI 4,099 03 Total investment Positions 1,400,375 1000
43,675 31 Companies shown by country of fisting.
Norway
Enlra 16,199 12
16,199 12
Spain
Arima Real estate 21,102 15
Medlin 19901 14
41,003 29
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Twelve Largest Equity Investments

VONOVIA

1. VONOVIA (GERMANY)

SEGRO

2. SEGRO (UK)

LEG

3. LEG (GERMANY)

w
b
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m
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-
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2020 201 2020 2020
shareholding value  £146.0m (£144.4m)  Shareholding value £67.8m (£38.7m)  Shareholding value  £63.9m  {£75.3m)
;‘zg ;::;f“me“‘ 9.4%  (1.8%) ;:;;?i;fs'me“‘ a4%  (3.2%) :‘0;:‘;?&:';“'“""' A% (6.2%)
% of equity owned 0.5% (0.7%) % of equity owned 0.6%  {0.5%) % of equity owned 0.9% (1.2%)
Share price €55.70 (€44.86)  Share price 938.0p (764.0p)  Share price €112.2  (£162.7)

Vonovia is 2 German listed residential
company and the largest real estate
company in Continental Europe by market
capitalization.

At the end of 2020, the company owned

a portfolio of EURS6.8bn split between
Germany (84%), Sweden {11%) and
Austria (5%). Yonovia has developed a
large in-house craftsman organization
which allows the company to run a
strategy focusing on modernizing its
portfolio. The company is involved in the
whole value chain of the residential sector
via its rental business (81% of group
EBITDA), its value-add branch {energy

and multimedia related services, 8%),

its third-party development business

(&%) and its recurring sales program

(5%). Finally, the residential sector is
subject to strict regulations in Germany

in particular. Vonovia's management has
been particularly pro-active with public
authorities, complying with regulations
and assurning a social role which should
aliow them to benefit from critical political
goodwill in the tuture. In 2020, Vonovia
delivered again strong results in absolute
and relative terms. The company delivered
a +17% total accounting return {(computed
as the growth in NAV + dividend paid over
the year) against +14% on average for the
main fisted residential peers. The like for
like rental growth at +3.1% was resilient
and one of the highest in the residential
sector despite the impact of the Berlin
rental freeze which implied a negative
rental adjustment in November 2020. The
total shareholder return since fisting in
July 2013 has been +314%.

Notes-

Segro has become the largest UK REIT by
market cap, and is the largest aperator
of logistics and industrial property listed
in the UK, with a total portfolio of £13bn
{split 53% in the UK, 47% in Continental
Europe, with 66% urban warehouses,
32% big boxes and 2% other uses}. In
the UK, the group is mainly exposed to
Greater London industrial and logistics.
Rental growth in these markets has
been extremely strong as there remains
an acute supply-demand imbalance,
fuelled by tenants’ requirements to

deal with the growth in e-commerce.

In Europe, Germany and France are the
group’s largest markets with Haly third;
these markets have a lower, but still
pasitive, rental growth outlook {(and are
geographically less space-constrained)
but continue to see yield compression
as investors have paid keener yieids for
access to strong income. The kagistics
sector has proved particularly resilient
during the COVID crisis, with high

reat collection. Segro has extensive
development exposure that it manages
to largely pre-let and develop at yields
significantly in excess of investment
values (.6-7% yield on cost vs. an EPRA
net initial yield of 3.8% at FY20). we
expect this to drive both earnings and
NAY growth, as well as high shareholder
total returns. The five-year total
shareholder return has been 177%.

LEG is a German residential company
focused on the economically strong
region of North Rhine-Westphalia. It is
one of the largest real estate companies
in Germany with more than 144,000 units
under management and a combined
value of €14.6bn. In addition to the
strong focus on NRW, the company

is exploring opportunities on 8 and €
locations in adjacent states with the view
1o leverage their market access as well
as their existing platform still within strict
and conservative financial criteria. The
company has a distinct advantage to be
less exposed to regulatory risk than peers
with a Bedin exposure and to benefit
from a relatively high share of state
subsidised tenants (25% of the total).
The very low average rent per sqm at
EURS.96 as well as the relatively low value
per sqm of EUR,1503 make the company
particularly well suited to weather any
potential macro-economic shock. in
addition, the company has shown over
the years a conservative management

on the liabilities side which continued to
be the case in 2020 with a LTV of 37.6%
{maximum target set at 43% for 2021),
an average debt maturity of 7.4 years (8.1
years in 2019) and a net debt to adjusted
EBITDA of 11.8x. In 2020, LEG delivered

a strong total accounting return of 20%
ahead of the sector average at 14%. The
five-year totat shareholder retuen has
been +106%.

> The percentage of investment portfolic posilions set out above include exposuses through CFD tor both the individual pasttrans and the portlolio
>The Investiment Porttoho by Country positions set out on page 18 are the physical holdings only included in the investments held at fair value in the Balance Sheet The
profit or loss positions on the CFD contracts {1 € nat the investment exposure) are also shown on page 18 and are included in the Balance Sheet a5 deblors or creditors

i the Cyrrent assets
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Twelve Largest Equity Investments cortiruec

E DEUTSCHE
B  WOHNEN

4, DEUTSCHE WOHNEN
{GERMANY)

31 March
2020

IFARGAN

5. ARGAN (FRANCE)

31 March
2020

gecina

6. GECINA (FRANCE)

31 March
2020

Shareholding value  £54.5m  (£36.4m)
% of investment

porttolio! 35%  {3.0%)
% of equity owned 0.5% {0.3%)
Share price €39.78 (€34.7)

Shareholding value £54.0m (£46.8m)
% of investrment

portioliat 35%  (38%)
% of equity owned 35%  {3.5%)
Share price €804  (€67.6)

Shareholding value  £53.9m  (£47.5m)
% of investment

portfolio! 3.5% (3.9%)
% of equity owned 0.7% {0.6%)
Share price €174 (€1207)

Deutsche Wohnen is Germany’s second
largest residential company with the bulk
of its exposure to Greater Berlin {76%

of the total postiolio FV). The company
owns a high-quality portfolio consisting of
more than 155,000 units with a combined
value of €26bn. In addition to the rental
business, the comnpany is present in the
Nursing and Assisted Living business
which around represented 12% of the
Group EBITDA in 2020 (target to get to
15% in the medium-term).The company
benefits from its development exposure
with a total investment cost of EURG.9bn
{27% of GAV) split between build-to-hold
{EUR4.3bn, 62% of the pipeline) and build-
to-sefl (EUR2.6bn, 38% of the pipeline).
In a context of the implementation of

the rental freeze in Berlin, the company
showed a resilient financial performance
in 2020 with 2 total accounting return of
14% in line with German residentia) peers.
The Greater Berin portfolio was valued

at ELUR2,853 per sqm on average which
leaves significant upside potential in the
future, As expected, post FY20 results we
had the positive unequivocal decision
from the court that the rental freeze

was anti-constitutional and therefore
cancefled. The five-year tatal shareholder
return has been +62%.

Notes

Argan is a French company, created in
2000 by Jean-Claude Le Lan, which has
been listed since 2007. The objective

of the company has been to build a
portfolio of premium logistic assets which
guarantee a stable and high occupancy
rate at around 100%. The company is
vertically integrated and has full control
of the entire value chain by identifying
future needs of prospective and current
tenants and developing assets on their
behalf, Therefore, Argan is able to capture
the developer margin while having little
to no risk on the letting side. In 2020,

the portfoiio value amounted to EUR3bn
(100% expaosed to France, 27% exposed to
Geeater Paris region, 16% ta the North of
France and 13% around Lyon).

The company delivered solid 2020 results
with an EPRA NRV pet share up 19%

YoY and a DPS up 11%. The funding of

the company is based on a conservative
mix of 90% amortizable mortgage loans
with an average maturity of 8 years

and 10% of bonds. The relatively low
dividend payout at below 50% allows the
company to retain cash and reinvest in
new development projects while repaying
debts. The management of the company
has been assumed by its founder jean-
Claude Le Lan who owns alongside family
members 40% of the share capital which
is a strong guarantee of alignment. The
five-year total sharehalder return has
been +307%

Gecina is the largest office landiord in
Europe with a portlolio of mare than
€14bn focused almost exclusively on

the Paris region (97% of the total office
value) and with a high share in Paris city
(60% of the total office value). It owns
also a portfolic of €3.6bn of residential
assets (of which EUR367m in student
housing) predominantly located in

the Paris region. Finally, the company
owns a portfolic of exclusive high

street retail assets for a value of €1.6bn
located in Paris tity. The management is
capitalizing on a development pipeline
of more than €3.5bn (17% of GAV) to be
delivered in the next five years. This is a
continuation of the total return strategy
which has been implemented by the
company over the last couple of years:
in essence, redeveloping assets where
the maragement sees value creation
potentiat and disposing mature assets
1o crystalize capital gains. Since the end
of 2014, the company has delivered 30
projects and generated EURY.1bn of value
creation (EUR1S per share). in 2026, the
company showed resilience with 99% rent
collection, stable portfolio valuation and
Like far like rental grawth of +2.3%. The
finandal position of the company is very
solid with an LTV at 35.6% and an average
debt maturity of 7.1 years.

The five-year shareholder total return has
been +21.6%.

= The percertage of nvestment portfoha pos tiens set out above inciude exposures through CFO for both the irciv-duar pos tars and tte partfoin
=The irvestmert Poittoic by Country positions set out an page 18 are the phys.cal heldirgs only included ir the irvestments hed at fair value in the 3atance Sheet she
proht of loss positions on the CFD contracts (1 e rat the rvestment exposuie) ale 2ls0 showr or page "8 ard are induded n the Balarce Sheet as debtars or cred tars

Ir the Current gssets
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KLEPIERRE

7. KLEPIERRE (FRANCE)

8. SAFESTORE (UK)

31 march ELELENE)]
2021 2020

iili&! 31 March

2020
Shareholding value £51.3m {Nil)
;’:);:;ﬁ:f“’"em 3.3% (0%)
% of equity owned 1.0% (0%)
Share price €19.89 (€17.57)

PISIP

Swiss Property

9. PSP (SWITZERLAND)

31 March
2020

Shareholding value £44.0m (£27.9m)
% of investrment

portioliot 2.83%  (2.3%)
% of equity owned 2.6% (1.9%)
Share price 796p (641p)

Shareholding value  £42.0m {£m)
% of investment

Holio! 27%  (2.3%)
% of equity owned 1.0% {0.6%)
Share price €115.20 (€120.70)

Klepierre is a European shopping

center operator, managing around 140
centers with 3 total portfolio valuation
of EUR22bn. The main exposures are

in France/Belgium {39% of total), Italy
(18%), Scandinavia (17%j) and iberia
(10%). The company, like the rest of
shopping center owners, was impacted
by the COVID crisis in 2020 and therefore
reported an EPS dawn 27% YoY and an
EPRA NTA per share down 15% YoY. On
a relative basis, the company benefits
frorn its focus on Continental Europe
where shopping centers are anchared
by food retailers contrary to UK or US
centers anchored by department stores
which have been undergoing significant
challenges {partly driven by online
cornpetition). The financial pasition of
the company is also more solid than its
direct peers with an LTV of 41.4% and

a net debt 1o EBITDA ratio of 10.8x. The
board benefits from the experience of
David Simaon (Chairman of the Supervisory
Board), Chairrnan and CEO of Simon
Property Group which owns a 21%
stake in Kleppierre, The five-year iotal
shareholder return has been -34%.

Nates.

Safestore is the UK's largest self-storage
operator, owning ¢.125 UK stores,
weighted towards London and the South
£ast (¢.60%). In addition the company has
a large footprint in the Paris market and
has recently been expanding into new
European cities (through both JV structures
and outright ownership) taking footholds
in Holland, Spain and Belglum. Safestore
has a best in class operating platform
which, along with peer Big Yeliow, aliows
it to dominate the UK storage market,
particularly in terms of online search.

The company has driven consistent
earnings growth bath organically (through
like-for-like occupancy and rate growth,
opening new developments) and through
acquisitions, a trend we expect to
continue over the medium term; the self-
storage market has proved remarkably
resilient during the COVID-19 pandemic.
The five-year total shareholder return has
been 172%.

PSP Swiss Property is one of Switzerland’s
leading real estate companies owning
properties valued at around CHF8.6bn.
These are mainly office and business
premises in prime locations in
Switzerland's key economic centers,
Zurich represents 51% of the company’s
exposure (Geneva at 14%). Vacancy rate
has consistently trended downward from
a level at 8.5% in 2018 to an historic

low of 3.0% at FY20, The company
reported solid results in 2020 with EPS
{exc revaluation) stable and NAV per
share growing by 3%. The company will
benefit from a development pipeline
adding EUR34m of rents (11% of current)
in the next three years. The pipeline is
mostly exposed to Zurich (85% of {otal
investment} and has a current pre-let
fatio of 77%. The financial profile of the
company is very conservative with an LTV
of 35%, average cost of debt of 0.47% and
a loan maturity of 5.5 years. The five-year
total shareholder return has been 48%.

> The percentage of investment portfolio positicns set oyt above include exposures thicugh CFD for both the individual positians and the partfofio
>The Investrent Portialio by Country positians set aut on page 18 are the physical haldings only included in the investments held at fair value in the Balance Sheet 1he
prohit or loss positions on the CFD contiacts {1 @ not the investment exposure) are aiso shown on page 18 and are included in the Balance Sheef as debtors or creditors

In the Lurrent assets
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Twelve Largest Equity Investments conireec

k(\ﬁ AROUNDTOWN"*

10. AROUNDTOWN (GERMANY)

Vi B Vermdgen AG

11. VIB VERMOEGEN (GERMANY)

31 March
2020

IiIiE! 31 March

2020
Shareholding value £39.3m  (£20.3m)
m{;ﬂ;fs""e“‘ 25%  (7%)
% of equity owned 0.5% (0.3%)
Share price €6.07 (£4.55)

Shareholding value £38.0m (£22.9m)

% of investment

portiolict 25%  (19%)
% of equity owned 5.5% (4.1%)
Share price €29.25 (€22.80)

DERWENT
LONDON

12. DERWENT LONDON (UK)

3t Maech
2020

Shareholding value £37.6m (Nil)
% of investment

portfoliot 2.4% (0%)
% of equity owned 1.0% (0%)
Share price 3228p (3270p)

Aroundtown is & diversified German-
based property company that owns a
EUR24.5ba portfolio. It has a diversified
commercial portfolio with exposure to
Office (60% of the commercial portfalia),
Hotels (28%), Retail (9%) and Logistics
{3%). The majority of its exposure is

in Germany and the Netherlands (86%
together). The company is also exposed
to German Residential (14% of total GAV)
through ifs 39% halding in Grand City. The
portiolio has grown significantly since
Aroundtown was listed in 2015, through a
series of deals, in particular, the takeover
completed in early 2020 of listed German
peer TLG Immobilien. Mr Yakir Gabay
(advisory board deputy Chairman) who
founded the company, still owns a 10%
stake in the company via its vehicle Avisco
Group {down trom 27% pre TLG deal). In
2020, the company closed £UR2.3bn of
disposals at a +3% margin to book value,
This year, the company wiH continue to
streamline the porttolio with a disposal
pipeline of EURS00m while buying

back shares for a maximum amount of
EURS00:n. The five-year total shareholder
return has been 58%.

VIB is a German company developing,
buying and holding commetcial
properties, primarily in the high-growth
regions of Southefn Germany. The
company puesues a develop or buy

and hold strategy aiming at growing

its earning base while maintaining a

solid financial structure. The real estate
portiolio (EURT.4bn) includes logistics and
tight industrial properties {70% of total
rents), garden centers and DIY stores
(11%), grocery and discounters (7.5%). The
company benefits from a higher yielding
portfolio than peers at 6.8% implying

a superior EPS yield and more potential
for yield compression and therefore NAY
grawth in a mid to long-term horizon. The
vacancy rate has averaged 1.26% over the
last five years. Between 2016 and 2020,
FFO per share increased by 419%, NAV per
share increased by 42% and DPS increased
by 36%. In 2020, the company maintained
a solid momentum with EPS growing by
+3% and NAV per share growing by 9%.
The five-year total shareholder return has
been 93%.

Derwent London is a London Office

owner and developer, with a £5.4bn
portfolio covering ¢.5.5m sq ft, focused
primarily in the West End and “tech belt”
(0ld Street, Clerkenweil etc.) areas of
London. 2020 has been a difficult year

for office landlords following the impact
of COVID-19, which both brought the
transaction market and eccupier market
to a halt, and ieft ongoing uncertainty
over future office use as the necessity and
popularity of working from home grew.
We believe the role of the office remains
important however, and think that
Derwent London is the best placed London
Office landlord to weather the COVID-19
storm given a) its very defensive balance
sheet (LTV 18%), b) the ongoing spread
between prime office yields in London
and other European cities (c.300bp), which
we beiieve will support valuations even
as ERVs soften and ) the company’s high
quality development capabilities which
continue 1o create value as schemes like
Soho Place, The Featherstone Building and
19-35 Baker Street complete. The five-year
total sharehoider return has been 18%.

Nptes

> IPe pefcertage of investrent portto 0 positions set 6Lt 2bove in¢lude expasures through CFD far bt the individuar positions and the partfaic
>The investment Portloiia by Courtry post or's set out on page 18 are the physical heldings anly ircludec in the wvestmerts belc at far value in the Balarce Sheet The
profit or loss posilions on the CFQ contracts fi e ol the mvestment exposure) are lsa shown or page 18 and gre .nclucec n the Balarce Sheet as debtors or uediors

ir the Cuirert assets
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Investment Properties
as at 31 March 2021

spread of Direct Portfolio by Capital Value (%) “

as at 31 March 2021 g
Residential 3

and -

, L _Retail __Industrial GroundRents Other 1 3

west End of London 42.9% - 14.5% 0.6% 58.0% b

Inner London® 1.6% 31.2% - - 32.8%

South West S - 9% 0 - - 9.2%

Total L msw o 40a% WS 06% _ 100.0%

*Inner London defined as inside the Narth and Sauth Circular.

Lease Lengths within the Direct Property Postfolio Contracted Rent

as at 31 March 201 as at 31 March

L ~__ Gioss rental income - -

010 5 years o 24%  Year1 T £3,000,000

5 to 10 years % Years 2-5 £10,000,000

10 to 15 years 3% Years 5+ o ___£19,000,000

15 ta 20 years 0% - S

20+ years ) o 6%

VALUE IN EXCESS OF £10 MILLION VALUE LESS THAN £10 MILLION

Ferrier Street Industrial Estate,

The Colonnades, Bishops Bridge 10 Centie, Gloucester Business

Road, London W2

Wandsworth, London SW18

Sector

Park, Gloucester GL3

Industrial

Sector

Mixed Use Industrial
Tenyre Freehold Tenure Freehold Tenure Freehoid
Size (sq ft) 64,000 Size (sq ft) 36,000 Size {sq ft) 43,000
Principal  Waitrose Ltd, Graham & Green, Principal  Kougar Tool Hire Ltd Principal  Infusion GB
tenants Happy kamb Hot Pot, tenants Page Lacquer tenants

1Rebel, Specsavers Lockdown Baker

The property comprises a large mixed-
use block in Bayswater, constructed
in the mid-1970s. The site extends to
approximately 2 acres on the north
east corner of the junction of Bishops
Bridge Road and Porchester Road,
close to Bayswater tube station and
the Whiteleys Shopping Centre. The
commercial element was extended
and refurbished in 2015 with a new
20 year lease being agreed with
Waitrose.

Site of just over an acre, 50

metres from Wandsworth Town
railway station in an area that is
predominantly residential. The estate
comprises 16 small industrial units
generally let to a mix of small to
medium-sized private companies.
Planning permission granted in
December 2019 for 2 mixed-use
employment led redevelopment.

The 10 Centre comprises six industrial
units occupied by two tenants and sits
on a 4.5-acre site. Gloucester Business
Park is located to the east of junction
1A of the M5 and one mile to the
east of Gloucester City Centre. The
property also has easy access to the
A417 providing good links to the M4
via junction 15.
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Investment Objective and Benchmark

The Company’s Objectiye is to Maximise
by investing in the shares ang Seturitipg
and Property related busines
mvesrmem bropert

The benchrnark' is the FISE
Capped Noy Total Return

by FTSE, ic free-

Constjtye

Compan d feweights
The benchmark website Wwwa
about the index and Performance

Business Mode)

The Company‘s Business mode] foflows that of an externalfy Managed
investrnent tryst,

The company has no o
fetains responsibil'éty fo

O nvestmen; Busingsg Limited 55 the
EM”Y with bortfolin Manay
us Phayre—Mudge s a5 fup

and the arfangement under the
found i, the Report of the Birectorg

Dfrectr've
the cOm_pany.
5 tothe Company.
Matters,




Strateqy and Investment Policies

The investrnent selection process seeks to wdentify well
maneged compames of all sizes. The Banager qmerﬂllv
regards fllrwo growth and cepitel eppreaiation potential
more Bighly then imimediate yield of discount to asset
el

although the nvestiment (JM( fve allows for irvestiment
ain an mtemational besis the beachmerk s 2 Pen-
Europesn dex and the mejonty of the in \Lstmmh

will b laceted in thet geograg ,\E neal erea Direct property
nvestmnents are located 1 the UK only,

As 2 dedicated snvestar in the propenty sector the
Company cernct offer diversificabion cutside thet sector,
howewver, within the portfolio there are Imitztons, o set
oit below, an the size of indaducl mvestments held to
ensure diversimcet:on within the porttohio

ASSET ALLOCATION GUIDELINES

The meximum holding i the stock ol any ane ssuer of of
@ single asset s Inuted to 15% of the poitfolic ot the poml
of acquisizion, in edditior, any holdings 1in excess of 5°

fthe porttolio must not In aggregete e«ceed <0 of rhe
powfohu

The Menager cunently applies the tollowing quidelines f
asset allocation.
UK |\STPd equite 75504,
Continente | buropean i|> wd B U|Lu; SIS
Direct Property - UK o a9 200
Other listed ¢ *qu| - o 0 5
Listed bonds G-t
Unguotad mvestments -5

GEARING

The Compary may employ levels of geanng from time
to time with the aim of enherany retuns. subyect o an
ovarall maxmur of 25% of the porttolo value.

w
4
=
5
m
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mns-dg'
ol ol J“

in certain market conditions the Mancger maey
prident not to employ geanng on the belance s
and to hold pert of the portfolio m cash.

The current 2sset allocation guideling s 10%, net cash to
25%0 net geaning {(3s o percentege of pertfoho value},

PROPERTY VALUATION

Investmont praperties are valued every six months by an
exteinal independent valuer Yeluations of all the Group’s
propertics a5 at 31 iarch 2021 heve been cormed oul on
A “RICS Redd Book™ besis and these valuetions heve been
adopted in the accounts

ALLOCATION OF COSTS BETWEEN REVENUE &
{APITAL

On the basis of the Board's expected long-tenm splt

of returns in the fonm of cepital gaims end ncome, the
Group chargas 754 of 2nnual base menagement foes ond
finance costs o cepitzl All perfarmence fees are chaged
to capital,

HOLDINGS IN INVESTMENT COMPANIES

s the Boords curnent intention to hold o more tha
152 of the portfolio in bisted closed-cnded investiment
LOM2EMmes

SOME CoInPanios Nvesting in cormmeraal or residenticl
property ore stractarad as isted externally maneqged
tlosed-ended mvestment compames end ercfore torm
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Key Performance Indicators

The Board assesses the performance of the Manager in meeting the Trust’s objective against
the following Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”):

KPI

Net Asset Value Total Return relative to the benchmark

The Directors regard the out-performance of the
Company's net assel value total return in performance
in comparison with {he benchmark as being an overall
measure of value delivered to the shareholders’ over the
longer-term

Board monitoring and outcome

The Board reviews the perlormance in detall at each
meeting and discusses the results and outlook with the
Manager.

Outcome
1year §years
NAY Tolal Return™ (Annualised) 207%  77%
Benchmark Total Return (Annualised) 159%  43%

* NAV Toldt Returr 1s calculated by re-investing the dividends n the assets and
the Company from the relevant ex-dividend dste Dividends are deemed to be
re-invested on the ex-dividends date for the benchmark.

Delivering a reliable dividend which is growing over the fonger term

The pnincipal objective of the Company is a total return
abjective, however, the Fund Manager also aims Lo
deliver a reliable dividend with growth over the longer
term.

The Board reviews statements on income recerved lo dale
and income forecasls al each meeting.

Qutcome
1year §5years
Compound Annual Dividend Growth” 14%  11.2%
Compound Annual RPI 15%  2.6%

* The tmal dwvideng in the time senes divided by the vitial d-vidend in the
perod raised to the power of 1 divided by the number of years in the series

The Discount or Premiurm at which the Company’s shares trade compared with Net Asset Value

Whilst expectation of investment performance 1s a key
driver of the share price discount or premium to the Net
Asset value of an investment trust cver the longer-term,
there are periods when the discount can widen. The
Board is aware of the vulnerability of a sector-specialist
trust to a change of Investor sentiment towards that
sector, or 1o penods of wider markel uncerlainty, and the
Impact that can have on the discount
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The Board lakes powers at each AGM to buy-back and
1ssue shares. When considening the merits of share buy-
back or 1ssuance, the Board lcoks al a number of faclors in
addition to the short and longer-term discount or premium
to NAY to assess whether action would be benefiaal to
sharehalders overall. Particular attention 1s paid to the
curient market sentiment, the potential impact of any
share buy-back activity on the liquidity of the shares and
on Ongoing Charges over the longer term.

Outcome
lyear 5years
Average discount” 102% 63%
Total number of shares repurchased Nil 150,000

" Average daily discount throughout the peried of share price to
NAY with income. Source. Bloomberg



KPI
Level of Ongoing Charges

The Board 1s conscious of expenses and aims (o deliver a
balance between excellent service and costs.

The AIC definition of Ongoing Charges ncludes any direct
property costs it addition to the management fees and
all other expenses incurred 1n runming a publicly histed
company. As no other investment trusts hold part of therr
portfolio In direct property (they either hold 100% of their
portfolio as property secunities or as direct property), In
addition to Ongong Charges as defined by the AIC, this
statistic is shown without direct property costs to allow

a clearer comparison of overall administration costs with
other funds investing in securilies.

The Board monitors the Ongoing Charges, in comparison
to a range of other Investment Trusts of similar size, both
property sector specialists and other sector specialists.

Board monitoring and outcome

Expenses are budgeted for each financial year and the
Board reviews reqular reports on actual and lorecast
expenses throughout the year

Oytcome
1year 5years

Ongoing <harges excluding
performance fees

Ongoing charges excluding performance
feas and Oirect Property Costs

0.65% 0.65%

0.63% 0.62%

The engaing charges are competitive when compared to
the peer group.

Investment Trust Status

The Company must continue to operate in order to meet
the requirements for Section 1158 of the Carporation Tax
Act 2010,

The Board reviews financial information and forecasts at
each meeting which set out the requirernents cutlined in
Section 1158,

The Directors believe that the conditions and ongoing
requirements have been mel in respect of the year to
31 March 2021 and that the Company will continue to
meet the requirements.

The KFIs are considered to be Alternative Performance Measures as defined Iater in the Annual Report.
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Principal and Emerging Risks and Uncertainties

In delivering long-term returns to shareholders, the Board must also idenufy and monitor the risks that have been taken
in order to achieve that return. The Beard has included below details of the principal and emerging risks and uncertainties
facing the Company and the appropriate measures taken in order to mitigate these risks as far as practicable.

The Board also considers new and emerging risks adding appropnate menitenng and mitigation measures accordingfy.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the respanse of financial markets, the unknown duration of the pandemic and
angoing impact on econsmies around the workd logether with operational changes in response to government gquidelines
continues o increase some of the risks listed below in comparison with prior years

Risk Identified Board monitoring ané mitigation

Share price perferms poorly in comparison to the underlying NAY

The shares of the Company are listed on the London - The Board manitors the level of discount or prerium at
Stock Exchange and the share price is determined by which the shares are trading over the short and longer-
supply and demand. The shares may trade at a discount term

or premium to the Company’s underlying NAV and this

discount of premium may fucluate over time. The Board encourages engagement with the sharehoiders.

The Board receives reports at each meeling on the activity
of the Company's brokers, PR agent and meetings and
events attended by the Fund Manager.

The Company’s shares are available through the BMG
share schemes and the Company participates in the active
marketing of these schemes The shares are also widely
available on open architecture platforms and can be held
directly through the Company’s registiar.

The Board takes the powers 1o buy-back and to issue
shares at each AGM.

Poor investment performance of the portfolio relative to the benchmark

The Company’s portfolio 1s actively managed. In addiion - The Manager’s objective 1s to cutperfarm the benchmark.
lo investment securities the Company also Invests in The Board reqularly reviews the Company’s long-term
commercial property and accordingly, the portfolic may stralegy and investment guidelines and the Manager's
nat fellow or outperform the return of the benchmark relative positions against these

The Management Engagement Committee reviews the
Manager’s performance annually. The Board has the
powers tc change the manager If deemed appropriate.
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Risk Identified

Market risk

Both share prices and exchange rates may maove rapidly
and adversely impact the value of the Company’s
portfolio.

Although the portfclio is diversified across a number of
geographical regions, the investment mandate is focused
on a single sector and therefore the portlohc will be
sensilive lowards the property sector, as well as global
equily markets more generally.

Property companies are subject to many factors which
can adversely affect their investment performance, these
in¢lude the general econcmic and financial environment
in which therir tenants aperate, interest rates, availability
of Investment and development finance and requlations
1ssued by governments and authonties.

Although we have now exited the European Union the
structure of our future relationship with Continental
Europe is still evolving and there could be an impact on
occupation across 2ach seclor.

The COVID-19 global pandemic dominated the financial
year This has changed the way we five and work,
creating ungrecedented uncertainty regarding the impact
on economies and property markets around the world
both in the short and longer term.

Any strengthening or weakening of Sterling will have

a direcl impact as a propertion of our Balance Sheet 1
held in non-GBP denaminated currencies. The currency
exposure is maintained in line with the benchmark and
will change aver lime. As at 31 March 2021, 72.1% of lhe
Trust's exposure lies to currencies ather than GBP

Board monitoring and mitigation

The Board receives and considers a regular report from
the Manager detailing asset allocation, investment
decisions, currency exposures, gearing levels and raticnale
In relation to the prevailing marke! conditions.

The repart considers the potential impact of Brexit and the
Manager’s response in positicning the portfolio.

The repart considers the current and potental future
irnpacl of the COVID-19 pandermc and the ongoing
implication for the property market and valuations overall
and by each sector

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST
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principal Risks and Uncertainties continued

Risk Identified Board monitoring and mitigation

The Company is unabie te maintain dividend growth

Lower earnings in the underlying portfolio putting + The Board receives and considers regular income
pressure on the Company’s ability to grow the dividend forecasts

could result from a number of factors
Income forecast sensitivity to changes in FX rates 1s also

lower earnings and distributions in investee monitored
companies. Companies 1N SO0Me property sectors
continue to be negatively iImpacted by the COVID-19
pandemic. Companies IN some sectors cancelled or
reduced dividends during the lasl financial year as a
precautionary measure to protect their batance sheets
in the short term Although most have returned to
paying dividends, some are at a iower level than
previously and others are continuing to withhold
dividends;

The Company has substantial revenue reserves which can
be drawn upon when required.

The Board will continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19
and the long term implications for income generation.

prolonged vacancies m the direct property portfolio
and lease or rental renegatiations as a result of
CovID-19;

strengthening Sterling reducing the value of overseas
dividend receipts in Sterling terms. The Company

has seen a material increase in the level of earnings
IN recent years. A significant factor in this was the
weakening of Sterling following the Brexit decision
Sterling strengthened in the last quarter of the
financial year. This may continue or reverse again

in the near or medium term as the longer term
implications af Brext and the COVID-19 pandemic and
the impact on the UK and Furcpean economies are
understood. Stiengthening of Sterling would lead to a
fall in earmings;

adverse changes in the tax lreatment of dvidends or
other income received by the Company, and

changes in the timing of dividend receipts from
Investee companies
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Risk Identified

Accounting and operational risks

Disrupticn or failure of systems and processes
underpinning the services provided by third parties and
the risk that these suppliers provide a sub-standard
service.

The nnpacl of the COVIE-19 pandemic and the
operational respense from the manager and service
providers has been closely monitored

Board monitoring and mitigation

Third party service providers produce penadic reports to
the Board on their control enviranments and business
continuation provisions on a regular basis.

The Management Engagement Committee considers the
performance of each of the service providers on a reqular
basis and considers their ongoing appaintment and terms
and conditions.

The Custodian and Depository are responsible for the
safequarding of assets. In the event of a loss of assets
the Depos:tory must return assets of an identical type
or corresponding amount unless able to demonstrate
that the loss was the result of an event beyond their
reasonable control,

Monitering the quality and timeliness of service as
service providers respend to COVID-19 regulations and
quidelines, in particular with widespread home waorking
and consideration of the durability of the arrangements
Many organisations are now planning to incorporate
home working into their operaticnal structure as a
permanent feature

Financial risks

The Company’s investment activities expose it 1o a
variety of financial nsks which include counterparty
credit risk, fquidity risk and the valuation of finangial
instruments. Any impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has
been considered.

Cetails of these risks together with the policies for
managing these nisks are found in the Notes to the
Financial Statements in the full Annual Reports and
Accounts,

Loss of Investment Trust Status

The Company has been accepted by HM Revenue &
Custorms as an investment trust, subject to continuing
to meet the relevant eligibility condilions. As such the
Company 1s exempt from capital gains tax on the profits
realised from the sale of mvestments,

Any breach of the relevant eligibility conditions could
lead to the Company losing investment trust status and
being subject to corporation tax an capital gains realised
within the Company’s portfolio.

The Investment Manager monitors the investment
portfolig, income and preposed dividend levels to ensure
that the provisions of CTA 2010 are not breached. The
results are reported to the Board at each meeting.

The income forecasts are reviewed by the Company’s tax
adwisor through the year who also reports te the Board
on the year-end tax gosition and reports on (TA 2010
compliance,
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties continued

Risk tdentified

Board monitoring and mitigation

Legal, regulatory and reporting risks

Failure to comply with the London Stock Exchange
Listing Rules and Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
rules; failure to meet the requirements under the
Alternative Investment Funds Directive, the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006 and other UK, European
and overseas legislalion affecting UK companies.
Failure to meet the required accounting standards or
make appropnate disclesures in the Intenim and Annual
Reports.

The Board recerves reqular requlatory updates from
the Manager, Cempany Secretary, legal adwisors and
the Audrtors. The Board considers these reports and
recommendations and takes action accordingly.

The Board recerves an annual report and update from the
Depository

Internal checklists and review procedures are in place at
service providers,

Inappropriate use of gearing

Geanng, either through the use of bank debt or through
the use of denvatives may be utilised from time to time.
Whilst the use of gearing is intended lo enhance the NAV
total return, it will have the opposite effect when the
return of the Company’s investment partfolio 1S negative
or where the cost of debt is higher than the return from
the portfolio.

The Board receives reqular reports from the panager on
the levels cof gearing in the portictio. These are cansidered
agamst the geanng imits set m the Investment Guidehnes
and also 1 the context of current market conditions and
sentiment. The cost of debt is monitored and a balance
sought between term, cost and flexibility,

Personnet changes at Investment Manager

Loss of portfoho manager or other key staff

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST

The (hairman conducts requiar meetmgs with the fund
Management team.

The fee basis protects the core infrastructure and depth
and quality resources. The fee structure incentivises
outperformance and 1s fundamental in the ability to retain
key staff.



Viability Statement

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code, which requires the Company to assess
the prospects af the Company over the longer term, the
Directors have assessed the prospects of the Company
over the coming five years. This period 1s used by the
Board during the strategic planning process and the Board
consider this period of time appropriale for @ business of
our nature and size.

This assessment takes account of the Company’s current
position and the policies and processes for managing the
principal and emerging risks set out on pages 28 to 32 and
the Company’s ability Lo centinue In operation and meet its
liahilities as they fall due over the period of assessment.

In making this statement the Board carried out a robust
assessment of the principal and emerging nsks facing the
Company, including those that might threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency and hguidity.

In reaching their conclusions the Birectors have reviewed
five-year farecasts for the Company with sensitivity
analysis to a number of assumptions; investee company
dividend growth, interest rate, foreign exchange rate, lax
rate and assel value growth.

In the assessment of the viability of the Company
the Directors have noted that:

The Cempany has a long-term investment stralegy
under which it invests mainly in readily realisable,
publicly listed securities and which restricls the level of
borrowings.

Of the current portfolio, 50% could be liquidated within
five trading days and 9% within 10 trading days.

On a Group basis, Current assets exceed current
hiabilites at the Balance Sheet Date.

The Company invests in real estate related companies
which hold real estate assels, and invests in commercial
real estate directly. These investments provide cash
receipts in the form of dividends and rental income.

The Company is able to take advanlage of its closed-
ended Investment Trust structure and able to hold a
proportion of 1ts portfalio in less liquid direct property
with a view to long-term gutperformance.
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At the Balance Sheet Date the Company had
£35 mullien undrawn on its revolving loan facihtes,

The structure has also enabied the Company to
secure long-term finanaing. kUK 50 million loan notes
issued in 2016 are due to mature at par in 2026 and
GBP15 millicn loan notes 1ssued on the same date are
due to mature at parin 2031,

The impact of COVID-19 on the UK and European
commercial property markets rermains a consideration.
Thus resulted in a reduction in dividend receipls from
inveslee companies in the year to 31 March 2021 wilh
some companies withholding or reducing dividends
The majonity of companies have relurned to paying
dividends, although scme at lower levels than before
the pandemic. As a result an improvement in income
15 anticipated 1n the forthcoming year The longer
term impact en some sectors 15 still difficult to assess,
however the campany has low exposure to these
secters.

The direct property portioho has been well positioned
In respect of the COVID-19 cnisis and rental collection to
date has been rebust, We have very limited exposure
to retail and some smaller occupiers in the hospitahity
sector, however, cverall the expecled diop i income
from the direct portfolic 1n 2020721 was not matenal
and likewise is not expected {o be in the forthcorming
year.

The expenses of the Company are predictable and
modest in comparison with the assets. Regqular and
robust monitering of revenue and expenditure forecasts
are undertaken throughout the year. The Company
could suffer a reduction in earnings of 95% and sull be
able to meet its liabilities as they fell due
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viability Statement continued

The Company has no employees and consequently
does not have redundancy or other employment
related liabilities or responsibilities.

The Company retains title to its assets held by the
Custodian which are subject to further safequards
imposed on the Depaositary.

The impact of Brexit and COVID-19 have been
considered in terms of the potential effect on Sterling
72% of the portfolio is exposed to currencies other than
Sterling.

The following assumptions have been made in
assessing the longer-term viability:

Real Estate will continue to be an investable sectar of
international stock markets and investors will continue
to wish to have exposure to that sector.

Closed-endead Investment Trusts will continue to be
wanted by investors and regulation of tax legislation
will not change to an extent to make the structure
unattractive In companson to other investment
products,

The performance of the Company will continue to be
satisfactery. Should the performance be less than the
Board deems to be satisfactory, it has the appropnate
powers to replace the investment Manager.

The Board has concluded that the Company will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities
as they fall due over the coming five years. The
Company’s business model, capital structure and
strategy have enabled the Company to operate
over many decades, and the Board expects this to
continue into the future.
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Corporate Responsibility

Approach

Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG™) factors

can present both opportunities and Lhreats to the
performance we aim to deliver to our shareholders. The
Board is therefore committed to taking a responsible
approach on ESG matters. This covers the Company’s own
responsibilities on governance and reporting and, the maost
material way in which the Company can have an impact,
through responsible ownership of the investinenls thal are
made on 1ts behalf by 1ts Manager.

As a long-term investor, governance and sustainability
considerations have always been embedded 1n our
Manager’s Investment Process ESG nisk assessments

and considerations are integrated into the detalled
fundamental investment research and analysis that takes
place on any potential investment before it s considered
for inclusion In the pertfolio and continues on an ongoing
basts for all investments held.

This approach 1s in line with the definition of an Article
6 Fund under the EU's Sustainable Finance Disclosure
Regulations. Whilst this is currently European not UK
regulation 1t 1s nonetheless a widely utihsed definition

There are two fundamental considerations to investment
in property companies: the assets themselves and their
management. The Manager seeks Lo invest In sustamable
assets which are managed by quality leams in a well
governed corporate structure. As a resull, there has

been a long-standing and strong culture of slewardship

in the Manager’s investment approach. The Manager
believes that engaging with companies is bestin the

first instance, rather than simply divesting or excluding
vestment opportunities. However, there are instances
where governance matters have driven a decision not to
invest In @ company. As one of the largest teams nvesting
in Pan-Eurppean real estate equities, our Manager meets
with a significant number of the management teams of
investee and potential Investee companies each year and
has a robust record of engagement with an agenda of
reducing risk, improving performance and encouraging
best practice Whilst likely an elevated number reflecting
the impact of Covid, over the course of the year, our
management leam partiapated in 380 indiwvidual or group
meetings with companies and their management teams.

Corporate Governance disclosure reguirements have
increased transparency enormously In recent years
and enabled informed engagement, with social and

employment practices also gaming increased focus and
disclosure. Environmental measures are now rapidly
coming to the fore and with wider disclosure requirements
being placed upon our nvestee companies, as a resull Lhe
Manager is able to scrutinise mare easily other measures
such as climate change and sustainabilily policies and
cutcomes.
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Company Corporate Governance and Reporting

The Board also recognises the importance of the
Company’s own Governance and disclosures. The
Company’s compliance with the revised AiC Code of
Corporale Governance 15 detailed in the Corporate
Governance Statement on page 44 of this Annual Report.

Unders Section 414 cf the Companies Act 2006 there 1s the
requirement te detail information about employee and
human rights; including information about any policies

it has in relation to these matters and effectiveness

of these policies. As the Trust has no employees, this
requirement does not apply The Company 1s not within
the scope of the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015 because it
has not exceeded the turnaver threshald and is therefore
not obhiged to make a slavery and human trafficking
statement. The Girectors are satisfied that, to the best of
their knowledge, the Company's principal suppliers, which
are listed on page 108, comply with the provisions of the
UK Modern Slavery Act 2015

The Board currently compnses three male Directors and
two female Directors. The activities of the Nomination
Commuttee in relation to the board changes are referred
10 in the Nomination Commuttee Repart on pages 51 and
52. The Board's diversity golicy 15 cuthned 1in more detail
In the Corporate Governance Report. The Manager has an
equal opportunity policy which 1s set out on its website
www bmo.com

Governance of Investee Companies and Exercise of
Voting Power

The Board has approved a corporate governance voling
pohicy which, nits opinion, accords with current best
praclice whilst maintaining a primary focus on financial
returns,

The exercise of voting rights attached to the portfolio
has been delegated to the manager. Where practicable,
all shareholdings were voted at all company meetings
in the financial year in accordance with BMOGAM'S
own corporate governance policies. This ensures that

a strong, consistent approach 1s taken to proxy voting
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Corporate Responsibility continuid
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As can be seen in the chart above, the fund’s portfolio
weighted carbon intensity was broadly in line with that of
the benchmark, whilst significantly lower than the wider

global equity index_ This reflects the fact that for property,

this 1s largely measuring the impact of ongoing ermissions
from running a building whereas the wider index includes
operating companies with manufacturing capabilities and
the need le distribute goods worldwide.

For the property sector, the focus is currently on the
energy efficiency of bulldings once they are occupied,
but we expect in time mare attention will be paid t¢
the carbon emitted in getting them built and eventually
dismantled which accounts for 2 large propertion of 2
building’s emissions over its lifespan.

The message is that this is still an area where it is difficult
to make fully informed decisions. The assessments from
the various data providers reach different conclusions

as they do nol all score 1n a consistent way, We expect
this Lo improve and change but 1t will be a journey. Our
Manaqger is dedicating a lot of resource to the analysis

of the information available and also has the benefit

of the knowledge of BMOs award winning Responsible
Investment Team As data coverage Improves, our
Manaqger will in lurn be able to engage with our investee
companies on environmental matters and report to cur
shareholders in more depth,

Direct Property Portfolio

The Managerment team recognises the importance of
sustainability (n our business and in the direct property
assels which we invest 1n, hold and manage on behalf of
our investors. Property impacts upon the environment,
the health and wellbeing of cccupiers, and the
communities in which they are situated. Specific 1ssues
relevant to physical property investment portfolio include,
for example, responsible and sustainable refurbishment
practices, efficient use of resources throughout their
operation, and design and services to support the health
and wellbetng of occumers and local communities.

Envircnmental Audits are conducted on all our buildings
pricr to purchase. The Company will take remedial

action ar enforce tenant obligations to do so wherever
appropnate In managing Environmental, Secial and
Governance Issues across the direct portfolio - our
Manager engages with occupiers, external managers and
suppliers. As a responsible steward of the Company’s
assels, our Manager is committed to improving
sustainability charactenstics through interventions that are
carefully planned and executed.
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Cur Manager has strong, direct relationships with
occupiers and is committed o working with them to
develop the data, measurement tools and resources (o
set and achieve meaningful sustainability targets for the
assets in the portfolic  As parl of this, and warking with
the portfolio property managers, a Sustainabifity Roadmap
15 being implemented which targets biodiversily net gain
across the portfolio by 2025, impraving energy, water and
waste efficiency, transitioning to 100% renewable energy
and reducing greenhause gas emissions 10 ine with
climate science.

By order of the Board

David Watson
Chairman

3 June 2027
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Directors

i3

KATE BOLSOVER

SARAH-JANE CURTIS

DAVID WATSON

Chairman Non-Executive Directar Non-Executive Director
Appointed: Appointed: Appointed:

April 2012 October 2019 January 2020
Experience: Experience: Experience:

David became Chairman following
the retirement of Hugh Seaborn an
28 July 2020. Since 30 September
2018 David had served as the Board's
Senior Independent Director when he
simultaneously handed Chairmanship
of the Audit Committee to Tim, a
position he was appointed to on 1
January 2013. He spent 9 years as
Finance Director of M&G Group plc,
where he was a director of four
equity investment trusts, and more
recently at Aviva plc as Chief Finance
Officer of Aviva General Insurance.
He is a Chartered Accountant and

has had a distinguished career in the
Financial Services Industry.

Kate previously worked for Cazenove
Group and J.P. Morgan Cazenove
between 1995 and 2005 where she
was Managing Director of the mutyal
fund business, and latterly director of
Corporate Communications. Prior to
this, she worked extensively in the
investment fund industry and was
managing Birector of Baring’s mutual
fund group. Kate was also previously
2 non-executive director of [PMorgan
American Investment Trust plc until
2016, Senior Independent Director of
Montanare UK Smaller Companies
Trust until 2019 and Chairman and
Trustee of Tomorow’s People until
2017.

Sarah-Jane is a Member of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
Sarah-Jane was previously Business
Director at Bicester Village for Value
Retail_ Before this, Sarah-jJane was
Director, Covent Garden for Capital
and Counties PLC. She has also
worked for Grosvenor for 24 years
including as London Estate Director
{retail/Residential) and Fund Manager
for LiverpoolONE.

Skills and Contribution to the Board:

Throughout his executive career, David
has accumulated relevant skills in
finance, audit and risk management
and experience in the investment
industry. His experience as SID and
Chair in a number of boards have built

Skills and Contribution to the Board:
From her executive experience, Kate
contributes significant and relevant
skills of the investment industry to
the Trust. Kate’s role in various boards
also gives her the relevant experience
in investor and shareholder

skills and Contribution to the Board:
Sarah-Jane has gained extensive
experience during her varied

career, particulary in the retail, and
experience sectors and for Fund and
Investment management activities.

significant experience in shareholder engagement.
and investor engagement.
Other Appointments: other Appointments: Other Appointments:

David is currently Chairman of
Aegon Asset Management UX plc
and he is a Director and Chairs the
Audit Committee at the Prudential
Assurance Company.
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Kate is currently Chairman of

fidelity Asian Values PLC and Senior
Independent Director of Invesco Bond
Income Plus Limited. She is also a
non-executive Director of Baillie
Gifford & Co Ltd.

Sarah-Jane is currently Property
Director of Bicester Motion as well as
2 consultant to Value Retail PLC.



SIMON MARRISON
Senior independent Director

TiM GILLBANKS
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Appointed: Appointed:
September 2011 January 2018
Experience: Experience:

Simon joined the Board of the
Company on 28 September 2011 and
became Senior independent Director
on 28th july 2020. He has over 30
years’ experience in the European
property investment industry. He is
currently senior advisor for European
Real Estate at KKR (Kohlberg Kravis
Roberts). Prior to this he spent 19 years
at LaSalle Investment Management
where he was European CEO for 12
years with responsibility for a portfolic
of aver €20 billion across Europe.
simon has been based in Paris since
1990 having started his career in
London. Until 1997 he was a partner
at Healey & Baker (row Cushman &
wakefield) and from 1997 to 2001 he
was at Rodamco where he became
Country Manager for France. He joined
Lasalle in 2001 as Managing Oirector
for Continental Europe.

Tim is a Chartered Accountant, with
30 years’ experience in the financial
services and investment industry.
Most recently he spent 13 years at
Columbia Threadneedle investments,
initially as Chief Financial Officer, then
Chief Operating Officer and finally as
interim Chief Executive Officer.

skills and Contribution 1o the Board:
Simon brings in a wealth of
experience, particularly in the
European property market. He has
gained leadership and management
skills in his executive roles and
relevant skills in investment

skills and Contribution to the Board:
Tim brings a wide experience,
particularly in financial services

and investment management. His
previous financial experience during
his executive career informs him in
his role as the Chairman of the Audit

management. Committee.

Other Appointments: Other Appointments:

Senior advisor for European Real Estate Tim is currently a Non-Executive
at KKR {Kohlberg Kravis Roberts) Director for Henderson Global

Investors Limited and Henderson
Group Holdings Asset Management
Limited. He is also Vice-Chair of the
Board of Trustees of Blood Cancer UK.

All directors are independent of the manager and are members of the Audit Commitiee
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Managers

b/

MARCUS PHAYRE-MUDGE

f G

B
JO ELLIOTY

Marcus Phayre-Mudge, Fund Manager, joined the
Management team for the Company at Henderson Global
Investors in january 1997, initially managing the Company's
direct property portfolio and latterty focusing on real estate
equities, managing a number of UK and Pan European reat
estate equity funds in addition to activities in the Trust.
Marcus moved to Thames River Capital in October 2004
wherse he is also fund manager of Thames River Property
Growth & Incorme Fund Limited. Prior to joining Henderson,
Marcus was an investment surveyor at Knight Frank

(1990) and was made an Associate Partner in the fund
managerment division (1995). He qualified as a Chartered
Surveyor in 1992 and has a BSc (Hons} in Land Management
from Reading University.

P/

GEORGE GAY

Jo Elfiott, Finance Manager, has been Finance Manager
since 1995, first at Henderson Global Investors then, since
January 2005, at Thames River Capital, when she joined
as CF0 for the property tearm. She joined Henderson
Global Investars in 1995, where she most recently held
the position of Director of Property, Finance & Operations,
Europe. Previously she was Corporate Finance Manager
with tondon and Edinburgh Trust plc and prior to that was
an investment/treasyry analyst with Heron Corporation
plc. Jo has a BSc (Hons) in Zoology from the University of
Nottingham and qualified as a Chartered Accountant with
Ernst & Young in 1988. Jo is a Non-Executive Director and
Audit Committee Chair of Polar Capital Globa! Financials
Trust plc.

aih

ALBAN LHONNEUR

Geosge Gay, Direct Property fund Manager, has been the
Direct Property Fund Manager since 2008. He joined Thames
River Capital in 2005 as assistant direct property manager
and qualified as a Charteted Surveyor in 2006. George was
previously at niche City investment agent, Morgan Pepper
where as an investment graduate he gained considerable
industry experience. He has an MA in Property Valuation and
Law from City University.
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Aiban Lhonneur, Deputy fund Manager, joined Thames
River Capital in August 2008. He was previously at Citigroup
Global Markets as an Equity Research analyst focusing on
Continental European Real Estate. Prior to that he was at
Societe Generale Securities, where he focused on transport
equity research. He has a BSc in Business and Management
from the ESC Toulouse including one year at the Brunel
University, London. He also attended CERAM Nice High
Business School. In 2005 he obtained a post-graduate
Specialised Master in Finance in 2005 from ESCP-EAP.




Report of the Directors

The Directors present the audited financial statements of
the Group and the Company and their Strateqic Report
and Report of Directors for the year ended 31 March

2021 The Group comprises TR Property Investment Trusl
plc and its whelly owned subsidianes. As permitted by
legislation, some matters normally included 1n the Report
of the Directors have heen included in the Strategic Report
because the Board considers them to be of strategic
importance Therefore, the review of the business of the
Company, recent events and outlook can be found on
pages 4 to 35

STATUS

The Company 1s an nvestment company, as defined in
Section 833 of the Companies Act 200¢ and operates as
an investment trust in accordance with Seclion 1158 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010

The Company has a single share class, Ordinary shares,
with a nominal value of 25p each which are premium
listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The Company has received confirmation from HM Revenue
& Customs that the Company has been accepted as

an approved investment trust for accounting penads
commencing on of after 1 Apnl 2012 subject to the
Company continuing to meel the eligibility conditions of
Section 1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010 and Lhe ongoing
requirements for approved companies in Chapter 3

of Part 2 Investment Trust {Approved Company) (Tax)
Requlations 2011 {Statutery Instrument 2011/2999),

The Direclors are of the opinion that the Company has
conducted and will continue to conduct its affairs so as
to maintain investment trust status. The Company has
also conducted 1ts affairs, and will continue to conduct

its affarrs, in such a way as to comply with the Individual
Savings Accounts Regulaticns The Ordinary shares can be
held in Individual Savings Accounts {ISAS)

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Al 31 March 2021 the net assels of the Company amounted
to £1,326 million {2020: £1,136 mullion), on a per share
basis 417.97p {2020, 358.11p) per share.

Revenue earnings per share for the year amounted to
12.25p (2020 14.62p) and the Cirectors recommend the
payment of a final dividend of 9.00p (2020: 8 80p) per
share bringing the total dividend for the year to 14.20p
{2019: 14.00p). In arriving af therr dividend proposal, the
Board also reviewed the income lorecasts for the year to
March 2022.

Performance details are set out in the Financial Highlights
on page 2 and the outcome of whal the Directors consider

lo be the Key Performance Indicators on pages 26 and 27.
The Chairman's Stalemenl ard the Manager's Report give
full details and analysis of the resuits for the year.

SHARE CAPITAL AND BUY-BACK ACTIVITY

At 31 pMarch 2021 the Company had 317,350,980
{2020: 317.350,980) Ordinary shares in 1ssue.

Al the AGM 1n 2020 the Oirectors were given power to
buy back 47570,911 Ordinary shares. Since this AGM the
Directors have not bought back any Ordinary shares at
the noeminal value of 25p each under this authenty. The
outstanding authority 15 therefore 47,570,911 shares.

This authonty will expire at the 2021 AGM. The Company
will seek to renew the power 1o make marke! purchases
of Crdinary shares at this year's AGM,

Since 1 April 2021 to the date of this report, the Company
has made no market purchases for cancellation. The Board
has not set a specific discount at which shares will be
repurchased.

MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS AND FEES

Detals of the management arrangements and fees are
set out in the Report of the Management Engagement
Committee beginning an page 53. Total fees paid

to the Manager in any one year (Management and
Performance Fees) may not exceed 4.99% of Group
Equity Shareholders” Funds. Total fees payable for the
year to 31 March 2021 amount to 12% (2020 0.8%) of
Group Equity Shareholders” Funds. Included in this were
performance fees earned in the year ended 31 March 2027
of £9,659,000 (2020: £2,683,000).

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND IFRS

The Group and Company financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared on a going
concern basis In accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards {IFRS), which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), together with inlerpretations

of the International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee approved by the International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) that remain in
effect, to the extent that they have been adepted by the
European Union and as reqards the Group and Company
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

The accounting policies are set out in note 11o the
Financial Statements on pages 73 to 77.
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Repoit of the Directors continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company's Financial Instruments comprise 1ts
investment portfolio, cash balances, borrowings and
debtors and creditors that arise directly from its cperations
such as sales and purchases awaiting settlement, profit

or loss balances on dervative nstruments and accrued
income and expenses. The financial nsk management
objectives and policies arising from its financial
instruments and expasure of the Company to risk are
disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors’ assessment of the longer-term viability of
the Company is set out on pages 33 and 34,

In assessing Going Concern, the Board has made a detalled
assessment of the ability of the Company and Group to
meet its habililies as they fali due, including stress and
liquidity tests which considered the effects of substantial
falls in investment valuations, substantial reductions

in revenue received and reductions in market hauidity
including the effects and potential effects of the continued
economic Impact caused by the Coronavirus pandemic The
Board 1s satisfied with the operational resilience of service
providers despite COVID-19 and continues 1o monitor their
performance throughout the pandemic

In light of testing carnied out, the overall levels of the
investment liquidity held by the Company and the
significant net asset portlolio posison, and despite the
small net current liability position of the Parent Company
and Group, the Directors are satisfied that the Company
and the Group have adequale financial resources to
continue in operation for at least the next 12 monlhs
feflowing the signing of the financaiat statements and
therefore 1t is appropriate to adapt the going concern basis
of accounting.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Graup's
systems of internal controls and for reviewing therr
effectiveness. The Portfclic Manager s responsible for the
day to day investment management deasions on behalf
of the Group. Accounting and cempany secretanial services
have bath been outsourced.

The wternal controls aim to ensure that the assets of the
Group are safequarded, proper accounting records are
maintained, and the financial information used within

the business and for publication 1s reliable. Control of the
risks identified, covenng financial, operational, compliance
and nsk management, s embedded in the contrals of

the Group by a series of reqular snvestment perfermance
and attnbution statements, financial and risk analyses,
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AlFM and Portfolio Manager reports and quarterly control
reports. Key risks have been identified and controls put in
place to mitigate them, including those nat directly the
responsibility of the AlFM or Portfolio Manager. The key
risks are explained in more detail in the Strategic Report
on pages 28 to 32.

The effectiveness of each third parly provider’s internal
controls is assessed on a continuing basis by the Compliance
and Risk departments of the AIFM and Portfolioc Manager,
the Administrator and the Company Secretary. Each
maintaing its awn system of mternak controls, and the Board
and Audit Committee receive regular reporls from them.
The control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss and to manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure to
achieve ohjectives.

As the Company has no employees and its operational
functions are undertaken by third parties, the Audit
Commuttee does not consider it necessary for the Company
to establish its own internal audit function. Instead, the
Audit Commuttee relies on internal control reports recelved
from its principal service providers to satisfy itself as 1o the
controls In place.

The Board has established a process for identifying,
evaluating and managing any major risks faced by the
Group. The Board underiakes an annual review of the
Group’s system of internal controls in hne with the Turnbull
guidance. Bustness risks have also been analysed by

the Board and recorded 10 a risk map thal 15 reviewed
reqularly. Fach quarter the Board receives a formal
report from each of the AIFM, Portfolio Manager, the
Administrator and the Company Secrelary detalling the
steps taken to monitor the areas of risk, including those
that are not directly their responsibiity, and which repart
the details of any known internal control failures.

The Board also considers the flow of information and the
Interaction between the third parly service providers and
the controls in place to ensure accuracy and completeness
of the recording of assets and income. The Board receives
a report from the Portfolio Manager setting out the key
controls In operation

The Board also has diuect access to company secretanal
advice and services provided by Link Company Matters
which, through its nominated representative, 1s
responsible for ensuring that the Board and Ccmmittee
procedures are followed and that applicable regulations
are complied with,

These contrels have been in place throughout the peniod
under review and up to the date of sigmng the accounts.



Key risks identified by the Auditors are considered by the
Audit Committee to ensure robust internal controls and
monitoring procedures are in place in respect of these
risks on an ongoing basis.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (THE “AGM”)

The AGM will be held on 27 July 2021 at Z.30pm at the Royal
Automobile Club, 89/91 Pall Mall, London SW1Y SHS. The Notice
of AGM is sel out on pages 100 and 101. The full text of the
resolutions and an explanation of each s contained in the
Notice of AGM and explanatory notes on pages 104 to 107,

MATERIAL INTERESTS

There were no contracts subsisting during or at the end

of the year in which a direclor of the Company 1s or was
materially interested and which is or was significant in
relation to the Cornpany's business. No Director has a
conltract of service with the Company. Further details
regarding the appointment letters can be found on page 52.

DONATIONS

The Company made no pohtical or chantable donations
dunng the year (2020, £nil).

LISTING RULE DISCLOSURE

The Cempany confirms that there are no items which
require disclosure under Listing Rule 9.8.4R in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2021,

VOTING INTERESTS

Rights and Obligations Attaching to Shares

Subject to applicable statutes and other shareholders’ rights,
shares may be 1ssued with such nights and restrictions as
the Company may by ordinary resolution decide, or {if there
Is no such resolution or so far as it does not make specific
provision) as the Board may decide. Subject to the Articles,
the Companies Act 2006 and ather shareholders’ rights,
unissued shares are at the disposal of the Board.

Voting

Al a general meeting of the Company, when voting is
undertaken by way of a poll, each share affords its owner
one vote.

Restrictions on Voting

No member shall be entitled to vote if he has been
served with 3 restniction notice (as defined in the Articles)
after failure to provide the Company with informaticn
concerning interests i those shares required to be
provided under the Companies Act 2006.

Deadiines for Voting Rights
Voles are exerasable at the general meeting of the Company
in respect of which the business being voted upon is being

heard. Votes may be exercised in persan, by proxy, or in
relation to corporate members, by corperate representatives.

The Articles provide 3 deadline for submission of proxy
forms of not less than 48 hours {or such sharter time
as the Board may determine} before the meeting (not
excluding non-working days},

Transfer of Shares

Any shares in the Company may be held in uncertificated
form and, subjecl to the Articles, title to uncertificated shares
may be transferred by means of a relevant system. Subject
to the Articles, any member may transfer all or any of his
ceitificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual
ferm or in any other form which the Board may approve

Significant Voting Rights

At 31 March 2021, no shareholders held over 3% of voling
rights on a discretionary basis. However, at 31 March 2021
the following shareholders held over 3% of the voting
rights on a non-discretionary basis:

% of

Ordinary

share vating

Shareholder rights”
Brewin Dolphin Ltd 1M.1%
Retail Investors - UK 8.9%
interactive Investor Share Dealing Services 7.4%
Rathbone Investment Management Ltd 51%
Hargreaves Lansdown Asset Management Ltd 5%
Quilter Cheviot Investment Management Ltd 3.9%
Investec Wealth & Investment Ltd 3.8%
Charles Stanley Group plc 30%

* see above far turther mformation on the voting nights of Ordinary shares

Since 31 March 2021 to the date of this report, the
Company has nol been informed of any nobfiable changes
with respect to the Ordinary shares

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Asscaation may only be
amended by a special resclution at a General Meeting of
the shareholders.

Amendments to the Articles of Association will be
proposed at the 2021 AGM and further details are set out
on page 106 to 107.

Corporate Governance

Full details are given in the Corporale Governance Report
on pages 44 to 50. The Corparate Governance Report forms
part of this Direclors’ Report.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors i1s accountable to shareholders for
the governance of the Company’s affairs.

This stalement descrnibes how the principles of the 2018
edition of UK Corporate Governance Code ("the Code™)
issued Dy the Financial Reparting Council (the "FRC) in
2018 have been applied to the affairs of the Company. The
Cade can be viewed at www fr¢ org uk.

Appiication of the AIC Code’s Principles

In applying the principle of the Code, the Directors

have also taken account of the 2019 Code of Corporate
Governance published by the AIC (the "AIC Code”), of which
the Company i1s @ member The AIC Cade establishes the
framework of best practice specifically for the Boards of
nvestment trust companies Furthermore, the AIC Code
has full endorsement of the FRC, which means that AIC
members who report against the AIC Code, on the whole,
meet their abligations under the Code and the related
disclosure requirements conlained in the Listing Rules The
AIL Code can be viewed at www.theaic.couk

The Directors believe that duning the peniod under review
they have complied with the main pnnciples and relevant
provisions of the Code, insofar as they apply to the
Company’s business, and with the provisions of the AIC Code.

Compliance Statemeant

The Directors note thal the Company did not comply with
the following provisions of the Lode in the year ended

31 March 2021:

Provision 9. Due to the nature and structure of the
Company the Board of non-executive directors does not
feel it 1s appropriate to appaint a chief executive.

Provision 24 The Board believes that all Directors,
including the Chairman, should sit on all of the Board’s
Committees.

Provision 26. As the Company has no employees and its
operational functions are undertaken by third parties, the
Audit Committee does nat consider it appropriate for the
Company to establish its own internal audit function The
Company's service providers provide assurance of ther
effectuve internal processes and controls.

Provision 32 The Board does not have a separate
Remuneration Commuttee The functions of a
Remuneration Committee are carried out by the
Managemenl Engagement Committee,
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Composition and independence of the Board

The Board currently consists of five directors, all of whom
are non-executive. The Board's independence, including
that of the Chairman, has been considered and all of the
Directors are deemed to be independent in character and
have ro relationships or circumstances which are fikely to
affect their judgement.

The Board subscribes to the view expressed in the AIC
Code that long-serving Directors should not be prevented
from forming part of an independent majonity. it dees not
consider that the length of a Directer’s tenure, in isolation,
reduces his or her ability to act independently. The
Board’s policy on tenure is that continuity and experience
add significantly to the strength ¢of the Board although
the Board believes in the ments of an ongomng and
progressive refreshment of its camposition.

Diversity

The Board recagnises the henefit of diversity and as of the
date of this report the Board consists of three men and
lwo women.

Diversily is taken into account as part of the recruitment,
appointment and succession planming process and

the Board 15 also aware of the developing corporate
governance with regard lo ethnicity cf individual

Directors. The Board is commutted to appointing the most
appropriale candidate, regardless of gender or cther forms
of diversity and therefore no targelts have been set against
which to report

Powers of the Directors

Subject Lo the Company's Articles of Assaciatien, the
Companies Act 2006 and any directions given by special
resolution, the business of the Company is managed

by the Board who may exercise all the powers of the
Company, whether relating to the management of the
business of the Company or not. In particular, the Board
may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow
money and l¢c morigage or charge any of 1ts undertakings,
property, assets and uncalled capital and to 1ssue
debentures and other securities and to give secunty for
any debt, ligbility or abligation of the Company to any third

party.
There are no contracts or arrangements with third parties

which atfect, alter or terrminate upen & change of cantrol
of the Company.



DIRECTORS

The Chairman is Mr Watson and the Senior Independent
Dicector 1s Mr Matrison. Mr Watson succeeded Mr Seaborn
as Chairman when he retired [rom the Board of Director
following the AGM on 28 July 2020. Mr Marrison succeeded
Mr Watson as the Senior Independent Director ¢n this
date. The Directors’ biographies, on pages 38 and 39,
demonstrate Lhe breadth of investment, commercial and
professional experience relevant to their positions as
Directors of the Company.

Directors’ retirement by retation and re-election is subject
to the Articles of Association. In accordance with the Code,
all directors will be subject to annual re-election.

ms Bolsover, Ms Curtis, Mr Gillbanks, Mr fMarrison,

Mr Watson will all retire at the forthcommg AGM in
accordance with the Code and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-etection All Directors are regarded as
being free of any conflicts of interesl and no issues in
respect of independence arise The Board has concluded
that all Direclors continue Lo make valuable contributions

BOARD MEETINGS

and believe that they remain independent 1n character
and judgement.

Directors are not compensated by the Company for loss of
office in an event of a takeover bid.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Beard has established an Audit Committee, a
Nomination Committee and a Management Engagemant
Committee, which also carnes out the tunctions of

a Remuneration Committee. Al the Directors of the
Company are non-executive and serve on each Committee
of the Board. It has been the Company's policy lo

include all Directors on alt Committees. This encourages
unity, clear communication and prevents duplication of
discussion between the Board and the Committees.

The rcles and responsibilities of each Committee are set
out on the individual Committee reports which fellow. Fach
Committee has writlen terms of reference which clearly
detine its responsibilities and duties. These can be found
on the Company’s website, are available on request and
will also be available for inspection at the AGM.

The number of meelings of the Board and Committees held during the year under review, and the attendance of

individual Directors, are shown below:

" Board

Eligible Attended

Attendéd

David Watson

Tim Gillbanks 6 & 2
Simon Marrison 6 6 2
Kate Bolsover 6 6 2
Sarzh-Jane Curtis 6 6 2

Audit

MEC " Nomination

Fligible Attended Eligible Attended Eiigible

2 1 1 1 1
2 1 1 1 1
2 1 1 1 1

2 1 1 1 1

In addition to formal Board and Committee meetings, the Directors also attend a number of informal meetings to
represent the interests of the Company, and tc discuss operational markets and succession planning.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the effective stewardship of the Company’s aflairs. Certain straleqic 1ssues are monitored

by the Board at meetings against a framework which has been agreed with the Manager Additional meetings may

be arranged as required The Board has a format schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decisien, which are
categorised under various headings, induding strategy, managemenl, structure, capital, inancial reporting, internal
controls, gearing, asset allocation, share price discount, contracts, investment palicy, firance, risk, investment restnctions,
performance, corporate governance and Board membership and appointments.

In order to enable them to discharge their responsibilities, all Directors have full and imely access to relevant information
At each meeting, the Board reviews the Company's investrment performance and considers financial analyses and other
reparts of an operational nature. The Board menitors compliance with the Company's abjectives and is responsible for
setting assel ailocation and nvestment and gearing limits within which the Portfolio Manager has discretion to act and
thus supervises the management of the investment portiolio, which 15 contiactually delegated to the Portfolo Manager.
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Corporate Governance Repart continued

The Board has responsibility for the approval of
investments in unguoted investments and any
investments in funds managed or advised by the Portfolio
Manager It has also adopted a procedure for Directors,

in the furtherance of their duties, to take independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In fine with the Companies Acl 2006, the Board has the
power to authonse any potential conflicts of interest that may
arise and impose such imits or conditions as it thinks fit. A
register of potential conflicts is maintained and 1s reviewed at

every Board meeting to ensure alt details are kept up-to-date.

Appropriate authorisation weill be sought prior to the
appointment of any new Director or if any new conflicts anse

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder relations are given high pricrity by the Board,
the AIFM and the Partfolic Manager The prime medium
by which the Company communicates with shareholders
5 through the Interim and Annual Reports which aim to
provide shareholders with a clear understanding of the
Company’s activities and their results. This infermation 1s
suppiemented by the daily calculation of the Net Asset
Value of the Company’s Ordinary shares which is published
an the London Stock Exchange.

This information 1s also available on the Company's
website, www.trproperty com together with a monthly
factsheet and Manager commentary.

It is the intention of the Board that the Annual Report and
Accounts and Notice of the AGM be 1ssued to shareholders
$0 as to provide at least twenty working days’ notice of
the AGM. Sharehalders wishing to lodge questions in
advance of the AGM, or to contact the Board at any other
time, are invited to do so by wnting to the Company
Secretary at the reqistered address given on page 108

General presentations are given to both shareholders and
analysis following the publication of the annual results.
All meetings between the Manager and shareholders are
reported to the Board

SECTION 172 COMPANIES ACT 2006

Section 172 cf the Companies Act 2006 requires directors
to act in good faith and in a way that 1s the maost likely
to premaote the success of the Company. In accordance
with the requirements of the Companies {(Miscellaneous
Reporling) Regulations 2018, below, the Company
explamns now the Directors have discharged their duty
under section 172 during the reporting penod. Fulfiling
this duty naturally supports the Company in achieving its
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investment Objective and helps to ensure that all decisions
are made in a responsible and sustainable way.

Upon appomntment, Directors’ are provided with a detailed
induction outlining therr duties, legally and regulatory, as

a Director of a UK public limied company and continue to
reqularly receve relevant technical updates and training.
Under their letter of appointment, the Directors also have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary,
and when deemed necessary, the Direclors have the
opportunity to seek independent professional advice in the
furtherance of their duties as a director, 3l the Company’s
expense. The Company has a schedule of Matlers Reserved
for the Board which clearly describes the Boards duties
and responsibilities. In addition, there are also the Terms

of References of the Board's Commutlees which outhne

the responsibililies that are delegated from the Board.

The Terms of References are reviewed at least annually to
consider any requlatory and best practice developments

DECISION MAKING

The importance ol stakehclder considerations, in
particular in the context of decision-making, 1s reqularly
brought to the Board’s attention by lhe Company
Secretary and taken nto account at every Board
meaeting, and 3 paper rerminding Birectars of that s
tabled at the start of every Board meeting. The Board
considers the impact that any matenal decision will
have on all relevant stakeholders 1o ensure that it 1s
making a decision thal promotes the long-term success
of the Company, whether this be, for example, in
relation to dividends, new investment opportunities or
the Company’s forward strategy, In addition, the Board,
along with the Manager, hold a meeting focused on
strategy on an annual basis to look ahead 1n the market
and antiapate potential scenarios and how this may
impact the Company’s stakeholders

STAKEHOLDERS

The Board recagnises the needs and importance of

the Company’s stakeholders and ensures that they are
considered dunng all vs discussions and as part of its
decrsion-making. Smce the Company 15 an mvestmerit
trust that 1s externally managed, the Company does
not have any employees (the Directors have a Letter of
Appointment and are not employees of the Company),
nof does 1t have a direct impact on the community

or envirgnment In the conventional sense. The Board
recognises its key stakehelders and explains below
why these stakehalders are considered important to
the Company and the actions taken 1o ensure that therr
Interests are taken intg account



Stakeholder Group and why  Board engagement

they are important
Shareholders

| Shareholder support is The Company has over 3,000 Shareholders, including institutional and retail investors. The

, essential to the existence of Board is committed to maintaining open channels of communication and to engage with

" the Company and delivery Shareholders in @ manner they find most meaningful in order to gain an understanding of
of long term strategy of the their views. These include the channels below:

business. - Annual General Meeting - the Company welcomes and encourages attendance and

participation fram Shareholders at its AGM. Shareholders have the opportunity to meet the

Directors and Manager and to address questions to them directly. The Manager attends the

AGM and provides a presentation on the Company's performance and the future outlook. The

| Company values any feedback and questions it may receive from Shareholders ahead of and
during the AGM and takes action or makes changes, when and as appropriate.

Publications - The annual and half year reports are made available on the website
and sent to shareholders. These publications provide information on the Company and
its portfolio of investments and a better understanding of the Trust’s financial position.
This is supplemented by daily publication of the NAV on the Stock Exchange and

i monthly factsheets on the Company's website. The Company is open to feedback from
shareholders to improve its publications.

Shareholder reetings - The Manager meets with shareholders periodically and often and
feedback is shared with the Board.

1 - Working with the Brokers - The Manager and Brokers work together to maintain dialogue |
with shareholders and prospective investors at scheduled meetings. The Board is provided
with regular updates at meetings and outside meetings if reguired.

Shareholder concerns - in the event that Shareholders wish to raise issues or concerns

with the Board, they are welcome to do so at any time by writing to the Chairman at the
registered office. The Senior independent Director is also available to Shareholders if they
have concerns that contact through the normal channel of the Chairman has failed to resolve
or for which such contact is inappropriate.

The Manager

Holding the Company’s Maintaining a close and constructive working relationship with the Manager is crucial, as
 shares offers investors a the Board and the Manager both aim to continue to achieve consistent, long-term returns in
liquid investment vehicle line with the Company’s investment objective. Important components in the collaboration
through which they can obtain : with the Manager, representative of the Company’s culture include those listed below.
exposure to the Company’s
diversified portfolio. The
Investment Manager's
performance is critical for
the Company to successfully
deliver its investment strateqy - Ensuring that 2ny potential conflicts of interest are avoided or managed effectively.
and meet its objective. ‘

Encouraging open, honest and collaborative discussions at all levels, allowing time and
space for original and innovative thinking.

Ensuring that the impact on the Manager is fully considered and understood before any
business decision is made.

The Board holds detailed discussions with the Manager on all key strategic and operational
topics on an angeing basis. In addition, the Chairman regularly meets with the Manager to
ensure a close dialogue is maintained.
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Stakeholder Group and why  Board engagement

they are important

| External Service Providers, particularly the Company Secretary, the Administrator, the Registrar and the
} Depository and the Broker

A range of advisers enables
the Company to function as

. an investment trust and 2
constituent of the FTSE 250 to
ensure it meets its relevant

The Board maintains reqular contact with its key external providers and receives regular
reporting from them through the Board and committee meetings, as well as outside of
the regular meeting cycle, Their advice, as well as their needs and views are routinely
taken into account. The Management Engagement Committee formally assesses their
performance, fees and continuing appointment at least annually to ensure that the

obligations. - key service providers continue to function at an acceptable level and are appropriately
" remunerated to deliver the expected level of service. The Audit Committee reviews and
evaluates the control environments in place at each service provider as appropriate.
B&nders

Availability of funding and
liquidity are crucial to the
Company’s ability to take
advantage of investment
opportunities as they arise.

The Board needs to demonstrate to lenders that it is a well-managed business, capable of
consistently delivering fong-term returns,

LRegulators

|

- The Company can aply
operate with the approval
of its requlators who have
2 legitimate interest in how
the Company operates in
the market and treats its
shareholders.

The Board reqularly considers how it meets various requlatory and statutory obligations and
follows voluntary and best-practice guidance, including how any governance decisions it
makes can have an impact on its stakeholders, both in the shorter and in the fonger-term.

— -

' Investee Companies

Portfolio companies are
ultimately sharehalders
assets and the Board
recognises the importance

of good stewardship and
communication with investee
companies in meeting the
Company's investment
objective and strategy.

meetings.

The Board s always mindful of the requirement to act in
the best interests of sharehaolders as a whaole and to have
regard to other applicable section 172 factors which torm
part of Board's decision-making process The following
key decisions taken by the Board during the year ended
37 March 2021 are examples of this:

GEARING

Dunng the finanaat year, the Company continued to utilise

its existing revolving annual lean facilities and following

a review of the available oplions each were renewed on
bioadiy similar terms as the renewals feil due throughoul the
year. The Board 1s keen to maintain a wide range of banking
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The Manager communicates regularly with portfolio companies and is an engaged
shareholder (on behalf of the Company).

The Board monitors the Manager’s stewardship arrangements and receives regular feedback
on meetings with the management of portfolio companies and veting at their general

relationships to ensure that # has access to a diverse range
of terms and is not reliant on any ane provider. The facilities
provide flexbilty and complement the longer-term private

placernent fixed term debt that 15 in place

Using revenue reserves to support the dividends paid
to shareholders.

Subject 1o shareholder approval of the proposed tinal
dnadend, the Company paid 3 total dividend of 14.20p for the
financial year, representing an increase of 1.40% compared
to the previous year. The finandiat year was a penod of
uncertainty, when many companies, particularly within the
UK and Europe, either cut, postponed or cancelled their



dividends The Board recogmises the importance of dividends
to shareholders and after careful review of the Company’s
revenue forecasts and reserves together with the investment
outlock with the Manager, the Board decided that,
notwithstanding the exceptional market conditions, it would
draw on the revenue reserve to support the dividend.

PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

Duning the year the Board continued to focus on the
performance of the Manager in achiieving the Company's
investment objective within an appropriate risk framework.
Following the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic in March
2020, the focus widened to consider the potential impact of
COVIR-19 on the Company {including portfcho activity, risks and
opportunities, gearing, revenue forecasts and the gperations
of other third party providers) to ensure that the partfolio had
sufficient resilience together with the Company’s operational
struclure to meet the ungrecedented circumstances.

DIRECTORATE

The Board’s policy on tenure was reviewed during the
year. The stability of the Board during one of the most
challenging penods was considered important particulasly
as appointments had been made to the Board in October
2019 and January 2020. Therefore, no changes were made

to the Board composition during the financial year. However,

the Board is mindful of the importance of having a suitable
succession plan espeaially as David Watson has served on
the Board since 2072 and Simon Marrison since 2077,

CULTURE AND BUSINESS CONDUCT

The Board is in agreement that having a good corporate
culture, particularly in its engagement with the Manager,
shareholders and cther key stakeholders will aid delivery
of its long term strateqy. The Board promotes a culture
of openness, in line with this purpose through ongoing
engagement with its service providers and the Manager.

The Directers agree that establishing and maintaining

a healthy carporate culture within the Board and in its
interaction with the Manager, Shareholders and other
stakeholders will support the delivery of its purpose, values
and strategy. The Board seeks lo promote & culture of
openness, debate and integrity through ongoing dialogue
and engagement with its service providers, principally the
Manager The Board strives 10 ensure that its culture is in
line with the Company’s purpose, values and strategy.

The Company has a number of policies and procedures
In place to assist with maintaining a cullure of good

governance including those relating Lo diversity,

Directors’ conflicts of interest and Directors’ dealings in
the Company’s shares. The Board assesses and monitors
compliance with these policies as well as the general
culture of the Board reqularly through Board meetings and
in pasticular during the annual evaluation process which is
undertaken by each Director (for more information see the
Board evaluation section cn page 51).

The Board seeks to appoint he best possible service
providers and evaluates their service on a regular basis
as described on page 53. The Board considers the culture
of the Manager and other service providers, incfuding
their policies, practices and behaviour, through reqular
repcrting from these stakehalders and in particular during
the annual review of the performance and continuing
appointment of all service providers.

EMPLOYEE, SOCIAL IMPACT AND WIDER
COMMUNITY

The Board recognises the requirement under the Companies
Act 2006 to detail information about hurman rights,
employees and community issues, including information
about any policies it has in relation to these matters and
the effectiveness of these pelicies. These requirements,
practically, are not applicable to the Ccmpany as 1t has no
employees, all the Directors are non-executive and it has
outsourced all operational functions to third-party service
providers. Therefore, the Company has not reported further
in respect of these provisions.

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITY

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover 1s in
place in respect of the Directors The Company’s Articles
of Association provide, subject to the provisions of UK
legislation, an indemnity for Directors in respect of costs
which they may incur relating to the defence of any
praceedings brought against them arising cut of therr
positions as Directors, in which they are acquitted or
judgement is given in their favour by the court.

To the extent permitted by law and by the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Company has entered into
deeds of indemnity for the benelit of each Director of
the Company in respect of liabilities which may attach to
them in their capacity as Directors of the Company. These
provistons, which are qualifying third party indemnity
provisions as defined by section 234 of the Companies
Act 2006, were introduced in January 2007 and currently
remain in force.
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Corporate Governance Report continued

DIRECTORS' STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION 7O AUDITORS

The Directors who were members of the Board at the time
of approving the Girectors’ report are listed on pages 38
and 39. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and of
the Company’s auditors, each of these Directors confirms
that:

fo the best of each Director's knowledge and belief,
there is no informaticn (that 1s, information needed by
the Company's auditors in connection with preparing
their report) of which the Company's auditors are
unaware; and

each Director has taken all the steps a Director might
reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of
relevant audit information and to estabiish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This information 1s given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006

By order of the Board

David Watson
Chairman

3 June 2021
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Report of the Nomination Committee

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Chairman: tr Watson

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

Review the Board and its Committees and make
recommendations in relation to structure, size and
compaosition, the balance of knowledge, experience
and skill ranges;

Consider succession planning and tenure policy dand
oversee the development of a diverse pipeline;

Consider the re-election of Directors; and
+ Review the outcome of the board evaluation pracess.

The Nomination Committee meets at least on an annuzl
basis, and more frequently as and when required and last
met in March 2021,

ACTIVITY DURING THE YEAR

The Committee discussed succession planning of the
Board, the tenure and diversity policies.

The Committee annually reviews the size and structure

of the Board and will continue to review succession
planning and further recruitment and lake into account the
recommendations of external Board evaluaticns.

BOARD EVALUATION

Following the engagement of Tim Stephenson of
Stephenson & Co, to facilitate an independent evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Baard, its committees and
the performance of each director for the year ended

31 March 2020. The annual evalualion for the year ended
31 March 2021 was carmied out by the Company. This
took the form of questionnaires followed by discussions
to identify the effectiveness of the Boards activilies,
including 1ts Committees,

The Chairman also reviewed with each Director their
individual perfermance, contribution and commitment.
The appraisal of the Chairman followed the same format
and was led by Simon Marrison. The results of the
evaluation process were presented to and considered by
the Board. There were na significant actions ansing from
the evaluation process and it was agreed that the current
composition of the Board and 1its Committees reflected a
suitable mix of skills and experience, and that the Board
as a whole, the individua! Directers and its Commuttees
were functioning effectively.

After careful consideration, particularly of the Board's Policy
Governing Board members’ Tenure and Reappointment, all
of the directors, will be offerning themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM. It 1s considered that each of them
merit re-election by shareholders. Further information on

each directors’ skills and their contribution to the Board are
outlined in the directors’ bicgraphies on pages 38 and 35,

In accordance with the provisions of the Code, it is the
mtention of the Board u enyaye on external facilitator o
assist with the performance evaluation every three years
and the next external evaluation will be carried out for
the year ended 31 March 2023 The Board will continue to
complete an internal board evaluation annually within the
intervening years.

BOARD’S POLICY ON TENURE

In line with the update of the Code in 2018, the AIC has
updated 1ts Code of Cerporate Governance in 2019. The AIC
recommended, under Provision 24, a different approach to
tenure 1n relation to investment companies, cansidenng
how they differ to chairs of operating companies, where
the Board does not have a chief executive. The Board took
into consideration the approach and introduced the ‘Policy
Governing Board Members’ Tenure and Reappointment’
This palicy cutlines the Company’s approach to tenure and
reappointment of non-executive directors. 1t tughlights the
Board's belief that the value brought through continuity
and experience of Directars with longer pericds of service
is not oniy desirable, but essential in an investment
company. The Beard did not feel that it would be
appropriate to set @ specific tenure limit for individual
Dwectors or the Chairman of the Board or its committees.
Instead, the Board will seek to recrunt @ new Director on
average every three years so as regularly to bring the
challenge of fresh thinking into the Board's discussions,
ensuring that on each occasion that the Board enters into
new investment commitments, at least half the Board
members have direct personal expenence of negotiating
previgus commitments with the Manager.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

when a new Director is appainted, he/she is offered
training to suit their needs. Directors are also provided
with key information en the Company’s activities on

a regular basis, including regulatory and statutory
requirements and internaf controls. Changes affecting
Directors” responsibilities are advised to the Board as they
arise. Directors ensure that they are updated on requlatory,
statutory and industry matters.
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LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

No Director has a contract of employment with the
Company. Directors’ tetms and conditions far 2ppointment
are sot aut i letters of appaintment which are available
for inspection al the tegistaied office of the Compafy ang
will e on display et the AGM

David Watson
Charrman of the Nomination Committee

3 June 2021




Report of the Management Engagement Committee

MANAGEMENT ENGAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Chanman: M1 Watson

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

monitar 2nd review the performance of the AlFR and
Pottfolio paznager;

Roview the teams of the fnvestiment tanage
Agreement;

annually review the contract of terms and agreemants
of each external third party service provider; end

Review, on an annudl basis, the iemuneration of the
Directors.

tn additran to the Investment Mancgement role, the Board
has delegated to external third parties the depositary
and custodial services (which include the safeguerding of
assetsy, the dey to dey accounking, compeny secietaral
soryices, admimistretion and registration services. Each

of these contracts was entered into after full and propes
consideration ot the quality of the services oftered,
ncluding the cantrol systems in operation insofar as they
relate to the affairs of the Compeny The Menagement
Engagement Committee (the "MECT) determines and
cppraves Duectors” tees following proper consideration,
heving regard to the level of fees payeble te non-
executive Dnectars in the industry generally, the rote
that indvaiduel directors fulhlin respect of Board 2nd
Commuttee responsibiliies and the time cormnmitted ©
the Company's affairs. For further details plecse see the
Dnectors” Remuneration Repait an pages 55 to 5/,

The MEC meets at least on an annual bass, towards the
cnd of the finencial year end last met in March 2021,

ACTIVITY DURING THE YEAR

AL the rabC meeting 10 Merch 2021, the Comimittee
reviewed the overall pertormence of the AIFM

and Portfolio Menager and considered botl the
appropriateness of the rianager’s eppomntment 2nd the
contrzctual arrengements (ncluding the steucture cndd
level of remuneration) wath the planager.

In addition o the roviews by the BEC, the Board reviewed
and considered pedormence reports fram the Portfolio
pranager ot eech Board meeting. The Boerd also received
reqular reports fram the Administrator and Company
Segietary,

The Board believe that the manager’s frack record and
performance remams outstending As a result, the MEC
confirmed that the AIFt and Portfolio Maneger should

be retained for the hnanual year ending 31 March 2021
beiny m the best iaterests for all shareholders. A summary
of the sigificent teims of the Investment Manegement
Agrecment and the third party service providers who
suppart the Trust are set out below.

puring the year the MEC also reviewed the performence
of all then third party service providers induding BNP
Panbas. Link Company Matters, Computershare, hoth the
Company's brokers and PwC (25 1ax adwsors). The Partiolio
Manager provides reqular updates on the performence of
all third party prowiders dunng the year end attended this
part of the MEC keeting. The FAEC confirmed that they
were setistied with the level of services delivered by each
third paity provider

JINYNYIACD

MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS AND FEES

Qn 11 July 2014, the Board appointed BMO investment
Busmess Limited as the Alternative Investment Fund
Manager (in accordance with the Alternative Investment
Fund ranagers Directive} with portfolio management
delegated to the investment fanager, Thames River
Cepital LLP

The significant terms of the Investment Management
Agreement with the Maneger are zs follows:

0n 12 April 2021 800 announced thet it hed reeched
an egreement 1o sell its asset management business
Eimope, the Maddle tast and Afnica, which will, subject
to campletion, become part of Columbia Threadneedle
Investiments, the global assel management business
of Amenpnse Finandial, Inc. Details have not yet becn
finalised and published but both compenies heve
conhrmed the importance of mamtainng the stability
and continnty of the tearns which jpresently suppert oar
company The transection s expected lo close near the
end af the calendar yeer.

NOTICE PERIOD

Tha Investment Menagement Agreement ("IAA") provides
for termimetion of the agreement by either party without
compensetion an the provision of not less than 12 months’
wtten notice.
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MANAGEMENT FEES

The fee for the period under review was a fixed fee of
£3,745,000 plus an ad valorem fee of 0.20% pa based on
the net asset value (determined in accordance with the
AIC method of valualion) on the last day of March, lune,
September and December, payable quarterly in advance.

The fee arrangements have been reviewed by the Board
for the year to 31 March 2022 and the fixed element of the
tee and the ad valorem rate will remain unchanged.

The Board continues to consider that the fee structure
aligns the interests of the shareholder and the Manager as
well as being highly competitive.

The fee arrangements will continue to be reviewed on an
annual basis.

PERFORMANCE FEES

In addiyon to the management fees, the Board has agreed
to pay the Manager performance related fees in respect of
an accounting peried if certain performance objectives are
achieved

A performance fee is payable if the total return of adjusted
net assets (alter deduction of all Base Management
Fees and other expenses), as defined in the IMA, at

31 March each year outperforms the total return of the
Company's benchmark plus 1% (the “hurdle rate”); this
outperformance (expressed as a percentage) 15 known
as the "percentage outperformance”. Any fee payable
will be the amount equivalent to the adjusted net assels
at 31 March each year multipiied by the percentage
outperformance, then multiplied by 15%. The maximum
performance fee payable for a period is capped at 1.5%
of the adjusted net assets. However, if the adjusted

net assets at the end of any period are less than at the
beginning of the period, the maximum performance fee
payable will be imited to 1% of the adjusted net assets.

If the total return af shareholders” funds for any
performance pericd is less than the benchmark for the
relevant performance period, such underperfermance
(expressed as a percentage) will be carned forward to
future performance perniods.

If any fee exceeds the cap, such excess performance
{expressed as a percentage) will be carried forward and
apphed to offset any percentage underperformance

in future perfermance periods. In the event that the
benchmark is exceeded but the hurdle 15 not, that
outperformance of the benchmark can be used to offset
past or future underpetformance. These amounts ¢an
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be used for offset purpases only and therefore cannot
have the effect of creating a fee 1n a year where a fee
would nol otherwise be payable or increasing the fee
in that year. At 31 March 2021 there is a carry forward of
outperfarmance of 1.8% {2020: 1.8%).

No fee will be payable unless the adjusted net assets
outperform the hurdle rate, after taking into account

any accumulated percentage underperformance

brought forward at the beginning of the finantial year.
Performance fees earned in the year ended 31 March
2021 were £9,659,000 {2020: £2 683,000} Total fees

paid to the Manager in any one year (Management and
Performance Fees) may not exceed 4.99% of Group Equity
Shareholders’ Funds Total fees payable for the year to 31
March 2021 amount to 1.2% (2020: 0.8%) of Group Equity
Shareholders’ Funds.

DEPOSITARY ARRANGEMENTS AND FEES

BNP Paribas was appointed as Depositary on 14 July 2014
in accordance with the AIFMD. The Depasitary’s
responsibilities include: cash monitoring; seqgregation and
safe keeping of the Company’s financial inslruments; and
monitering the Company's compliance with investment
and leverage requirements. The Depositary receives

for its services a fee of 2.0 basis points per annum an
the first £150 million of the Company’s assets, 1.4 basis
points per annum on assets above £150 million and
below £500 millior and 075 basis poials on assels above
£500 million.

REVIEW OF THIRD PARTY PROVIDERS' FEES

Custody and Administration Services are provided by

BNP Paribas and Company Secretarial Services by Link
Company Matlters. The fees for these sefvices are charged
directly to the Company and are contained within

other administrative expenses disclosed in notes to the
accounts.

David Watson
Chawrman of the Management Engagement Commitiee

3 June 2021



Directors’ Remuneration Report

INTRODUCTION

The Beard has prepared this report and the Directors’
Remuneration Palicy, in accordance with the requirements
of Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium Sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Reguiations 2013, An
ordinary resolution for the approval of this report will be
put to the members at the forthcorming Annual General
mMeeting

The law requires the Company's Auditors, KPMG LLP

to audil certain of the disclosures provided. Where
disclosures have been audited, they are indicated as such.
The Auditor’s opinion is included in the ‘Independent
Auditor's Report”

ANNUAL STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF
THE COMMITTEE

The MEC met in March 2021 and considered the resulls
and feedback from the board evaluation alongside

other factors. The MEC also considered the frequency of
femuneration increases for the Trust, feedback from the
market and investors on the level of frequency and the
current impact of the outbreak of coronavirys (COVID-19).

Foilowing the MEC meeting in March 2021, it was agreed
that the current level of remuneration for the Board of the
Trust remained appropriale. It was also agreed that the
Non-executive Director’s fee would remain at £35,000 per
annum with effect from 1 Apnl 2021, 1t was further agreed
that the Directors halding the role of the Audit Committee
Chairman and Senior Independent Director would continue
to receive an additional £5,000 to reftect the increase in
their responsibilities. Moreover, it was agreed that the
Chairman’s remuneration would remain at £70,000.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERAYION POLICY

The Company’s policy is that the fees payable to the
Directors should reflect the time spent by the Board on
the Company’s affairs and the responsibilities borne by the
Directors and should be sufficient to enable candidates of
high calibre to be recruited. The pelicy is for the Chairman
of the Board, the chairman of the Audit Committee and
the Seniar Independent Director to be paid higher fees

than the other Directors in recognition of their maore
onerous roles. This policy was approved by the members
at the 2020 AGM, and the Directors’ intention is thal this
will continue for the year ending 31 March 2023

The Directors are remunerated in the form of fees,
payable monthly in arrears, to the Girector personally or
to a third party specified by that Director. There are no
long-term incentive schemes, share apticn schemes or
pension arrangements and the fees are not specifically
related to the Cirectors’ performance, either individually or
collectively.

The Board consists entirely of Non-executive Directors,
who are appointed with the expectation that they will
serve for 3 penod of three years. Directors’ appointments
are reviewed formally every three years thereafter by the
Board as a whole. None of the Directors have a contract
of service and a Director may resign by notice in writing
to the Board at any ime; there are no notice periods. The
terms of their appointment are detailed in a letter to them
when they join the Board. As the Directars do not have
service contracts, the Company does not have a palicy on
termination payments.

There 15 no notice period and no payments for loss of
office were made during the pericd The Company’s
Articles of Association currently limit the total aggregate
fees payable to the Board to £300,000 per annum.

Shareholders’ views in respect of Directors’ remuneration
are communicated at the Company’s AGM and are taken
into account in formulating the Directors remuneration
policy. At the last AGM, over 99.6% of shareholders voted
for the resclution approving the Directors’ Remuneration
Report (3.4% against). At the 2020 AGM, over 99% voted
for the resalution approving the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy (0.4% against), showing significant shareholder
support.

The components of the remuneration package for
Non-executive Directars, which are comprised in the
Directors’ remuneration policy of the Company are set out
below, with a description and approach to determination.
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Remuneration Type

| Fined Fees Additional Fees Expenses Fees other
| The aggregate limit for the  Additional fees may be paid ' The Directars are entitled ‘ Board members are not
Fees for the Board as a whole ' to any Director who fulfils the  to be paid all reasonable eligible for bonuses, pension f

is £300,000 per annum, in role of the Chairman, who expenses properly incurred benefits, share cptions,
accordance to the Articles of | chairs any committee of the | by them attending meetings  long-term icentive schemed
{ Associatian, which is divided  Board or who is 2ppointed with shareholders or other or other non-cash benefits or

between the Directors as _as the Senior Independent Directors or otherwise | taxable expenses.

- they may deem appropriate.  Director. in connection with the ‘
Annual fees are set to | These fees will be set | discharge of their duties as ‘

| reflect the experience of i at a competitive level to | Directors. |
each board member and reflect experience and time !

_time commitment required  commitment, !
by Board members to carry

, out their duties and is

| determined with reference to |
the appointment of Directors |
of similar investment '

ompanies. . L . O -

ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT

For the vear ended 31 March 2027, Directors’ fees were paid at the annual rates of Chairman. £76,000 (2020: £70,000)
and all other directors. £35,000 (2020: £35,000). An additional £5,000 is paid per annum for each of the roles of Audit
Committee Chairman and Senior Independent Director. The actual amounts paid to Lhe Directors during the financial year
under review are as shown below

AMOUNT OF EACH DIRECTOR'S EMOLUMENTS {AUDITED)

The fees payable n respect of each of the Directors who served during the financial year were as follows:

£

Oavid Watson” 60,461 40,000
Siman Marrisont® 38,410 35,000
Tim Gillbanks 40,000 40,000
Kate Bolsover 35,000 17,500
Sarah-Jane Curtis 35,000 6,372
Hugh-Seaborn® 23,333 70,000
toal T 232,204 7 o 208?872 '

All fees are at 3 fixed rate and there s no variable remuneration Fees are pro-rated where a change takes place during
a financial year There were no payments to third parties included in the fees referred to in the table above There are no
further tees to disclose as the Company has no emplayees, chief executive or executive directors.

i gppointed as Chanman on 28 july 2020
“  appointed as Senior Independent Director or. 28 july 2020
M retined as Chanman on 28 July 2020
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Directors’ Remuneration Repoit continued

COMPANY PERFORMANCE

he graph below compares, for the len years ended

31 March 2021, the percentage change over each period

In the share price total relurn to shareholders compared

to the share price total return of benchmark, which the
Board considers to be the maost appropnate benchmark

for investment performance measurement purposes. An
explanation of the performance of the Company 1s given in
the Chairman’s Statement and Manager’s Report.

Performance Graph - Share Price Total Return for
Ordinary Share Class

et Mt MorTE MacH Marl Sl a7 MeeR MarS el MaeTt
Bl TR Pioperty Share Price Total Return ] Benchrmark Total Return

share Price Total Return assurming invesiment of £1,000 on 31 March 2011 and
reinvestmeant of all dividends {excluding dealing expenses) (Source. Thames
River Capital)

Benchmark Total Return assurming notional mvestment into the index of £1,000 on
31 March 2011 (Source Thames River Capital)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (AUDITED)

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the
Company, at the beginning and at the end of the year, or
date of appointment, il later, were as follows:

Ordinary shares of 25 pence

David watson 36,083 35,692
Simon Marrison 43,367 42,326
Tim Gillbanks - -
Kate Bolsover 2,360 2,360

Sarah-Jane Curtis - -

Smnce 31 March 2021 to the date of this report, there have
been no subsequent changes to the Directors” interests in
the shares of the Company.

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay

on 2020
£'000 £000

Change
Dividends paid 44,429 43,794 1.4%
Directors’ fees 2 209 11.0%

Five year change comparison
Over the last five years, Directors’ pay has increased as set
out in the table below:

01 2016
£'000 £'000 Change

FINVNUEACD

Chairman 70,000 70,000 0%
Audit Committee

Chairman 40,600 35,000 14.3%
Senior Independent

Director 40,000 35,000 14.3%
Director 35,000 30,000 16.7%

For and on behalf of the Board

David Watson
sty oal ke

Chgentun gl ife fanag s
3 June 2021
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Report of the Audit Committee

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman: Mr Gillbanks

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

Review the internal financial and non-financial controls;

Review reports from key third party service providers,

Consider and recommend to the Board for approval the

contents of the draft Intenm and Annual Reports;

Review accounting policies and significant financial
reporting judgements;

thonitor, together with the Manager, the Company’s
compliance with financial reperting and regulatory
requirements;

The review and subsequent proposat to the Board of
the interim and final dividends; and

Considening the impact of providing non-audit services
on the external Auditor’s independence and objectivily.

Representatives of the Manager’s internal audit and
compliance departments may attend these committee
meetings at the Committee Chawman's request

Representalives of the Company's Auditor attend the
Committee meetings at which the draft Intenim and
Annual Report and Accounts are reviewed, and are given
the opportunity to speak to the Commuttee rembers
without the presence of the representatives of the
Manager,

The Board recognises the requirement for the Audit
Commitlee as a whole 10 have competence relevant

to the sector and at least ane member with recent and
relevant financial expenience. The Chairman and Mr
Watson are Chartered Accountants with extensive and
fecent experience in the Finandial Services Industry. The
other members of the Committee have a combination of
property, finandial, investment and business experience
through senior positions held thraughout their careers.

ACTIVITY DURING THE YEAR
Dunng the year the Committee met twice with all
members at each meeting and considered the following:

Consideration of the Risk Map, any changes to the
likellhood or impact of risks and consequential
changes required to Board Monitoring and rmitigation
procedures Consideration of any new of emerging
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rsks and inclusion in the Risk tMap if appropriate. This
has included consideration of the ongoing COViD-19
pandemic and impact across a range of risk categories;

The Graup’s Interna! Lonlrols and consideration of the
Repaorts thereon;

The 1SAE/AAF and SSAE16 reports or their equivalent
from BMO and BNP Paribas;

whether the Company should have its own inlernal
audit function;

The External Auditor's Planning Memorandum setting
oul the scope of the annual audit and proposed key
areas of focus;

The reports from the Auditors concerning thesr audit
of the Financial Statements of the Company and
Consideralion of Significant issues in relation 1o the
Financial Statements;

The appropriateness of, and any changes to, the
accounting policies of the Company, including the
reasonabieness of any judgements required by such
policies;

The Viability Staterment and consideration of the
preparation of the Financial Statements on a Going
Concern Basis taking account of forward loaking income
forecasts, the liquidity of the investment portfolio and
debt profile;

The financial and other disclosures in the Financial
Slatements;

The infarmation presented n the Interim and Annual
Reports to assess whether, taken as a whole, the
Reparts are fai, balanced and understandable and the
information presented will enable the shareholders to
assess the Company’s position, performance, business
model and slrategy;

The perfarmance of the external auditars, to approve
their audit fees and consider the assessment of
independence;

The review and subsequent propasal to the Board of
the interim and final dividends; and

The reviewal of the Commuttee’s Terms of Reference,
ensuring they remain appropnate and compliant with
the 2018 UK Corparate Governance (ode.



Repaort of the Audit Committee continued

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND MANAGEMENT OF
RISK

The Board has overall respensibility for the Group's system
of Internal Controls and for reviewing their effectiveness.
Key risks identified by the Auditors are considered by the
Audit Committee to ensure that robust internal controls
and monitoring procedures in respect of these are in place
on an ongaing basis. Further details can be found on

page 28 o 32

The Audit Committee received and considered reparts on
Internal Controls from the Key service providers. No areas
of concern were highlighted.

The Company's Risk Map was considered to identify any
new risks and whether any adjustments were required to
existing risks, and the conligls and mitigation measures
in place in respect of these risks. The impact of COVID-19,
the response of financial markets, the ongoing impact

an economies around the warld and operational changes
made by our service providers in response to government
guidelines were considered and the risk map adjusted
accordingly.

Based on the processes and controls in place wittun the
BMO Group and other significant service providers, the
Board has concurred that there is no current need for the
Company tc have a dedicated nternal audit functon.

SIGNIFICANT tSSUES IN RELATION 70 THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Commuttee has considered this report and financial
statements and the viability Statement on pages 33

and 34. The Committee considered the Auditor’s
assessment of risk of material misstatement and reviewed
the internal controls in place in respect of the key areas
identified and the process by which the Board monitors
each of the procedures tc give the Committee comfort

en these risks on an ongoing basis. These risks are also
highlighted in the Cempany’s Risk Map.

Carrying amount of listed investments (Group
and Parent Company) - The Group’s investments are
priced for the daily NAY by BNP Paribas. The quoted
assets are priced by the Administrator’s Glabal Pricing
Platform which uses independent external pricing
sources The control protess surrounding this 1s sel
out in the BNP Paibas AAF 01/06 (nternal Controls
Report and testing by the reporting accountant for the
period reported to 31 December 2020 did not reveal
any significant exceptions The quarterly control report
to the Board from BNP Paribas covering the perod up

to 31 March 2021 had no significant issues to report.
In additien the Manager estimates the NAY using
an alternative pricing source on 3 daily basis as an
independent check.

The Auditors agreed 100% of the listed investments
of the portfolic to externally quoted prices and
independently received third party canfirmations from
investment custodians and found the carrying value of
fisted investments to be acceptable

Valuation of Direct Property Investments (Group
and Parent Company) - The physical property
portfolio is valued every six months by professional
independent valuers.

Knight Frank LLP value the portfolio on the basis of
Fair Value in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards VPS4 {1.5) Fair Value and VPGA
1 Valuations for Inclusion in Financial Statements,
which apply the definition of Fair Value adopted by
the International Financial Reporting Standards. IFRS 13
defines Fair Value as:

“The ammount for which an asse! could be exchanged a
liability settfed, or an equity instrument granted could
be exchanged, between knowledgeable, willing parties
in an arm’s fength transaction”

In undertaking their valuation of each property, Knight
Frank rmake their assessment on the basis of a collation
and analysis of appropriate comparable investments,
rental and sale transactions, together with evidence

of dernand within the vicinity of each property. This
information is then applied to the properties, laking
into account size, location, terms, covenant and other
material factors.

The board has reviewed reports from the Manager and
the extemal valuer and determined ihe valuation fo be
reasonable.

The Auditors have set out their detailed testing and
procedures in respect of the Direct property vaiuation
and concluded that they found the Companys valuation
of nvestment properties o be acceptable.

There has been nothing brougat to the Commiltee’s
attention in respect of the financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021, which was material or significant or
that the Committee lelt should be brought to shareholders’
attentien.
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AUDITOR ASSESSMENT AND INDEPENDENCE

The {ompany's external auditor, KPMG LLP was
appointed as the Company’s auditors at the 2016 AGM.
The Committee expects (0 repeal a tender process no
later than 2026 1n respect of the audit for the fallowing
31 March year end, In line with the latest Corporate
Governance provisicns.

During the year, KPMG presented their Audit Plan for

the year end at the interim Committee meeting and the
Committee ¢onsidered the audit process and fee proposal.
The Committee also reviewed KPMG'S independence
policies and procedures including quality assurance
procedures It was considered that these policies are fit
for purpose and the Directors are sabisfied that KPMG are
independent.

Total fees payable to the Audilor in respect of the audil for
the year 1o 31 March 20271 were: £80,000 (2020: £80,000),
which were approved by the Audit Committee.

The Committee has approved and implemented a policy
on the engagement of the Auditor to supply non-audit
services, taking info account the recommendations of
the Accounting Practices Board with a view to ensuring
that the external Auditor does not provide non-audit
services that have the potential to impair of appear to
impair the independence of their audit role. In addition,
the Committee reviewed the actions put in pface by the
Auditor to ensure there was a ciear separaticn between
audit and advisory services The Committee does not
believe there to be any impediment to the Auditor’s
objectivity and independence.

The fees for non-audit services for the year lo 31 March
2021 were nil (2020: mil).

Full details of the Auditor's fees are provided in note 6 to
the accounts on page 79

The Board noted that Mr Keily, the current partner, was
appointed for the 2017 year-end audit and will continue

as partner only until the conclusion of the 2021 yeai-end
audit. M Merchant will replace Mr Kelly as audit partner
for the 2022 year-end audit Mr Merchant has cansiderable
experience n the Fingncial Services sector and the audit of
Investment Trust Companies
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Following each audit, the Committee reviews the audit
process and considers 1ts elfectiveness and the quality
of the services provided to the Company Within this
process, the Commitiee takes into consideration therr
own assessment, the self-evaluation of the auditor and
the Audit Quality Review Report produted by the FRC in
order to manitor the progress of the Auditor’s performance
comparable with its peer and the targets set by the FRC.
The review following the completion of the 2020 Audit
concluded that the Commitlee was satisfied with the
Auditor’s effectiveness and petformance

The Committee felt that KPMG had run an effective

and efficient audit process with apprapnate challenge.
Subsequently, a resolution to re-appoint KPMG LLP as
the Campany’s Auditor will be put to shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM.

Tim Gillbanks
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the

Group financial statements

The directors are responsitle for preparing the Annual
Report, the Strateqgic Report, the Directars Report and the
financial slatements in accerdance with applcable law and
requlations.

Company law requires the directors tc prepare Group
and Parent Company financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law they are required to
prepare the Group financial stalements in accordance
with international accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Comparies Act 2006 and
applicable law and have elected to prepare the Parent
Cempany financial statements on the same basis. In
additien the Group financial statements are required under
the UK Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules (o
be prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC)
No 1606/2002 as it apphes in the Eurgpean Union.

Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfiad that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and Parent Company and of the Group’s profit or
loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and
Parent Company financial statements, the directors are
required 1o:

selecl suitable accounting pehiaies and then apply them
consistently,;

make judgements and estimates thal are reasonable,
relevant and reliable;

state whether they have been prepared in accordance
with internaticnal accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and,
as reqards the group financial statements, International
Financial Reporting Standards adopted pursuant to
Regulation {EC} No 1606/2002 as it applies in the
European Union;

assess the Group and Parenl Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related Lo going concern; and

use the going concern basis of accounting unless they
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Parent Cormpany’s transactions and disclose with
reasonabzle accuracy at any time the financial position

of the Parent Cornpany and enable them to ensure that

is financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are responsible for such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
ol financial slatements that are free from matenal
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have
generai responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them tc safeguard the assets of
the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irreqularties.

Under applicable law and requlations, the directors are
aiso responsibie for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’
Report, Directors’ Remuneration Reporl and Corporate
Governance Staternent that complies with that law and
those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website. Legislation m the
UK governing the preparation and disseminatten of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
IN RESPECT CF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

Each of the directors confirms that to the best of their
knowledge:

the financial statements, prepared in accordance with
the apphcable set of accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the Group and Parent Company and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as
a whote; and

the strategic report includes 3 fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the issuer and the undertakings included

in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that
they face.

The Cirectors consider the annual report and accounts,
laken as a whole, is fair. balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the group’s pasiticn and performance, business
model and strategy.

By order of the Board

David Watson

Clanmian
3 June 2021
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report

to the members of TR Property Investment Trust pic

1. OUR OPINION IS UNMODIFED

We have audited the linancial statements of TR Property
investrent Trust Pic (“the Company”) for the year ended
31 March 2021 which comprise the Group Statement of
Comprehensive Income, Group and Company Statements
of Changes in Equity, Group and Company Balance Sheels,
Group and Company Cash Flow Statements and the relaled
notes, 1Including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion:

— The financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 March 2021
and of the Group’s return for the year then ended;

— The Group financial statements have been property
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting slandards;

— The Parent Company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance wilh Uk-adopted
international accounting standards and as apphed in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
2006; and

— The finanaial staterments have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Cempanies
ACt 2006 and, as regards the Group financial

slatements, Article 4 ol the 1AS Requlation to the extent

applicable

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK} ("15As (UK)") and applicable
law. Our responsibilities are described below We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient
and appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion 15
consistent with our report to the audil commiltee,

Materiality: £14.9m (2020:£12.5m)

Financial stalements 1% (2020: 1%) of Total Assets

as a whole

Key audit matters vs 2020

Recurring risks Valuation of direct
property investments O
Carrying amount of listed
investments L 14

We were first appeinted as auditor by the Directors on

2 Novemnber 2016. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement is for the 5 financial years ended 31 March
2021 we have fulfilled our ethicaj responsibilities

under, and we remain independent of the Company in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the
FRC Ethical Standard as applied 1o listed public interest
entities. No non-audit services prohibited by that standard
were provided.

2. KEY AUDIT MATTERS: INCLUDING QUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements and include the most significant assessed nsks of matenal misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) dentified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. We summanse below the key audit matters
(unchanged from 2020}, 1n decreasing order of audit sigruficance, in arnving at our audit epimon abave, togelher with
our key audit procedures to address those matters and, as required for public interest entities, our results from thase
procedures. These matters were addressed, and our results are based on pracedures undertaken, in the context of, and
solely for the purpose of, aur audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinien theregn, and
consequently are iIncidental to that opimon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters
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Independent auditor’s report continued

The risk Our response

Valuation of direct Subjective valuation: we performed the detailed tests below rather than

property investments - seeking to rely on controls, because the nature
5.6% (2020. 7.5%) of the Groups  of the balance is such that we would expect to

(Group and Parent total assets {by value) are heldin  gptain audit evidence primarily through the detailed

Company) investment properties. procedures described:

(£83.1 mullion; The fair value of each property Our procedures included-

2020: £94.5 million) requires significant estimation,

— Assessing valuer’s credentials: Using cur own
property valuation specialist, we evaluated the
competence, experience and independence of the
external valuer;

in particular with regard to
the key estimated rental
value and yield assumptions.
The key assumptions will be

Refer to pages 58 to 60
(Audit Committee Report),
page 74 and 75 (accounting
nolicy), and note 10 on

pages 82 to 85 (fnancial impac_ted by & number of factors Tests of Detail: We compared the information
disclosures). mdudmgrquahty and condition provided by the Group to its themal property
of the building and tenant valuer for a sample of properties, such as rental
covenant strengih. income and tenancy data to supporting documents
including lease agreements;
The eflect of these matters
is that, as part of our risk — Methodology choice: e held discussions with
assessment, we determined the Group’s external property valuer to determine
that the valuation of investment the valuation methodology used. We included our
properties has a high degree of own property valuation specialist to assist us In

critically assessing the results of the valuer’s report
by checking that the valualions were in accordance
with the RICS Valuation Professional Standards

‘the Red Book' and IFRS and that the methodology
adopted was apprapriate by reference 1o
acceptable valuation practice,

estimation uncerfanty, with a
potential range of reasonable
outcornes greater than our
materiality for the finrancia!l
statemnents as a whote. The
financial statements (note 10)
disclose the sensitivity estimated  — Benchmarking assumptions: With the
by the Group. assistance of our own property valuation spedialist,
we Neld discussions with the Group’s external
property valuer to understand movements in
property values. For a sample of properties, we
assessed the key assumptions used by the valuer
upon which the valuations are based, including
those relating lo estimated rental value and yield,
by making a comparison to our own understanding
of the market and to industry benchmarks;

— Assessing transparency: We also considered the
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures about the degree
of estimation and sensitivity to key assumption made
when valuing the direct property investiments.

Our resuits:

— We found the valuation of mvestment properties to
be acceptable (2020, acceplable).
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The risk

Carrying amount of listed Low risk, high value:
investments

(Group and Parent)
88.2% {2020: 84.4%; of the

{£1,3174 miikon;
2020 £1,060.1 mitlion}

Refer to pages 58 o 60
{Audit Committee Report),
nage 75 {accounting policy)
and note 10 on pages 82

to 85 (finanaial disclosures).

to be subject to a significant
level of judgement because
they comprise liquid, quoted

investments. However, due 10
their materiality 1n the context
of the financial stalements as a
whole, they are considered to
be one of the areas which had
the greatest effect an our overall

audit strategy and allccation
of resources in planning and
completing our audit

3. OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY AND AN
OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF DUR AUDIT

tatenality for the financial statements as a whole was
set at £149m (2020 £12.5m), determined with reference
to a benchmark of tota! assets, of which 1t represents
1.0% (2020: 1.0%).

Materiality for the Parent Comgpany financial statements as
a whole was at £14.1m (2020. 12 0m) determined as 0.5%
of the tolal assets of the parent company (2020: 0.9%}.

In hne with our audit methadology. our procedures on

individual account batances and disclosures were performed

to 3 lower threshold, performance mateniality, 50 as to reduce

to an acceptable level the fisk that individually immatenal
misstaternents in individual accaunt balances add up 1o a matenal
amount acress the finandial statements as & whole. Performance
matenality was set at 75% (2019. 75%) of materality for the
financial staterments as a whole, which equates to £11m (2020
£9.4my) for the Group and £10 5m (2020- £9.0m for the Parent
Company We applied this percentage in our determination of
perfarmance matenality because we did not identify any factors
indicating an elevated level of risk.

in additton, we applied materiahty of £2.0m (2020.
£3.2m) and performance materiality of £1.5m (2020

£2 4m) to investment income, other operaling income,
gross rental income, service chaige income and net
returns on contract for differences for which we believe
misstatements of lesser amounts than materiality for
the financial statements as a whole could reasonably
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The Group’s portfolio of quoted
level 1investrments makes up

Group’s lotal assets (by value)
and s one of the key drivers of
results. We do not consider these
investments ta be at a high nisk
of significant misslatement, or

Our response

we performed the detailed tests below rather than
seeking to rely on controls, because the nature of

the balance is such that detailed testing is delermined
10 be the most effective manner of obtaining

audit ewidence

Our procedures included:

— Test of detail: Agreeing the valuation of 100%0f
level 7 listed investments in the portfolio to
externally quoted prices; and

— Enquiry of custodians: Agreeing 100% of level
1listed investment holdings in the portfolio to
independently recerved third party confirmations
from investment custodians.

Our results

— We feund the carrying amount of listed
investments to be acceptable (2020 acceptable),

be expected to influence the Company’s members’
assessment of (he financial performance of the Company.

We agreed 1o report o the Audit Committee any corrected or
uncorrected 1dentified misstatements exceeding £0.75m
(2020: £0.63m) In addition to other identified misstatements
that warranted reporting on quatitative grounds.

Qur audit of the Company was underlaken 1o the
matenality level specified abgve and was performed by a
single audit team

The audit team performed the audit of the Group as if it was
a single aggregated set of financial information This appreach
15 unchanged from the pror year. The audit of the Group was
performed wsing the Group matenality level set out above.

Total Assets
£1,491m (2020: £1,256m)

Group Materiality
£14.9m (2020: £12.5m)

£14.9m

Whole financial
statements matenality
12020: £12.5m)

£14.1m

Parent Cornpany
Matenality
(2020: £12.0m)

£0,75m Misstatements
reporied 1o the audit
committee (2020:
£G.63m)

= Total Assets



Independent auditor’s report contirued

4. GOING CONCERN

The Cirectors have prepared the financial statements on
the going concern Basis as they do not intend to liquidate
the Group or Company or Lo cease 1ts operations, and

as they have concluded that the Group or Company’s
linancial position means that this is realistic. They have
alsc concluded that there are no material uncertainties
that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to
continue a5 a gaing concern for at least a year from the
date of approval of the financial statemenls ("the going
concern pefriod”).

We used our knowledge of the Group, its industry, and the
general economic environment to identify the inherent
risks 1o its business model and analysed how those risks
might affect the Group or Company’s financial resources

or ahility ta continue operations over the going concern
pericd. The risks that we considered most likely to
adversely affect the Group or Company’s available financial
resources and its ability lo operate over this period were:

— The mpact of a significant reduction in the valualion
of investments and the implications for the Group or
Company's debt covenants;

— The liquidity of the investment portfolio and its ability
to meet the habilities of the Group as and when they
fall due; and

— The operational resilience of key service arganisations.

we considered whether these risks could plausibly affect
the liquidity in the gging concern pernod by assessing the
degree of downside assumption that, individually and
collectively, could result in a hquidity issue, taking into
account the Group or Company's current and projected
cash and liquid investment position (and the results of
their reverse stress testing)

We considered whether the going concern disclosure 1n
note 1 to the financial statements gives a full and accurate
description of the Directors’ assessment of going concern,
including the identified risks and related sensitivities.

Our conclusions based on this work.

— We consider that the Directars’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate;

— We have not identified, and concur with the Directors’
assessment thal there is not, a malerial uncertainty
related lo events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for
the going concem period;

— wWe have nothing material to add cr draw attention to
in relation Lo the Direclors’ statement in note 1 to the
financial statements on the use of the gaing concern
basis af accounting with no matenal uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt over the Group or Company’s
use of that basis for the going cancern peniad, and
we [ound the going concern disclosure 1n note 1 t¢ be
acceptable; and

— The related statement under the Listing Rules set out
cn pages 41 and 42 is matenally consistent with the
financial statements and our audit knowledge.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or
conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that
were reasonable at the time they were made, the
above conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or
Company will continue in operation.

5. FRAUD AND BREACHES OF LAWS AND
REGULATIONS - ABILITY TO DETECT

Identifying and responding to nsks of material
misstatement due 1o fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud
{"fraud nsks") we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure 1o commit fraud
of provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our nisk
assessment procedures included:

- Enquiring of Directors as to the Group's high-level
policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as
well as whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;

— Assessing the segregation of duties in place between
the Directors, the Administrater and the Group's
Investment Manager, and

— Reading Board and Audit Committee minutes

As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures
to address lhe nsk of management override of contrals,
in particular to the nsk that management may be in

a position to make inappropriate accounting entries.

we evaluated the design and implementation of the
contrels over journal entries and other adjustments and
made inquines of the Administrator about inappropriate
of unusual activity relating to the processing ol journal
entnies and other adjusiments. We substantively tested all
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material post-closing entries and, based on the results of
our nisk assessment procedures and understanding of the
process, including the segregation of dulies between the
Directors and the Administrator, no further high-risk journat
entries or other adjustments were identified.

On this audit we have rebutted the fraud risk related

lo revenue fecogmition because the revenue 1s non-
judgemental and straightforward, with limited opportunity
for manipulation. We did not identify any significant
unusual transactions or additional fraud risks.

Identifying and responding to risks of material
misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations

We rdentified areas of laws and requiations that could
reascnably be expected to have a material effect on the financal
statements from our general commercial and sector experence
and through discussion with the Directors, the Investment
Manager and the Administrator (as required by auditing
standards) and discussed with the Directars the policies and
procedures regarding compliance with laws and requlations.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the
financial statements varies considerably,

Firstly, the Company 1s subject to laws and regulations
that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reparting legislation (including related companies
legislation), distributable profits legislation, and its
quaification as an investment Trust under UK taxation
legislation, any breach of which could lead to the Group
lasing various deductions and exemptions from UK
corporation tax, and we assessed the extent of compliance
with these laws and requlations as part of our procedures
on the related financial stalement items,

secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and
requlations where the consequences af non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures

in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litgatien. We 1dentified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect. money
laundering, data protection, bribery and corruption
legislation and certain aspects of company legislation
recagmising the financal nature of the Graup’s activities
and its legal form. Augiting standards himet the required
audit procedures to 1dentify non-compliance with these
laws ang regulations to enguiry of the Directois and the
Admunistrator and inspection of requlatory and legal
correspondence, If any Therefore if a breach of operational
requlations 1s not disclased o us ar evident from relevant
cosrespondence, an audit will not detect that breach.
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or
breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an
unavoldable fisk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even
though we have properly planned and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example,
the further removed non-compitance with laws and
requlations is from the events and transactions reflected
in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would
identity it.

In additien, as with any audit, there remained a higher nisk
of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collysion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of inlernal conirols. Our audit procedures are
designed to detect matenal misstatement. We are not
iesponsitle for preventing non-compliance or fraud and
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all
laws and reguiations.

6. WE HAVE NOTHING TO REPGRT ON THE OTHER
INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The Directors are responsible for the other information
presenied in the Annual Report ingether with the finangal
statements. Our apinton on the financial stalements does
not caver the other information and, accordingly, we do
not express an audit optnion or, except as explicitly stated
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility 15 1o read the other information and,

in doing sg, consider whether, based on cur financial
statements audil work, the information therein s
materially misstated or imconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based soiely on that
waork we have not identified material musstatements in the
other information.

Strategic report and Directors’ report
Based solely on our work on the other information:

— we have not identified matenial misstaternents in the
Strateqic report and the Directors report;

-~ 1 our opinton the miformation given i thase reparts
for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements, and

— 11 qur opinion thase reports have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006



independent auditor’s repart continued

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinicn the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Reporl to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

Disclosures of emerging and principal risks and
longer-term viability

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether
there is a material inconsistency belween the Directors’
disclosures in respect of emerqing and principal risks and
the viability statement, and Lhe linancial statements and
cur audit knowledge.

Based an those procedures, we have nothing material to
add or draw attention to in relation to:

— the Directors’ confirmation within the Viability Statement
on pages 33 and 34 that they have carried cut & robust
assessment of the emerqing and principai risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

— the Principal Risks and Uncertainties disclosures
describing these risks and how emerqing risks are
identified, and explaining how they are being managed
and mitigated; and

— Ihe Directors” explanation in the Viability Statement of
how they have assessed the prospects of the Company,
cver what peniod they have done so and why they
considered thal pencd o be appropriate, and therr
statement as toc whether Lhey have a reascnable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue
in operation and meel its habilities as they fall due
over the period of their assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary
qualifications or assumptions.

We are also required tc review the Viability Statement, set
out on pages 33 and 34 under the Listing Rules. Based on
lhe above procedures, we have cancluded that the above
disclosures are matenally consistent with the financal
statements and our audit knowledge.

Qur work is limited to assessing these matters in lhe
context of only the knowledge acquired during our
financial statements audit. As we cannot predict ail future
events or canditions and as subsequent events may

result tn outcomes that are inconsistent with jJudgements
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence ol anything to report on these statements is not a
quarantee as to the Company's longer-term wviability.

Corporate governance disclosures

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether
there is a material inconsistency belween the Directors’
corporate governance disclosures and the financial
stalements and our audil knowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have concluded that each
of the following 1s materially consistent with the linancial
statements and our audit knowledge:

— the Directors’ statement that they consider that the
annual report and financiai statements taken as a
whole is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Group’s position and perlormance, business
modet and strateqy;

— the secticn of the annual report describing the work of
the Audit Committee, including the significant 1ssues
that the audit cammittee considered in relation tg
lhe financial statements, and how these issues were
addressed, and

— the section of the annual report that describes
the review of the effectiveness af the Group’s risk
managemenl and internal control systems.

We are required to review the part ol Corporate
Governance Statement relating to the Group’s compliance
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified by the Listing Rules far our review We have
nothing to report in this respect.

7. WE HAVE NOTHING TO REPORT ON THE OTHER
MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TC
REPORT BY EXCEPTION

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required {o reporl
to you if, 1n our cprnion:

— adequale accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

— the hinangial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report o be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; of

— centain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified
by law are not made; or

— we have not recaived all the information and
explanations we require for cur audit

we have nothing Lo report In these respects,
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8. RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their staterment set out on
page &1, the Oirectors are respaonsible for: the preparation
of the financial statements including being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation

of financial statements that are free from maternial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to gong cancern;
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
they either intend 1o liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, of have no realstic alternative bul to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our abjectives are Lo obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud ar error, and
to 1ssue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audil conducted in accordance with 15As
(UK} will always detect a malenal misslatement when it
exists. Misstalements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material of, individually or in aggreqate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the econormic
deqisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements.

A fuller description of our responsibiiities is provided on
the FRC's website at:
www fre.org.uk fauditorsresponsibilities
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9. THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO
WHOM WE OWE QUR RESPONSIBILITIES

This report is made solely to the Group's members, as

a body, 1n accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 and the terms ¢f our engagement by
the Company. Gur audit wark has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Groups members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do nol accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Group and the Group’s members, as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Richard Kelly {Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants
Saltire Court

15 Canada Square
London

E14 5GL

3 June 2821



Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 March 2021
Notes Year ended 31 March 2021 Year ended 31 March 2020
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total 5
Return Return Return Return U
£'000 £°000 £000 £'000 £'000

income
Investment income 2z 36,557 - 36,557 712 - 47112
Other operating income 4 67 - 67 35 - 35
Gross rental income 3 3,185 - 3,185 3.415 - 3415
Service charge income 3 1,051 - 1,051 1,786 - 1,786
Gains/(lesses) on investments held at

fair value 10 - 196,582 196,582 - (153,614)  (153.6)
Net movement on foreign exchange;

investments and loan notes - {3.144) (3,144) - 1,296 11,296
Net movement on foreign exchange; =E

cash and cash equivalents - (1,474) (1,474) - 302 302 § ;
Net returas on contracts for difference 10 3,320 17,978 21,298 5724 (1,276} (35,552) e =
Net return on total return swap W - (188) (138) - (3.808) (3,808) ’
Total Income 44,130 209,754 253,934 58,072 (187,100} (129.028)
Expenses
Management and performance fees 5 (1,556) {14,328) (15,384) (1,570) (7.392) {8,962)
Direct property expenses, rent payable

and service charge costs 3 (1.371) - (1,321) (1,984) - {1,984}
Other administrative expenses s {(1231) _ (s04) (1.835) (1,398) 615) {2.013)
Total operating expenses (4,108) (14,932) (19,040) (4,952} {8,007) {12,959}
Operating profit/(joss) 40,072 194,822 234,894 53,120 (195,107) (141,987)
Finance costs 7 {116) (1,969) (2,385) (814) (2,443) (3,257)
Profit/(loss) from operations bedore

tax 39,656 192,853 232,509 52,306 (197550)  (145,244)
Taxation 8  (767) 2,667 1,900 (5.912) 3,49 (2.763)
Total comprehensive income 38,889 195,520 234,409 46,394 (194,401)  {148,007)
Earnings/{lass) per Ordinary share 9 12.25p 61.61p 73.86p 14.62p (61.26)p {16.64)p

The Total column of this statement represents the Group's Statement of Comprehensive Incosne, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The
Revenue Return and Capital Return columns are supplementary o this and are prepared under guidance published by the Association of
Investment Companies. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The Group does not have any other income or expense that is not included in the above staternent therefore *Total comprehensive
income” is also the profit for the year.

All income is attributable to the shareholders of the parent company.
The notes from pages 73 to 97 form part of these Financial Statements,
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Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity

GROUP
Fof the year ended 31 March 20 Notes Share Share Capital Retained
Capital Premium  Redemption Earnings
Ordinary Account Reserve Ordinary
£'000 £7000 £7000 £'000
At 31 March 2020 79,338 43,162 43,971 969,982 1,136,453
Total comprebensive income - - - 234,409 234,409
Dividends paid 7 - - - (44,429) (44,429)
At 31 March 2021 79,338 43,162 43,971 1,159,962 1,326,433
COMPANY
For the year ended 31 March 2001 Notes Share Share Capital Retained
Capital Premium  Redemption Earnings
ordinary Account Reserve ordinary Total
£°000 £000 £7000 £000
At 31 March 2020 79,338 43,162 43,971 969,982 1,136,453
Total comprehensive income - - - 234,409 234,409
Dividends paid 17 - - - (44,429) (44,429)
At 31 March 2021 79,3318 43,162 43,91 1,159,962 1,326,433
GROUP
For the year ended 31 March 2020 Notes Share Share Capital Retained
Capital Premivm  Redemption Eamings
Ordinary Account Reserve Ordinary Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
At 31 March 2019 79,338 43,162 43,971 1,161,783 1,328,254
Total comprehensive income - - - {148,007} (148,007)
Dividends paid 7 - - - (43.794) (43,794)
At 31 March 2020 79,338 43,162 43,971 969,982 1,136,453
COMPANY
For the year ended 31 March 2020 Notes Share Share Capital Retained
Capital Premmium Redemption Earnings
Ordinary Account Reserve Ordinary Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Al 31 March 2019 79,338 43,162 43,971 1,161,783 1,328,254
Total comprehensive income - - - {148,007) (148,007)
Dmde"ds paid 17 = = - (43'794) (43,794)
Al 31 March 2020 79338 43,162 4391 965,982 1,136,453

The notes from pages 73 to 97 form part of these Financial Staterents.
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Group and Company Balance Sheets

as at 31 March 20
Notes Company Group Company
2021 2020 2020
£'000 £000 £'000
Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value 10 1,400,516 1,400,516 1,155,295 1,155,295
Investments in subsidiaries 10 - 43,312 - 50,429
1,400,516 1,443,828 1,155,295 1,205,724
Deferred taxation asset 12 686 686 - -
1,401,202 1,444,514 1,155,295 1,205,724
Current assets
Debtors 2 60,990 60,520 60,094 59972
Cash and cash equivalents 29,114 29,112 40,129 40,127 N
" 90,104 89,632 100,223 100,099 p -
Current Habilities 13 (107,280) (150,120) (59,711) (110,016) EF
Net current (Habilities)/assets (7176)  (60,488) 40,512 (5977) e
Total assets less current liabilities 1,384,026 1,384,026 1,195,807 1,195,807 @
Non-current Habilities 13 (57,593) (57,593) {59.354) {59,354)
Net assets 1,326,433 1,326,433 1,136,453 1,136,453
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 14 79,338 79,338 79,338 79,338
Share premium account 15 43,162 43,62 453162 43162
Capital redemption reserve 15 43,97 43,57 3971 397
Retained earnings 16 1,159,962 1,159,962 969,982 969,982
Equity sharcholders’ funds 1,326,433 1,326,433 1136,453 1,136,453
Net Asset Value per:
Ordinary share 19 n7.97p 4017.97p 358.11p 358.11p

These financial statements were approved by the directors of TR Property investment Trust plc (Company No:84492) and authorised for
issue on 3 June 2021.

D Watson
Director

The notes from pages 73 to 97 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Group and Company Cash flow Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2027

{ompany Group Company
2021 2020 2020
£000 £'000 £000
Reconciliation of peofit/(loss) from opefamns before
tax to pet cash outflow from operating activities
Profit/{loss) from eperations belore tax 232,509 231,844 (145,244} (145,244}
Finante tosts 2,385 2,385 3,257 3,257
{Gains}/lesses on investments and derivatives held at fair
vaiue through profit or loss (214,372) {207,255) 198,698 198,71
Net movement on foreign exchange; cash and cash
equivalents and loan notes (179) (179) 859 859
(increase)/decrease in accrued income (102) (102) 584 584
Sales of investments 353,167 353,167 316,841 316,81
Purchases of investments (370,496) (370,496) (383,674) (383,674}
Decrease/(increase) in sales settlement debtor 4,753 4,753 (417 {1,417)
{Decrease)/increase in purchase settiement creditor (5,781) {5,781) 4501 4,501
(Increase)/decrease in othei deblors (1,436) {11,436) 4,447 4,447
Increase/(decrease) in other creditors 2,451 (4,001) 2,047 2,034
scrip dividends included in investment income and net
seturns on contracts for difference (8,489) (8,489) {3.818) (3,818)
Net cash outflow from operating activities belore T
interest and taxation (15,590) {(15,590) (2,919) {2.919)
interest paid (2,607) (2,607) {3.421) {3,421)
Taxation paid (95 (1915) (2.3) {2.321)
Net cash outflow from operating activities {(20112) {20112) (8,667) {8,651)
Finandng activities
Equity dividends paid (44,429) (44,429) (43.794) (43,794)
Drawdown of loans 55,000 55000 40,000 40,000
Net cash from/{used in) financing activities 16,5711 10,571 (3.794) (3,794}
Decrease in cash (9,511) (9,541) {12,455) {12,455)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 40,129 40,127 52,282 52,280
Net movement on foreign exchange; cash and cash
equivalents (a1 (41) am 302
Cash and cash equivaients at end of year 29,114 29,112 40,129 40127
Note
Dividends received 38,224 38,224 52,003 52,003
Interest received as 45 37 k1)

The notes from pages 73 to 97 form part of these Financiaf Statements.

72 TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST



Notes to the Financial Statements

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statenents for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared on a going concern basis, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ({FRSs) adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the Furopean
Unicn and in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have aiso been prepared in
accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP), “Financial Statements of investrnent Trust Companies and Venture
Capital Trusts,” to the extent that it is consistent with IFRS.

In assessing Gaing Concern the Board has made a detailed assessment of the ability of the Company and the Group to meet

its liabilities as they fall due, including stress and liquidity tests which considered the effects of substantial fails in investment
valuations, substantial reductions in revenues received and reductions in market liquidity including the effects and potential effects
of the current and likely ongoing ecoromic impact caused by the Coronavirus pandemic. The Board is satisfied with the operational
resilience of service providers despite COVID-19 and continues to monitor their performance throughout the pandemic.

In light of the testing carried out, the lquidity of the level 1 assets held by the Company and the significant net asset value position,
and despite the net current liabifity pasition of the Group and Parent Company {which could be mitigated by the sale of liquid leve! 1
investments), the Directors ase satisfied that the Company and Group have adequale financial resources to continue in operation

for at least the next 12 months following the signing of the financial statements and therefore it is appropriate 10 adopt the going
concern basis of accounting.

The Group and Company financial statements are expressed in Sterling, which is their functional and presentational currency.
Sterling is the functional currency because it is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.
values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except where otherwise indicated.

Key estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements necessarily requires the exercise of judgement, both in application of accounting
poiicies, which are set out below, and in the selection of assumptions used in the caiculation of estimates. These estimates and
judgements are reviewed on an ongaing basis and are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors.
However, actual results may differ from these estimates, The only key estirate is considered to be the valuation of investment
properties. See section {f) of this note. There are not considered o be any key judgements.

2a) Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries to 31 March 2021 All the
subsidiaries of the Company have been consolidated in these financial statements.
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in accordance with IFRST0 the Company has been designated as an investment entity on the basis that:
=}t obtains funds from investors and provides those investors with investment management seyvices;

= 1t commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment
income; and

+ it measures and evaluates performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis,

Each of the subsidiaries of the Company was established for the sole purpose of operating or supporting the investment aperations of
the Company (including raising additional financing), and is not itself an investment entity. IFRS 10 sets out that in the case of controlled
entities that support the investment activity of the investrnent entity, those entities should be consolidated rather than presented as
investments at fair value. Accordingly the Company has consalidated the results and financial positions of those subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of subsidiaries used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are based on consistent acceunting policies. Alt intra-group balances and transactions, induding
unrealised profits arising therefrom, are eliminated. This is consistent with the presentation in previous years.

b) income
Dividends receivable on equity shares are treated as revenue for the year on an ex-dividend basis. Where no ex-dividend date is
available, dividends receivable on or before the year end are treated as revenue for the yeac. Provision is made for any dividends
not expected to be received. Where the Group has elected to receive these dividends in the form of additional shares rather
than cash the amount of cash dividend foregone is recognised as income. Differences between the value of shares received and
the cash dividend foregone are recognised in the capital returns of the Group Statermnent of Comprehensive income, The fixed
returns on debt securities are recognised on a time apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective yield on each such security.
Interest receivable from cash and short term deposits is accrued to the end of the year. Stock lending income is recognised on
an accruals basis. Underwriting commission is taken to revenue, uniess any shares underwritten are required to be taken up, in
which case the proportionate commission received is deducted from the cost of the investment.

Recognition of property rental income is set out in section (f) of this note.
Recognition of income from contracts of difference is set out in section {g) of this note.
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Notes to the Finandial Statements continued

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continved
9

All expenses and finance costs are accounted for on an acoruals basis. An analysis of retained earnings broken down into
revenue and capital items is given in note 16. In arriving at this breakdown, expenses have been presented as revenue items
except as follows:

- Expenses which are incidental to the acquisition or disposal of an investment;

«  Expenses are presented as capital where a connection with the maintenance or enhancement of the valse of the
investrnents can be demonstrated, this includes irrecoverable VAT incurred on costs relating to the extension of residential
leases as premiums received for extending or terminating leases are recognised in the capitel account;

- One quarter of the base management fee is charged to revenue, with three quarters aflocated to capital return to reflect the
Board’s expectations of long term investrment returns. All performance fees are charged to capital returs;

»  The fund administration, depositary, custody and company secretarial services are charged directly to the Company and
are included within ‘Other administrative expenses’in note 6. These expenses are charged on the same basis as the base
management fee; one quarter 1o income and three quarters o capital.

d) Finance costs
The tinance cost in respect of capital instruments other than equity shares is calculated so as to give a constant rate of return on
the outstanding balance. One quarter of the finance cost is charged to revenue and three quantess to capital return.

¢} Taxation
Cutrent tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected ta be recovered from or paid te the taxation authorities,
based on tax sates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

income tax is charged or credited directly to eguity if it relates to items that are credited or charged to equity. Otherwise income
tax is recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The tax effect of different items of expenditure is allecated between capital and revenue using the Group's effective rate of
tax for the year. The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes info account taxation deferred because of
ternporary differences between the treatment of certain iters for taxation and accounting purposes.

1n accordance with the recommendations of the SORP the allocation methad used to calculate tax relief on expenses presented
against capital returns in the supplementary information in the Statement of Comprehensive Income is the "masginal basis”.
Under this basis, i taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column of the
Statement of Comprehensive tnceme, then no tax reliet is transferred to the capital column.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recovesable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the Balance Sheet and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabifities are recagnised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

The Company is an investment trust under 5.1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and, as such, is nol fiable for tax on capital
qgains. Capital gains arising in subsidiary companies are subject to capital gains tax.

f) investment property
investrnent property is measyred initially at cost induding transaction costs. Transaction costs include transter taxes, professional
fees for legal services and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating. The carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment praperty at the time that
cost is incurred if the recagnition criteria are met. The purchase and sale of properties is recognised ta be effecied on the date
unconditionat contracts are exchanged.

Subsequent to initiat recognition, investment property is stated at fair value. Gains or lasses arising from changes in the fair
values are included in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they arise.

investment property is derecognised when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn frem use and no future economic
benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains of losses on the retirement or disposal of investment property are recognised in
the Group Staternent of Comprehensive income in the year of disposal.

Gains or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the
carrying value of the asset at the date of disposal.

Revaluation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value in accordance with IFRS 13, revalued twice a year, with changes in fair
values being recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Group engaged Knight Frank LLP as independent
valuation specialists to determine fair vaiue as at 31 March 2021
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Valuations of investment properties
Deterrnination of the fair value of investment properties has been prepared on the basis defined by the RICS Valuation - Global
Standards (The Red Book Global Standards) as follows:

*The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing
seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and
without compulsion.”

The valuation takes into account future cash flow from assets (such as lettings, tenants’ profites, future revenue streams, capital values of
fixtures and fittings, plant and machinery, any environmental matters and the overall repair and conditien of the property) and discount
rates applicable to those assets. These assurnptions are based on locat market conditions existing at the balance sheet date.

In arriving at their estimates of fair values as at 31 March 2021, the valuers have used their market knowledge and professional
judgement and have not only relied solely on historical transactional comparables. Exarnples of inputs to the valuation can be seen -
in the sensitivity analysis disclosed in note 10 (g). e

Rental income
Rental income receivable under operaling leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except for
contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises.
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incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements or ather negotiated rent free periods agreed are spread evenly over the
lease term, even if the payments are not made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease
together with any further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, 3t the inception of the lease,
the directors are reasonably certain that the tenant wili exercise that option. Premiums received to terminate or extend leases
are recognised in the capital account of the Group Staternent of Comprehensive Income when they arise.

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants

Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognised in the period in which the expense can be contractually
recovered. Service charges and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs in revenue as the directors consider
that the Group acts as principal in this respect.

g) investments
When a purchase of sale is made under contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe of the relevant
market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecegnised on the trade date.

All the Group's investments are defined under iFRS as investments designated as fair value through profit or toss but are also
described in these financial statements as investments held at fair value.

Alf investments are designated upon initial secognition as held at fair value, and are measured at subsequent reparting dates at
fair value, which, for quoted investments, is deemned to be closing prices for stocks sourced from European stock exchanges and
for SETS stocks sourced from the London Stock Exchange. SETS is the tandon Stock Exchange electronic trading service covering
most of the market including all the FTSE All -Share and the most liquid Alm constituents. Unquoted investments of investrnents
for which there is only an inactive market are held at fair vatue which is based on valuations made by the directors in accordance
with IPEVCA guidelines and using cutrent market prices, trading conditions and the general economic climate.

in its financial statements the Company recognises the fair value of its investments in subsidiaries as being the adjusted net
asset value. The subsidiaries have historically been holding vehicles for direct property investment or financing vehicles. No
assets are currently held through the subsidiary steucture and alt financing instruments are directly held by the Campany.

Changes in the fair value are recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income. On disposal, realised gains and
losses ase also recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive income.

Derivatives

Derivatives are held at fair value based on traded prices. Gains and losses on derivative transactions are recognised in the Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Gains and losses on CFDs and totat return swaps resulting from movements in the price
of the underlying stock are treated as capital. Dividends from the underlying investment and financing costs of CFDs and total
return swaps are treated as revenue/capital expenses.

Gains and losses on torward currency contracts used for capital hedging purposes are treated as capital.
Contracts for Difference ("CFDs”) are synthetic equities and are valued by reference to the investments’ undertying market values.

The sources of the returns under the derivative contract {e.g. notional dividends, financing costs, interest returns and capital
changes) are allocated to the revenue and capital accounts in afignment with the nature of the underlying source of income and
in accordance with the guidance given in the AIC SORP Notional dividend income or expenses arising on long or short positions
are apporticned wholly to the revenue account. Noticnal interest expense cn long positions is apportioned between revenue
and capital in accordance with the Board's fong term expected retuins of the Company (currently determined to be 25% 1o the
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

revenue account and 75% to capital reserves). Changes in value relating to underlying price movements of securities in retation
te CFD exposures ase allocated wholly to capital reserves.

h) Borowings, loan notes and debentures
All loans and debentures are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, less issue costs whese applicable.
After initial recognition, 2! interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlernent. The costs of asranging any interest
bearing toans are capitalised and amortised over the life of the loan on an effective interest rate basis.

i)} Fareign currency transiation
Transactions involving foreign currencies are converted at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreigh currency monelafy assets and liabilities are ranslated into Sterling at the rate suling on the balance sheet date. Foreign
exchange differences are recognised In the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income.

B Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost and comprise cash in hand and demand deposils.

k) Dividends payable to sharcholders
tnterim dividends are recognised in the period in which they are paid and final dividends are recognised when approved by
shareholders.

I) Adoption of new and revised Standards
Standards and interpretations effective in the current period
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous consclidated financial staternents except as noted below.

IFRS 3 amendments. The amendments provided more guidance on the definition of a business to assist in determining
whether a transaction results in an asset os a business acquisition. the amendments have not had an impact on the Group's
financial statements.

interest Rate Benchrnark Reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7. The amendments provided temporary reliefs
which enable hedge accounting to continue during the periad of uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark with an altesnative risk free interest rate. The amendments have not had & material impact on the Group's
financial statements.

Amendments to 1AS 1 and 1AS 8 - Definition of Material. The International Accounting Standaeds Board refined its definition of
“material” and issued practical guidance on applying the concept of matesiality. the amendments have not had a material impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. The Conceptual Framewaork is not a standard however its purpose is to outline
a set of concepts for financial reporting, standard setting, guidance for preparers in developing consistent accounting policies

and assistance to others in understanding and intespreting the standards. The framework has not had a material impact on the
Group’ financial statements.

Early adoption of standards and interpretations

The standards issued before the reporting date that become effective after 31 march 2021 are not expected to have a material
effect on equity or profit for the subsequent period. The Group has not early adopted any new Interational Financial Reporting
Standard or Interpretation. Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of
the Group’s financial statements are listed below:

1AS 1 Amendments - Classification of tiabilities as Current or Non-Current {effective date amended to 1 January 2023). The
amendments specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current of non-cunent. The amendments are not expected to
have a materia! impact on the Group's financial statements.

1AS 1 Amendments - Disclasure of Accounting Policies (effective 1 Japuary 2023). The amendments fequire an entity to disclose
its material accounting policy information instead of its significant accounting policies. The amendments contain guidance and
examples on identifying material accounting policy information. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group’s financial statements,

1AS 8 Amendiments - Definiticn of Accounting Estimates (effective 1 January 2023} The amendments define accounting estimates
as “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. The amendments also darify the
interaction between an accounting policy and an accounting estimate. The amendments are not expected 1o have a material
impact on the Group's financial statements.

IAS 16 Amendments - Proceeds before Intended Use (effective 1 January 2022) The amendments intend 1o clarify the accounting
for the net proceeds from sefling any items produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment into use. The
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial statements.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

IAS 37 Amendments - Onerous Contracts - Cost of fulfilling contract (elfective 1 january 2022) The amendments clarity that for
the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onereus, the cost of fulfilling the contract includes bath the incremental costs
of fuifilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that refate ditectly to fulfiliing contracts. The amendments are rot
expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial statements.

1AS 39, IFRS 4, 7.9 and 16 Amendmenits - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 2) (effective 1 January 2021) IBOR reform refers
to the global reform of interest rate benchmarks which includes the replacement of some interbank offered rates (IBOR) with
alternative benchmark rates. To ensure users of financial statements can understand the effect of the reform on & company's
financial instruments and risk management strategy, additional information on the nature and extent of risks to which the
company is exposed arising from financial instruments subject to IBOR reform is required. In addition, details of the company’s
progress in completing its transitions to alternative benchmark rates is required.

IAS 41, IFRS 1, 9 and 16 Amendments - Annual Imptrovements 2018-20 Cycle (effective 1 January 2022) The minar improvements,
none of which will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements, to the standards noted were endorsed in
September 2020.

1FRS 3 Amendments - Reference to the Conceptual Framewaork (effective 1 January 2022) The amendments require that for
transactions within the scope of 1AS 37 of IFRIC 21, an acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 (instead of the Conceptual Framework)
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination. In addition, IFRS 3 pow contains a statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination. The amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 4 Amendments - Extension of IFRS ¢ Deferral (effective 1 January 2023) The option for companies whose business is the
issuance of insurance contracts, to defer the effective date of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has been extended. The amendment
is not expected to have an impact on the Group’s financiat staterments.

IFRS 16 Amendrments - Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions {effective 1 April 2621) the May 2020 amendments, which irtroduced
an optionat practical expedient that simplifies how a lessee accounts for rent concessions that are a direct consequence of
Covid-19, have been extended o lease payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
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IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2023) IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and contains several areas that
are covered, including measuremnent of revenue, insurance performance, onerous contracts and disclosure. The standard is not
expected to have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 17 Ammendments - Amendments to IFRS 17 (effective 1 January 2023} In june 2020, amendments to IFRS 17 were issued
which are intended to make financial performance easies to explain and reduce compliance costs by simplifying some
requirements in the standard. The amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2 INVESTMENT INCOME
2021 2020
£000 £'000

Dividends from UK listed investments 3,753 4,911
Dividends from overseas listed investments 18,656 26,631
Scrip dividends from listed investments 7,482 3370
Property income distributions 6,666 12,200

© 36,557 7112

3 NET RENTAL INCOME

£000 £'000

Gross rental income 3,185 3,415
Service charge income 1,051 1,786
Direct property expenses, rent payable and service charge costs (1,321) {1,984)
' 2,915 3217
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3 NET RENTAL INCOME continued

Operating leases

The Group has entered into commercial leases on its property partfofic. Commercial property leases typicatly have lease terms
between 5 and 15 years and include clauses to enable periodic upwasd revision of the rental charge according to prevaiting matket
conditions. Some leases contain opticns to break before the end of the lease term.

Future minirnum fentals under non-cancellable operating leases as at 3t March are as follows:

201 2020
£000 £000

Within 1 year 3,000 2,950
After 1 year but not more than 5 years 10,000 10,100
More than 5 years 19,000 15,500

' 32,000 28,550

4 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

=

£'000 £000

interest receivable 1 N2
interest on refund of overseas withholding tax 44 3
Underwiiting commission 22 -
’ 67 35

Underwriting is part of the process of introduding new securities to the market. The Company may participate in the underwriting of
investee companies’ securities, as one of 2 number of participants, for which cornpensation in the form of comenission is received. The
Company only participates in underwriting having assessed the risks involved and in securities in which it is prepared to increase its
holding should that be the outcome. The commission eamed is taken to revenue unless any secufities underwritten are required to

be taken up in which case the propostionate commission is deducted from the cost of the investment, During the year the Company
participated in cne (2020: nil) underwriting and all cormission earned was taken to revenue and shown under Othes operating income.

5 MANAGEMENT AND PERFORMANCE FEES

2021 201 2020 2020 2020
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Total

Return Return Return Return
£7000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Management fee 1,556 4,669 6,225 1,570 4,709 6,279
Performance fee - 9,659 9,659 - 2,683 2,683
1,556 14,328 15,884 1,570 7392 8,962

A summary of the terms of the managernent agreement is given in the Report of the Directors on page 41.
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6 OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

201 2020
£°000 £000

Directors’ fees {Directors* Remuneration Report on pages 55 to 57) 232 209
Auditor's remuneration:
- for audit of the consolidated and parent company financial statements 80 80
tegal fees 15 31
Taxation fees ' 69 103
ather administrative expenses 199 199
Other expenses 454 562
Irrecoverable VAT 182 214
Expenses charged to Revenue Y1) 1,398
Expenses chasged to Capital 604 615
o 1,835 2,013

Other administrative expenses include depositary, custody and company secretarial services. These expenses are charged on the
same basis as the base management fee; cne quarter to income and three quarters 1o capital. Total other administrative expenses
charged to both income and capital are £757,000 (2020: £796,000).

Other expenses inciude broker fees, marketing and PR costs, Directors” National Insurance and recruitment, Registrars and
iisting fees, and annua! repart and other publication printing and distribution costs. These expenses are charged solely to the
revenue account.

VAT on costs incurred in connection with the extension of the residential leases on The Colonnades are charged to the capital account.

7 FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
£000 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within 1 year 1,241 1,866
Loan notes repayable after 5 years 1,384 1,37
HMRC interest: release of Fll GLO provision (240) -
2,388 3,257
Amount allocated to capital retura (1,969) {2,413)
Amount allocated fo reverue return o T 814
8 TAXATION
a) Analysis of charge in the year
2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Return
£000 £7000 £'000 £000 £'000
UK corporation tax at 19% {2020: 19%) 1,989 (1,989) - 3,362 (3,149) 213
Overseas taxation 86 8 874 2,606 - 2,606
2,855 (1,981) 874 5,968 (3,149 2,819
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior
years ~ (1,980) - (1,930) {406) - {406)
875 (1,981) (1,106) 5,562 (3149) 2,413
Deterred taxation {108)  (686) (799) 350 - 350
Current tax charge for the year 767 (2,667) (1,900) 5912 {3,149) 2,763
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

8 TAXATION continued

b) Factors affecting total tax charge for the year
1he tax assessed for the year is lower (2020: lower) than the standard rate of torposation tax in the UK foi a large company of 9%
(2020: 19%),

The difference is explained below:

2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Return

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net profit/(loss} on ordinary activities

before taxation 39656 192,853 232,509 52306  (197550)  (145,244)
Corporation tax charge at 19% (2020:19%) 7,535 36,642 44,177 9938 {37,535) (27,597)
Effects of:
Non taxable gains on investments - {37,351) (37.351) - 29,187 29187
Currency movements not taxable - 877 877 - (2,204) {2,204)
Tax relief on expenses charged to capital - 139 139 - (1,038) (1,038)
Non-taxable retumns (23) (3,380) (3,403) - 8,566 8,566
Non-taxable UK dividends (972) - (972) (1,043) - (1,043)
Non-taxable overseas dividends (4,573) - (4,573) {5.540) - (5,540)
Overseas withholding taxes 866 8 874 2,606 - 2,606
Deterred tax prior year adjustment (108) (686) (794) - - -
(Over)/under provision in tespect of prior

years {1,980) - (1,980) (405) 5 (207}
Disallowable expenses 19 - 19 69 (43) 2%
Deferred tax not provided - '3 1,084 1,087 288 87) 201

767 (2,667) {1,900) 5912 {3,149) 2,763

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets ot £2,703,000 (202b: £nil) arising as a result of losses carried forward.

It is considered too uncertain that the Group will genesate profits in the relevani companies that the losses would be available to
offset against and, on this basis, the deferred tax asset in respect of these expenses has not been recognised.

Due to the Company’s status as an Investment Trust, and the intention to continue meeting the conditions required to cbtain
approval for the foreseeable future, the Company has not provided deferred tax on any capitai gains arising on the revatuation or
disposa! of investments.

<} Provision for defemed taxation
The amounts for deferred taxation provided at 19% (2020: 19%) comprise:

Group
2021 201 2020 2020 020
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Return

£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Accelerated capital allowances - - - 108 - 108
Unutilised losses carried forward - {686) (s86) - - -

Shown as:
Deferred tax (asset)/liabitity - (686) (686) 108 - 108
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8 TAXATION continued
€) Provision for deferred taxation continued
Company

2021 201 2020 2020 2020
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Return
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Accelerated capital allowances - - - 108 - 108
Unutiilsed losses carried forward - (686) (s86) - - -
Shown as:
Deferred tax (asset)/liabliity - {686) (686) 108 - 108
The movement in provision in the year is as follows:
Group
201 2021 2020 2020 2020
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Retumn
£°000 £000 £000 £000 £600
Provision at the start of the year 108 - 108 w07 (350) (243)
Accelerated capital allowances (108) - {108) 1 350 351
Unutilised losses carried forward - (686) {686) - - -
Provision at the end of the year - (636) {686) 108 - 108
Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
Revenue Capital Capital Total
Return Return Return
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Provision at the start of the year 108 - 108 W07 (350) {243)
Accelerated capitat allowances (108) - (108) 1 350 3
Unutifised losses carrled forward - (686)  (686) - - -
Provision at the end of the year - (686) {686) 108 - 108
9 EARNINGSI(I.OSS) PER SHARE
Earnings/({loss) per Ordinary share
The earnings/(lass) per Ordinary share can be analysed between revenue and capital, as below.
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£'000 £'000
Net revenue profit 38,889 46,394
Net capital profit/(loss) 195,520 {194,401)
Net total profit/(foss) 234,409 {148,007}
Wweighted average number of shares in issue during the year 317,350,980 317,350,980
Revenue eamings per share 12.25 14.62
Capital earnings/(ioss) pes share i 61.61 {61.26)
Earnings/(loss) per Ordinary share 73.86 (46.64)

The Group has no securities in issue that could dilute the return per Otdinary share. Therefore the basic and diluted return per

Ordinary share are the same.
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Notes to the Finandial Statements continued

10 INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE

a) Analysis of investments

Company Group Company
2021 2020 2020
£000 £'000 £'000
Listed in the Uniled Kingdom 394,176 394,176 351,506 351,506
Unlisted in the United Kingdom 1,468 1,468 682 682
Listed Overseas 921,801 921,801 708,597 708,597
Investment properties 83,071 83,07 94,510 94,510
Investments held at fair value 1,400,516 1,400,516 1,185,295 1,155,295
investments in subsidiaries at fair value - 43,312 - 50,429
1,400,516 1,443,828 1,155,295 1,205,724

b) Business segment reporting
Gross Gross
Yaluation Net Net EREITENT revenue revenue
31 March  additions/ appreciation/ JEEEET 31 March 31 March
2020 (disposals}  (depreciation) 2021 2021 2020
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Listed investments 1,060,103 58,477 197,397 1,315,977 36,403 46,964
Unlisted investments 682 - 786 1,468 154 148
Contracts for difference 8,698 {26,817} 17978 {141) 3,320 5724
Total return swap (3.808) 39%6 (188) - - -
Total investments segment 1,065,675 35,656 215973 1,317,304 39,877 52,836
Direct property segment 94,510 (9.838) (1,601} 83,0M 4,236 5,201

1,160,185 25,818 4372 1,400,375 44,113 58,037

In seeking to achieve its investrment objective, the Company invests in the shares and securities of property companies and propesty
related businesses internaticnally and also in investment property located in the UK. The Company therefore considers that there
are two distinct reporting segments, investments and direct property, which are used for evaluating performance and allocation of
resources. The Board, which is the principal decision maker, receives information on the two segments on a reqular basis. Whilst
revenue streams and direct property costs can be attributed to the reporting segments, general administrative expenses cannost be
split to allow a profit for each segment o be determined. The assets and gross revenues for each segment are shown above.

The property costs included within note 3 are £1,321,000 (2020: £1,984,000) and deducting these costs from the direct property
gross revenue above would resuit in net income of £2,915,000 (2020: £3,217,000) for the direct property feporting segment.
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10 INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE continued

¢) Geographical segment reporting
Gress Gross
valuation Net L2l Valuation revenue revente
3t March  additions/ Endize o8 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020  (disposals}  {depreciation) 2021 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
UK listed equities and convertibles 351,506 {30,616) 73,286 394,176 10,265 16,963
UK unlisted equities 682 - 786 1,468 154 148
UK direct property’ 94,510 (9,838) (1.601) 3,071 4,236 5,201
Continental European listed equities 708,557 89,093 124,111 921,801 26,138 30,001
1,155,295 48,639 196,582 1,400,516 40,793 52,313
UK contracts for ditference? son (13,108) 8,621 584 1,242 2,714
tusopean contracts for difference? k¥.v7) {13,709) 9357 (725) 2,078 3,010
UK total return swap® {3,808) 3,996 (188) - - -
1,160,185 25,818 214372 1,400,375 44,113 58,037

Included in the above figures are purchase costs of £743,000 (2020: £460,000} and sales costs of £184,000 (2020: £199,000}.
These comprise mainiy stamp duty and commissign.

The Company received £329,018,000 (2020: £367,977,000) from investments, including direct property, sold in the year. The book cost
of these investments when they wete purchased was £266,450,000 (2020: £317581,000). These investments have been revalued
oves time and until they were sold any unrealised gains/losses were included in the fair value of the investments.

' Net additions/(disposals) incfudes £465,000 (2020: £981,000) of capital expenditure. Net appreciation/{depreciation) includes

amounts in respect of rent free periods.

*  @ross revenue for tontracts for difference relates to dividends receivable, on an ex dividend basis, on the underlying positions
held. The appreciationf{depreciation) in CFDs relates to the movement in fair value in the year.

3 The depreciation in the TRS relates to the movement in fair value in the year until maturity.

d) Substantial share interests

The Group held interests in 3% or more of any class of capital in 10 companies (2020: 8 companies) in which it invests. None
of these investments is considered significant in the context of these financial statements. See note 21 on pages 96 and 97 for

further details of subsidiary investments.

€) Fair value of financial assets and financial Habilities
Financial assets and financial Habilities are carried in the Balance Sheet either at their fair value (investments) o the balance
sheet amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value (due fram brokers, dividends and interest receivable, due to brokers,

accruals and cash at bank).
Fair value hierarchy disclosures

Categorisation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement of the relevant asset as follows:

Level 1 - valued using quoted prices in an active market for identical assets.

Level 2 - valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1.

Level 3 - valued by reference to valuatien techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The valuation techniques used by the Group are expiained in the accounting policies in notes 1 (f) and 1 {g).

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST 33

SUEEIVICE -

TVIONVNI R

RS
Ealn



Notes to the Finandal Statements continued

10 INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE continued

¢) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities continued
The table below sets cut fair value measurements using iFRS 13 fair value hierarchy.

Finandal assets/(liabilities) at fair value through profit of loss

At 31 March 2021 ) Level 1 Level 2 Llevel 3 Total

£7000 £000 £000 £000

Equity investments 1,315,977 - 1,468 1,317,445

Investment properties - - 83,071 83,07
Contracts for difference - (141) - (141}
Foreign exchange forward contracts - (r107) - (1,107)

1315977 (1,248) 84,539 1,399,268

At 31 March 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Equity investments 1,060,103 - 682 1,060,785

investment properties - - 94,510 94,510

Contracts for ditference - 8,698 - 8,698
Totai return swap - (3,808) - (3,808)
Foreign exchange forward contracts - (5,609) - (5,609)

1,060,103 {n9) 95,192 1,154,576

The table above represents the Group's fair value hierarchy. The Company’s fair value hierarchy is identical except for the indlusion
of the fair value of the investment in Subsidiaries which at 31 March 2021 was £43,312,000 (2020: £50,429.000). These have been
categorised as level 3 in both years. The movement in the year of £7,117.000 (2020: £13,000) is the change in fair vaiue in the year,
which includes a distribution from a subsidiary company of £6,435,000 and the release of a corporation tax pravision of £348,000
i & subsidiary company. The total financial assets at fair value for the Company at 31 March 2021 was £1,443,828,000 (2020

£1,214,422,000).
Reconciliation of movements in financial assets categorised as level 3
At 31 March 20N 31 March Appreciation /JEF1ELEI]
2020  Purchases Sales (Depreciation)
£'000 £000 £000 £000
Unlisted equity investments 682 - - 786 1,468
Investment properties
- Mixed use 52,623 315 (303) (4.658) 47,977
- Office & Industrial 41,887 150 (10,000) 3,057 35,094
94,510 465 {10,303} (1,601} 83,071
95,192 465 (10,303) (815) 84,539
All appreciation/(depreciation) as stated above relates to movements in fair value of unlisted equity investments and investment
properties held at 31 March 2021.
The Group held one unquoted investment at the year end (see 11.6 ovesleaf).
Transfers between hiefarchy levels

There were no transfers during the year between any of the levels.
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10 INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE continued

Sensitivity information for investment Property Valuations
The significant unobservabie inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hieracchy of

investment properties are:
® Estimated rental value: £6.5 - £65 per sq ft (2020: £6.5- £65)
® (apitalisation rates: 2.0% - 6.0% (2020: 2.0% - 6.0%)

Significant increases (decreases) in estimated rental value and rent grawth in isofation would result in 2 significantly higher (lower)
fair value measurement. A significant increase {decrease) in lang-term vacancy rate in isolation would result in & significantly fower
(higher) fair value measurement.

There are interrelationships between the yields and rental values as they are partially determined by market rate condition. The
sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the most significant inputs per ¢lass of investment property are shown below:

Estimated movement in falt value of investment properties at office & ’ -
31 March 2021 arising from Retail  Industrial EX
£7000 £'000 Dz
e
increase in rental value by 5% 310 1,585 50 1,945 -
Decrease in rental valye by 5% {250) (1,610) (25) {1,885)
Increase in yield by 0.5% (4,040) (5,835) (925) (10,800)
Decrease in yield by 0.5% 5,155 9,505 1,325 15,985
Estimated mavement in fair value of investment properties at office &
31 March 2020 arising from Retail Industrial Other Total
£'000 £000 E'000 £000
Increase in rental value by 5% 1,300 1,780 - 3,080
Decrease in rental value by 5% (1,225) (1.720) - (2,945)
Increase in yieid by 0.5% {5,025} (6,005) (950) (11.980)
Dectease in yield by 0.5% 6,750 9,355 1,365 17470

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Risk management policies and procedures

The Group invests in equities and other instrurments for the long term in the pussuit of the investment Objectives set out on
page 24. The Group is exposed to a variety of risks that could result in either a reduction or an increase in the profits available for
distribution by way of dividends.

The principal risks the Group faces in its portfolio management activities are:
® Market risk (comprising price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk})

@ Liquidity risk

® Credit risk

The Manager’s policies and processes for managing these risks are summarised on page 25 and have been applied throughout the
year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

11.1 Market price risk
By the very nature of its activities, the Group’s investments are exposed to market price fluctuations.

Management of the risk
The manager runs a diversified portfolio and reports to the Board on the portfolio activity and performance at each Board meeting.
The Board monitors the investment activity and strategy to ensure it is compatible with the stated objectives.

The Group's exposure 10 changes in market prices on its quoted equity investments, CFDs and investment property portfolio, was as

follows:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Investments held at fair value 1,400,516 1,155,295
CFD long gross exposure 146,001 56,728
TRS long gross exposure . - 6,598

Concentration of exposure to price risks

As set out in the invesiment Policies on page 25, there are guidelines to the amount of expasure to a single company, geographical
1egion or direct property. These guidelines ensure an appropriate spread of exposure ta individuat or sector price risks. As an
investment company dedicated to investmment in the property sector, the Group is exposed to price movernents across the property
asset class as a whoie.

Price risk sensitivity

The following table Blustrates the sensitivity of the profit after taxation for the year and the value of shareholders’ funds to an
increase of decrease of 15% in the fair values of the Gioup's equity, fixed interest, CFD and direct property investments. The ievel of
change is consistent with the illustration shown in the previous year. The sensitivity is based on the Group’s equity, fixed interest,
CFD and direct property exposure at each balance sheet date, with all other variables held constant.

01 207 2020 2020
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in fair in fair in fair in fair
value value value value
£000 £000 £000 £'000

Statement of Comprehensive Income ~ profit after tax

Revenue return {103) 103 (77} 77
Capital retum 209,801 (209,201) 173,817 (173,817)
Change to the profit after tax for the year/shareholders’ funds 209,698 {209,698) 173,740 (173,740)
Change to total earnings per Ordinary Share 66.08p {66.08)p 54.75p (s4.75)p
1.2 Currency risk

A proportion of the Group's portfolio is invested in overseas securities and theis Sterling value can be significantly affected by
movements in foreign exchange rates.

Management of the risk

The Board receives a report at each Board meeting on the proportion of the investment portfolio held in Sterling, Euros or other
currencies. The Group may sometimes hedge foteign currency movements outside the Eurozone by funding investments in overseas
securities with unsecured loans denominated in the same cutrency or through forward currency contracts.

Cash deposits are held in Sterling and/or Euro denominated accounts.
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11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

Foreign currency exposure
At the reporting date the Group had the following exposure;

(Sterling has been shown for reference}

oy I
Sterling 2B.0% 27.0%
Euro 51.0% 53.0%
Swedish Krona 13.0% THO%
Other 8.0% 90%

The following table sets out the Group’s total exposure to foreign currency risk and the net exposure to foreign currencies of the net

monetary assets and liabifities:

Swedish

Sterling Krona Other
2021 £000 £000 £000
Receivables {due from brokers, dividends and other income receivable} 49,462 10,668 561 299
Cash at bank and on deposit 22,853 4,339 650 1,272
Bank loans, loan notes and overdrafts (95,000) - - -
Payables (duve to brokers, accruals and other creditors) {10,142) (1,031) - -
FX forwards (61,209) - 13,848 46,254
Total foreign cutrency exposure on net monetary items (94;036) 13,976 o 15,059“ 41825
Investments held at fair value 478,715 707,968 155,635 58,198
Non-current assets 686 - - -
Non-current liabilities (15,000) {42,593) - -
Total currency exposure 370,365 679351 170,694 106,023

Swedish

Sterling Euro Krona Other
2020 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Recelvables (due from brokers, dividends and other income receivable) 31,552 27,495 634 413
Cash at bank and on deposit 25,602 11,922 962 1,643
Bank loans, loan notes and cverdrafts {40,000) - - -
Payables {due to brokers, accruals and other creditors) {8,026) (6,076) - -
FX forwards (133,731) 62,004 22,525 43,583
Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary items {124,603) 95,355 24,11 45,639
investments held at fair value 446,698 551,576 100,836 56,185
Non-current assets (15,108) {44,246) - -
Total currency expasure 306,987 602,685 124,957 101,824

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table iflustrates the sensitivity of the profit after tax for the year on the Group's equity in regard to the exchange rates

for Sterling/Eura and Sterling/Swedish Krona and other currencies.
It assumes the following changes in exchange rates:
® Sterling/Euro +/- 15% (2020:15%)
@ Sterling/Swedish Krona +/- 15% (2020:15%)
® Sterling/Other +/- 15% (2020:15%)
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Notes to the Finandal Statements continued

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
Foreign currency sensitivity continued
if Sterling had strengthened against the currencies shown, this would have had the following effect:
Year ended March 2021 Year ended march 2020

swedish Swedish
Euro Krona Euro Krona Other
£°000 £°000 £'000 £000 £'000

Statement of Comprehensive Income -

profit after tax

Revenue retum (2.726) (589) {250) (3.m¢6) {340) {99)
Capital retum (83,243) {20,269} (7,579) (M,091) {13,132) 7,317}
Change to the profit after tax for the

yeas/shareholders’ funds (85,969) (20,858) {7,829) (74,107} (13,472) {7.416)
Change to totaf earnings per Ordinary share {36.13)p (2993)p

If Sterling had weakened against the currencies shown, this would have the foilowing effect:
Year ended March 2621 Year ended March 2020

swedish Swedish
Euro Krona Furo Krona Other
£°000 £000 £7000 £000 £000

Statement of Comprehensive Income -

profit after tax

Revenue return 3,41 732 318 4971 423 113
Capital return 124,633 27,440 10,262 97,685 17,780 9,909
Change to the profit after tax for the

year/shareholders’ funds 128,044 28,172 10,580 102,656 18,203 10,022
Change to total earnings per Ordinary share 52.56p £1.24p
11.3 Interest rate risk

interest rate movements may affect:
@ the fair value of any investments in fixed interest securities;
@ the fair value of the loan notes;
® the level of income receivable from cash at bank and on deposit;
@ the level of interest expense on any variable rate bank loans; and
@ the prices of the underlying securities held in the portfolios.

of the risk
The possible effects on fair vaiue and cash fiows that could arise as a result of changes in interest sates are taken into account when
making investment decisions. Property companies usually have borrowings themseives and the level of gearing and structure of its
debt portfolio is a key factor when assessing the investment in a property company.

The Group has fixed and has had variable rate borrowings during the year. The interest rates on the loan notes is fixed, details are
set out in note 13. In addition to the loan notes the Group has unsetured, multi-currency revelving loan facilities which carry variable
rates of interest based en the cummencies drawn, plus a margin. These facifities total £130,000,000 (2020: £110,000,000).
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11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

Management of the risk continued

The Manager considers both the level of debt on the balance sheet of the Group (i.e. the loan notes and any bank loans drawn)
and the “see-through” gearing, taking into account the assets and liabilities of the underlying investments, when considering the
investment portfolio, These gearing levels are reported regularly to the Board.

The majority of the Group’s investment porticlio is non-interest bearing. As a result the Group’s financial assets are not directly
subject to significant amounts of risk due to Huctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates.

Interest rate exposure
The exposure at 31 March of financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk is shown by reference to:

@ floating interest rates: when the interest rate is due to be re-set;
@ fixed interest sates: when the financial instrument is due to be repaid.
The Group’s exposure to floating interest rates on assets is £80,027,000 (2020: £79,651,000).
The Group’s expasure to fixed interest rates on liabilities is £152,593,000 (2020: £95,246,000).
The Group's exposure to fioating interest rates on Habilities is £nit (2020: £nil).
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interest receivable and finance costs are at the following rates:

@ Interest received on cash balances, or paid on bank averdrafts, is at a margin over LIBOR o its foreign curmency equivalent
{2020: same).

@ Interest paid on borrowings under the multi-currency loan facilities, is at a margin over LIBOR or its foreign curency equivalent for
the type of loan (2020: same).

@ The finance charges on the €50m and £15m joan notes are at interest rates of 1.92% and 3.59% respectively.

The year end amounts are not representative of the exposure to interest rates during the year as the level of exposure changes
as investments are made in fixed imerest securities, botrowings ase drawn down and repaid, and the mix of borrowings between
floating and fixed interest rates changes.

Interest rate sensitivity

A change of 2% on interest rates at the reporting date would have had the following direct impact:
2021 2021 2020 2020
2% 2% 2% 2%
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
£000 £000 £000 £000
Change to shareholders’ funds (1,176) 1,176 {317) 37
Change to total earnings per Ordinary share {0.37)p 0.37p {0.10)p 0.10p

This level of change is not representative of the year as a whole, sinte the exposure changes throughout the peried.

This assessment does not take into account the impact of interest rate changes on the market value of the investrnents the
Group holds.

T1.4 Liquidity risk
Unguoted investments in the portfolio are subject to liquidity fisk. The Group held one unquoted investment at the year end (see
1.6 below). )

In certain market conditions, the liquidity of direct property investments may be reduced. At 31 March 2021, 6% (2020: 8%) of the
Group’s investment portfolic was held in direct property investments.

At 31 March 2021, 94% (2020: 92%) of the Group’s investrent portfolio is held in listed securities which are predominantly
readily realisable.

Bank loan facilities are short term revolving loans which it is intended are renewed or replaced but renewal cannot be certain. Loan
notes of €50m and £15m are repayable in February 2026 and 2031 respectively.

The table shows the timing of cash outflows to settle the Group’s current liabilities together with anticipated interest costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

Debt and Financing maturity profile
Within within Within Within Within More than
1year 1-2 years 2-3years 3-dyears  4-5years 5 years
A1 31 March 2021 £000 £000 £000 E£'000 £000 £000
Bank loans® 95,000 - - - - - 95,000
Loan notes - - - - - 57,593 57,593
Projected interest cash flows on
bank and loan notes 2,178 1,356 1,356 1,356 1,356 2,693 10,295
Accroals and deferred income 10,719 - - - - - 10,719
Other creditors 10 - - - - - 110
108,007 1,356 1,356 1,356 1,356 60,286 173,717
Wwithin Within Within Within within  More than
Tyear 12years 23years 3-4years  45years 5 years Totat
At 31 March 2020 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Bank loans 40,000 - - - - - 40,000
Loan notes - - - - - 59,246 59,246
Projected interest cash flows on
bank and loan notes 1338 1,388 1,388 1,388 1,388 4,081 11,021
Accreals and deferred income 3812 - - - - - 3,812
Other creditors 294 - - - - - 294
45,494 1,388 1,388 1,388 1,388 63,327 114,373

* A £60m multicurency facility with RBS was renewed for one year in February 2021, £50m (2020: £10m) was drewn on this facifity at the balance sheet date. A
£30m one year facility with ING Luxernbourg was renewed tn July 2020 £30m (2020: £30m) was drawn on this facility at the balance sheel date. A £40m facility
was renewed with ICBC in November 2020. £15m (2020: £nil) was drawn on this facility at the balance sheet date.

Management of the risk

The Manager sets quidelines for the maxirnum exposure of the portfolio to unquoted and direct property investments. These are set
out in the investment Polities or page 25. Alt unquoted investments with a value over £1m and direct propesty investments with a
value over £5 million must be approved by the Board for purchase.

The Company maintains regular contact with the banks providing revolving facilities and renewal discussions commence well ahead
of facility renewal dates. In addition the Company is exptoring new opportunities for the provision of debt cn an angoing basis.

1.5 Credit risk

The failure of 3 counterparty to a transaction to discharge its obligations under that transaction coukd resuit in the Group suffering
a loss. At the period end the largest counterparty risk, which the Group was expesed to was within Debtors and Cash and cash
equivalents where the total bank balances held with one counterparty was £53,134,000 (2020: £46,731,600 two counterparties).

Management of the risk

Investment transactions are carried out with 2 number of brokers, whose credit standing is reviewed periadically by the Manager,
and limits are set on the amount that may be due from any one broker. Cash at bank is only held with banks with high quality

external credit ratings.
Credit risk exposure

In summary, compared to the amounts in the Balance Sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 March was as follows:

Debtors
Cash and cash equivalents

201
Balance

Sheet
£°000

60,990
29114
90,104

2021 2020
Maximum Maximum
exposure exposure
£000 £'000
60,990 60,094 60,094
2914 40,129 40,129

20,104 106,223 100,223
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11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

where the receivables of the Group are expased to credit risk, the requirement for impaisment is assessed at each year end. For
all receivables, in the table above, no impairment has been recognised in relation to expected credit losses as the impact of these
losses is immaterial as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: no impairment).

Offsetting disclosures

In order to better define its contractual rights and to secure rights that will help the Group mitigate its counterparty risk, the Group may
enter into an ISDA Master Agreement or similar agreement with its OTC derivative contract counterparties. An ISDA Master Agreement
is an agreement between the Group and the counterparty that geverns OTC derivatives and foreign exchange contracts and typically
contains, among other things, collateral posting terms and netting provisions in the event of a defauft and/or termination event. Under
an ISDA Master Agreement, the Group has a contractual right te offset with the counterparty certain derivative financial instruments
payables and/or receivables with coflateral held and/or posted and create one single net payment in the event of default including

the bankruptcy or insolvency of the counterparty. Howeves, bankruptcy or insclvency taws of a particular jurisdiction may impose
restrictions on or prohibitions against the right of offset in bankruptcy, insolvency or other events.

The disclosures set out in the following tables include financiat assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar agreement.
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At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Groups defivative assets and liabilities {by type and counterparty) are as follows: g
Year ended 2021 Year ended 2020 E
Net amounts Net amounts
of financial of financial
assets/ assets/
liabilities liabilities
presented in presented in
the Balance (ash collateral the Balance  Cash coilateral
Sheet pledged Sheet pledged
£'000 £000 £000 £000
CFD positions:
Goldman Sachs {(1a1} 50,913 8,698 31,525
() 50,913 8,698 31,525
TRS position:
ING - - (3,808) 7997
- - (3,808) 7,957
FX forward contracts:
Bank of Montreal - - (2,582) -
Barclays - - (2,398) -
BNP Paribas - - (620} -
H58C (1,107) - - -
Westpac - - (%) -
: (1,107) - (5,609) -

1.6 Fair values of financial assets and finandial liabilities

Except for the loan notes which are measured at amortised cost (refer to Note 13), the fair values of the financial assets and
financial fiabilities are either carried in the balance sheet at their fair value (investments) or the balance sheet amount is a
reasonable approximation of fair value {(debtors, creditors, cash at bank and bank overdrafts, accruals and prepayments).

The fair values of the listed investments are derived from the closing price or fast traded price at which the secusities are quoted on
the London Stock Exchange and other recognised exchanges.

The fair value of contracts for difference are based on the underlying listed investrment value as set out above and the amount due
from or to the counterparty under the contiact is recorded as an asset or liability accordingly, which is disclosed in Note 13 for the
turrent year.

The fair values of the properties are derived from an open market (Red Baok) valuation of the properties on the Balance Sheet date
by an independent firm of valuers (Knight Frank).

There was one unquoted investment at the Balance Sheet date, Atrato, with a total value of £1,468,000 (2620: Atrato, £682,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continved
in the Parent Company accounts there are investrents of £43,312,000 in unlisted subsidiaries which are dassified as level 3.

The amounts of change in fair value for investments including net returns on CFDs recognised in the consalidated profit o loss for
the year was a gain of £214,372,000 (2020: loss of £198,698,000).

11.7 Capital management paolicies and procedures
The Group's capital management objectives are:

@ 1o ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concem; and
@ to maximise the total return to its equity shareholders through an appropriate balance of equity capital and debt.

The equity capital of the Group at 31 March 2021 consisted of called up share capital, share premium, capital redemption
and revenue reserves totalling £1,326,433,000 (2020: £1,136,453,000). The Group does not regard the loan notes and {oans as
permanent capital.

The loan notes agreement requires comgpliance with a set of financial covenants, including:

©® Total Borrewings shafl not exceed 33% of Adjusted Net Asset Value;

@ the Adjusted Tota! Assets shall at all times be equivalent to a minimurn of 300% of Total Borrowings; and
@ the Adjusted NAV shall not be less than £260,000,000.

12 DEBTORS

Group Company Group Company
2071 201 2020 2020
£'000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Securities and properties sold for future settiement 267 267 5,020 5,020
Tax recoverable 4,231 3,761 1,414 1,292
Prepayments and accrued income’ 5176 5,176 5,082 5,082
Amcunts receivable in respect of Contracts for Difference - - 8,698 8,698
CFD margin cash 50,913 50,913 31,525 31,525
TRS margin cash - - 7997 1997
Other debtors 403 403 358 358

60,990 60,520 60,094 59,972

Non-current assels
Deferred taxation asset 686 686 - -

* Includes amounts in respect of rent free periods.
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13 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Company Group Company
2021 2020 2020
£000 £'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:

8ank loans and overdrafts 95,000 95,000 40,000 40,000

Securities and properties purchased for future settiement 194 194 5,975 5975

Amounts due to subsidiaries - 42,880 - 50,342

Amounts payable in respect of Contracts for Difference 111 141 - -

Amounts payable in respect of Total Return Swap - - 3,808 3,308

Tax payable 9 9 213 213 S

Accruals and deferred income 10,719 10,685 3,812 3783 Eele

Foreign exchange forward contracts for setflement 1,107 1,107 5,609 5,609 s

Other creditors L 104 294 286 g %
107,280 150,120 s9M 110,016 'g =

Non-current liabilities:

1.92% turo toan Notes 2026 42,593 42,593 44,246 44,246
3.59% GBP Loan Notes 2031 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
Deferred taxation - - 108 108

57,593 57,593 59,354 59.354
Loan Notes

On the 10th Febsuary 2016, the Company issued 1.92% Unsecured Euro 50,000,000 Loan Notes and 3.59% Unsecured GBP 15,000,000
Loan Notes which are due to be redeemed at par on the 10th February 2026 and 10th Febnsary 2031 respectively.

The fair value of the 1.92% Euro Loan Notes was £42,732,000 (2020; £44,418,000) and the 3.59% GBP Loan Notes was £15,219,000
{2020: £15,553,000) at 31 March 2021,

Lsing the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy the Loan Naotes are deemed to be categorised within Level 2.

The loan notes agreement requires compliance with a set of financial covenants, including:

® Total Borrowings shall not exceed 33% of Adjusted Net Asset Value;

#® the Adjusted Total Assets shall at all times be equivalent to a minimurn of 300% of Total Borrowings; and
® the Adjusted NAV shall not be less than £260,000,000.

The Company and Group complied with the terms of the loan notes agreement thioughout the year.

Multi-currency revolving loan facilities
The Group also had unsecured, multi-currency, revolving short-term loan facilities totalling £130,000,000 (2020: £110,000,000) at
31 Maich 2021. Al 31 March 2021 £95,000,000 was drawn on these facitities (2020: £40,000,000).

The maturity of these facilities is shown in notes 11.3 and 11.4.
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Notes to the financial Statements continued

13 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES continued
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Long term  Short term

debt debt
Group and Company £000 £000
Opening liabitities from tinancing activities at 31 March 2020 59,246 40,000 99,246
Cash flows:
Drawdown of bank loans - 55,000 55,000
Movement on foreign exchange (1e53) - (1,653)
Closing Habilities from finandng activities at 31 March 2021 57,593 95,000 152,593

14 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

The balance ciassified as Ordinary share capital includes the nominal value proceeds on the issue of the Ordinary equity shate
capital comprising Ocdinary shares of 25p.

issued, allotted
and fully paid
Number £000

Ordinary shares of 25p
At 1 April 2020 317,350,980 79,338
At 31 March 2027 317,350,980 79,338

The voting rights are disclosed in the Report of the Directars on page 43.
buring the year, the Company made no market purchases for cancellation of Ordinary shares of 25p each (2020: none).
since 31 March 2021 no Ordinary shares have been purchased and cancelled.

15 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE

Share premium account
The balance classified as share premium includes the premium above nominal value from the proceeds on issue of the equity share

capitat comprising Ordinary shares of 25p.

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve is used to record the amount equivalent to the nominal value of purchases of the Company’s own
shares in order to maintain the Company’s capital.

16 RETAINED EARNINGS
Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Investment holding gains 335,322 360,663 206,072 238,531
Realised capital reserves 757,418 731,167 691,748 664,465
1,092,730 1,091,830 897220 902,996
Revenue reserve 67,222 68,132 72,762 66,986
1,159,962 1,159,962 969,982 969,982

Group investment holding gains at 31 March 2021 include a £143,000 gain {2020: £643,000 loss) relating to unfisted investments and
gains of £45,201,000 (2020: £51,882,000 gains} relating to investment properties.

Company investment hotding gains at 31 March 2021 include gains of £70,685,000 (2020; £83,697,000) relating to unlisted and
subsidiary investments with a £44,061,000 revaluation gain (2020: £50,742,000) relating to investment properties. Dividends are
only distributable feom the revenue resetve.
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17 DIVIDENDS

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
201 2020

£000 £'000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:

Fina! dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 of 8.80p 27,927 27,292
(2019: B.60p) per Ordinary share
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 of 5.20p

(2020: 5.20p) per Ordinary share . 1,502 16,502
44,429 43,794

Amounts not recoghised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2027 of 9.00p

{2020: 8.80p) per Otdinary share 28,562 27927
The final dividend has not been included as a fiability in these financial statements in accordance with 1AS 10 “Events after the
Balance Sheet Date”.

Set out below is the total dividend to be paid in respect of the year. This is the basis on which the requirements of 5.1158 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010 are considered.
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
201 2020

£000 £'000

tnterim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 of 5.20p

{2020: 5.20p) per Crdinary share 16,502 16,502

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 of 9.00p
{2020: 8.88p) per Ordinary share 28,562 27927
45,064 44,429

18 COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE {INCOME

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own Statement of Comprehensive
Income. The net profit after taxation of the Company dealt with in the accounts of the Group was £234,409,000 (2020: £148,006,000

loss}).

19 NET ASSET VALUE PER ORDINARY SHARE

Net asset value per Ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to Ordinary shares of £1,326,433,000 (2020
£1,136,453,000) and on 317350,980 (2020 317,350,980} Ordinacy shares in issue at the year end.

20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At 31 March 2021 the Group had capital commitments of £144,000 (2020: £132,000) but no contingent tiabilities (2020: nil).
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Notes fo the Financial Statements continued

21 SUBSIDIARIES

The Group has the foliowing principal subsidiaries, all of which are registered and operating in Scotland, England and wales:

Name Reg. Number Principal Activities
New England Properties Limited 788895 Non-trading company
The Calonnades limited 2826672 Non-trading company
Showart Limited 2500726 Non-trading comgpany
Trust Union Properties Residential Developments Limited 2365875 Non-trading company
The Property investment Trust Ltd 2415846 Non-trading company
The Real Estate fnvestment Trust Limited 2416015 Non-trading company
The Terra Property lavestment Tryst Limited 2415843 Non-trading company
Trust Union Property Investment Trust Limited 2416017 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Five) Limited 2415839 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Six) Limited 2416018 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Seven) Limited 2415836 Non-trading company
Trust Unicn Properties (Number Eight} Limited 2416019 Non-trading company
Trust Union Praperties (Number Nine) Limited 2415833 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Ten) Limited 241601 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Eleven) Limited 2415830 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Twelve) Limited 2416022 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Thirteen) Limited 2415818 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Fourteen) Limited 2416024 Non-tiading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Fifteen) Limited 2416026 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Sixteen) Limited 2415806 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Seventeen) Limited 2416027 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Eighteen) Limited 2415768 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Bayswater) Limited 2416030 Property investment
Trust Union Properties (Cardiff) Limited 2415772 Non-trading company
Teust Union Properties (Theale) Limited 2416031 Noa-trading company
Trust Union Properties {Number Twenty-fwo) Limited 2415765 Non-trading company
Trust Union Properties (Number Twenty-Thiee) Limited 2416036 Non-trading company
Skillion Finance Limited 2420758 Non-trading company
Trust Union Finance (1991) Pic 2663561 investment financing
FGH Developments Limited 1481476 Non-trading company
FGH Developments (Aberdeen) Limited {E18030) SC68799 Non-trading company
FGH (Newcastle) Limited 1466619 Non-trading company
NEP (1994) Limited 9717481 Non-trading company
New England Developments Limited 1385509 Non-trading company
New England Investments Limited 2613905 Non-tiading company
New England Retail Properties Limited 1447271 Non-trading company
New Engtand (Southern) Limited 178731 Non-trading company
Sapco One Limited 803940 Non-trading company
Teust Union Properties Limited 2134624 Non-trading company
Trust Union Finance Limited 1233998 Investment holding and finance company
TR Property Finance Limited 2415941 investment holding and finance company
Trust Union Properties (South Bank) Limited 2420097 Non-trading company
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21 SUBSIDIARIES continued

The Company has provided a guarantee for each of these subsidiaries in ordes for them to take the exemnption from the requirement
of an audit, in line with the requirements of 5.479A of the Companies Act 2006.

All the subsidiaries are futly owned and alt the holdings ase ordinary shares.

Ali companies have the registered office of 11-12 Hanover Street, London, W15 1YQ with the exception of FGH Developments
{Aberdeen) Limited which is registered to 50 Lothian Road, Festival Square, Edinburgh EH3 9BY.

22 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSURES

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are telated parties, have been eliminated cn
consolidation. The balances are interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

Amounts due by the Company to subsidiaries per note 13 v
2021 2020 L
£'000 £000 o

The Colonnades Limited 22,619 n619 3z

TR Property Finance Limited 20,281 27743 22

New England Properties Limited {(20) {20) 3 Z
42,880 50,342

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Company for each of the relevant categories
specified in 1AS 24: Related Party Disclosures is provided in the audited part of the Directars’ Remuneration Report on page 56.

Directors’ transactions
Transactions in shares by directors are considered to be a refated party transaction due to the nature of their role as directors.

Mavements in direciors’ shareholdings are disclosed within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 57.
Dividends totatling £17,000 (2020: £10,000) were paid in the year in respect of shares held by the Company’s directors.
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Glossary and AIFMD disclosure

1.0 ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Alternative Performance Measures are numerical measures of the
Company’s current or historical performance, tinancial position or
cash flows, other than the financial measures defined or specified
in the Financial Statements

The measures defined below are considered to be Aliernative
Performance Measures. They are viewed as particularly relevant
and are frequently quoted for closed ended investment
COMpanies.

Total Return

The NAV Total Return ts calculated by reinvesting the dividends
in the assets of the Campany from the relevant ex-dividend
date. Dividends are deemed to be reinvested on the ex-dividend
date as this I1s the profocal used by the Company’s benchmark
and other indices. The Share Price Total Return 15 calculated by
reinvesting the dividends in the shares of the Campany from the
relevant ex-dividend date.

NAV Share Price
NAV/share price per share at
31 March 2020 3581 3175
NAV/share price per share at
31 March 2021 1797 392.5
change in year 16.7% 23.6%
fmpact of dividends reinvested 4.0% 47%
Total Return for the year 20.7% 28.3%

Net Debt

Net debt is the total value of loan notes, loans (including notional
exposure 1o CFDs and TRSs) less cash as a proportion of net asset
value.

Ihe net gearing has been calculated as follows:

Loan notes 57593 59,246
Loans 95,000 40,000
(FD positions (notional exposure) 146,001 56,728
TRS position {noticnal exposure) - 10,405
Less: Cash (29114) {40,129)
Less: Cash collateral (included
within ‘Other debtors’ in Note 12) (50,913) (39,522)
218,567 86,728
Equny shareholders’ funds 1,326,433 1136&
Net gearing 16.5% 7.6%
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Ongong Chalyges

The Gngeing Charges ratio has been calculated in accordance
with the guidance 1ssued by the AIC as the total of investment
management fees and administralive expenses expressed as a
percentage of the average Net Asset Values throughout the year.
The definition of administrative expenses does include property
related expenses, the Ongoing Charges calculation 1s shown
inclusive and exclusive of these expenses to allow comparson
cf the direct administiative and management charges with

the majority of Investment Trusts which do not hold any direct
property investments.

Excluding
Performance
Fees &

Direct
Property Casts
£'000

Including

Excluding
Performance performance
Fees Fees

£000 £000

Management Fee

(note 5) 15,884 6,225 6,225

Other

Administrative

expenses (note 6) 1,835 1,835 1,835

Property Costs 270 270 -

Less: Non

recurring

expenses - - -
17,989 8,330 8,060

Average Net 1,283,051 1,283,051 1,283,051

Assets

Ongoing Charge 0 0 o

2071 1.40% 0.65% 0.63%

Ongaing Charge 0.80% 0.61% 0.59%

2020

Ihe Ongoing charges ratio provided in the Company’s Key
Information Document is calculated in fine with the PRIIPS
requlations which 1s different to the AIC methodology above.

Key Performance Indicators

The Board assesses the performance of the Manager in meeting
the Irust’s objective against a number of Key Perfarmance
Indicatars, these are considered to be Alternative Performance
Measures. These are set out on pages 26 and 27 af this report
together with information about any calculations or the source of
data.



Glassary and AIFMD disclosure continued

2.0 GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND DEFINITIONS

AIFMD

The Alternative Fund Managers Directive 15 European legistation
which ¢reated a Eurcpean wide framewaork for requlating the
managers of “alternative investment funds” {Alts} It 15 designed
to requlate any fund which 1s not a UCITS (Undertakings for
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) fund and which
is managed or marketed in the EU.

AlC
The Association of Investment Companies - the AIC Is the
representative body for closed-ended investment companies.

Alternative Performance Measure

A financial measure of financial performance or financial position
other than a financial measure defined or specified in the
accounting statements,

Discount

The amaunt by which the market price of a share of an
investment trust is lower than the Net Asset Value per share
expressed as a percentage of the NAV per share

Key Information Document

Under the PRIIPs Regulations a short, consumer friendly Key
Information Document 1s required setting out the key features,
rsks, rewards and costs of the PRIIP and 15 intended Lo assist
investors to better understand the Trust and make comparisons
between lusts

The document includes estimates of investment performance
under a number of scenarios. These caiculations are prescribed
by the requlation and are based purely on recent historical data
Itis important for Investors to nate that there 1s ne judgement
applied and these do not in any way reflect the Board or
Manager's views

Key Performance Indicator “KPi”

ATKPI" 15 a quanufiable measure that evaluates how successtul
the trust 1s 1n meeting its abjectives The Trust’s KPIs are
discussed on pages 26 and 27

MiFiD

The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 1s the FU
legislation that regulates firms who provide services ta clients
linked to “finagncial instruments” (shares, bonds, units In collective
investment schemes and derivatives) and the venues where
those instruments are traded

Net Asset Value (NAV) per share
The vatue of total assets less liabilities (including borrowings)
divided by the number of shares in issue,

3.0 ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT FUND MANAGERS
DIRECTIVE (“AIFMD")

In accordance with the AIFMD, information in relation 1o the
Company’s leverage and remuneratian of the Company’s AlFM,

F&C Investment Business Limited, 1s required to be made
availabie to investaors. Detailed regulatory disclosures including
those on the AIFM's remuneration policy are avallable on the £&¢
website or from F&C on request The numerical remuneration
disclosures in relation to the AlFM's first relevant accounting
penod will be made available in due course.

Leverage
under the AIFM Directive, it is necessary for AlFs to disclose their
leverage 1n accardance with prescribed calcutations.

Although leverage 1s gllen used as another term for geanng,
under the AIFMD leverage is specifically defined. Two types of
leverage talculations are defined; the gross and commitment
methods. These methods summarily express leverage as a ratio
of the exposure of the Al against Its net asset value ‘Exposure’
typically includes debt, the value of any physical properties
subject to martgage, non-Sterling currency, equily or cufrency
hedging at absolute notional values {even those held purely

for nsk reductien purposes, such as forward forergn exchange
contracts held for currency hedging) and denvative exposure
{converted into the equivalent underlying positions). fhe
commitment method nets off dervative instruments, while the
gross methad aggregates them

The table below sets out the current maximum permitted [imit
and the actual level of leverage for the Company as at 31 mMarch
2020:

Gross Commitment
Leverage exposure method method
Maximum permitted limit 200% 200%
Actual 124%

18%

The leverage limits are set by the AlFM and approved by the
Board and are in line with the limits set out in the Company’s
Articles of Association

This should not be confused with the gearing set out I the
Financial Highiights which 1s calculated under the traditional
method set out by the Association of Investrment Campanies The
AIFM 15 also required to comply with the gearing parameters set
by the Board in relation to barrowings
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

THIS NOTICE 1S IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR
IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take you
should seek your own advice from a stackbroker, solicitor,
accountant or other independent professional adviser who is
authorised under the Finanaial Services and Markets Act 2000 if
you are resident in the United Kingdom, of if not, from another
appropriately autharised independent financial adviser.

If you have sold or atherwise transferred alt of your shares,
please pass this dacurnenl, lugelher with the accompanying
documents 1o the purchaser, or transferee, ar to the person wha
arranged the sale or transfer so they can pass these documents
to the person who now holds the shares.

Qur preference 1s to welcome shareholders in persan to our 2021
AGM, particulzrly given the canstraints we faced in 2026 due to
the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company 1s continuing to monitor
the current COVID-19 leqislation and public health guidance 1ssued
by the UK Government

We have prepared for this AGM based on the anticipated status
of the UK Gavernment's roadmap out of lockdown at the date
of the meeting. 1115 expected that the AGM will be able to go
ahead as normai as a physical meeting.

However, it may be necessary to adapl our arrangements 1o
respond {o any changes in circumstances, including the passibility
of a delay Lo the further easing of restnctions. Any changes ta the
arrangements for the AGM (including any change to the location
of the AGM) will be communicated to shareholders before the
meeting, including through our website {(www trproperty.com)
and via an RNS announcement,

The meeting will be conducted in accordance with legisiation
and public health quidance in farce at the time of the meeting
Depending on the circumstances at the time of the meeting, it
may be necessary tg Imit physical attendance by shareholders.
we regret that it wiil nat be possible to provide refreshments
in the usual way If new restrictians are impaosed, 1t 1s passible
that we will not be in a position to accommodate sharehalders
beyond the mimimum required to hold a quorate meeting

Regardless of the current expectation for the physical meeting
1o praceed as planned, we stiongly encourage all shareholders
1o vote In advance Dy proxy and appoint the Chairman of the
meeting as their praxy rather than any other named person,
who may not be permitted to attend the AGM. This will ensure
that their vote will be counted if they (or any other proxy they
might atherwise appoint} are not able to attend the meeting All
resalutions will be voted on by & poll.

Shareholders intending to attend the AGM are asked to register
therr intention as soon as practicable by email to the following
dedicated address. cmuk-trpropertyinvestment@hnkgroup.ca.uk .

Shareholders who are not able or do not wish to attend the
meeting in person {regardiess of an easing cof restrictions) will be
able to watch a live webcast of the meeting. Ihis will include the
formal business of the meeting, the Manager's presentation and
questions and answers. |he webcast will not enzble sharehaolders
to participate in the meeting or vote However, shareholders will
be invited to submi questions through our website, by 12 00
noon on 26 July 2021 Questions of a very similar nature may be
grouped together to ensure the orderly running of the AGM
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Shareholders are asked to consult the website in the peniad
leading up to the event where any restiictions or changes wall
be set out and the format detailed when we know what will be
permitted at that time.

Notice is hereby gven that the Annual General Meeting of

TR Property Investment Irust plc {the "Company”) wili be held
at 2.30 pm on 27 July 2021 at the Royal Automobile Club, 89/91
Pali Mall, Londan SWTY SHS for the purpose of transacting the
following business:

lo consider and, It thaught tit, pass the following Resolutions,

of which Resalutions 110 11 will be proposed as Ordinary
Resolutions and Resolutions 12 to 14 shall be praposed as Special
Resoluticns.

to recelve the Repart of the Directors and the Audited
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report (ather than the
part containing the Directors’ remuneration policy) for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

To declare a final dividend of 9.00p per Ordinary share.
To re elect Simon Marnson as a Director.

To re-elect David Watson as a Director

lo re-elect im Gillbarks as a Director.

To re-elect Kate Bolsover as a Directer.

fo re-efect Sarah-Jane Curtis as a Director.

To re-appoint KPMG LLP (the "Auditar”) as Audilors of the
Company to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company

10 authorise the Directors 1o determine the remuneration of
the Auditars.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Ordinary resolution
© THAT, in substitution for all such existing authonties, the

Directors be generally and unconditionally autharised
pursuant to and in accordance with Sectian 557 of
the Companies Act 2006 (the "Act”) o exercise all
the powers of the Company o allot shares in the
Company and to grant nghts to subscribe for, or to
convert any secunly intg, shares in the Company up to
a nominal value of £26,181,455 (being approximately
33% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company
as at the latest practicable date prior to publication ol
this hotice) provided that this authonity shall expire
at the date of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company {or, If earlier, at the close of business
on 27 October 2072), save that the Company shall
be entitled to make offers or agreements before the
expiry of this authonty which would or rmight require
shares to be allotted or rnghls to be granted after
such expiry and the Directors shall be enttled to allot
shares and grant nights pursuant to any such offers or
agreements as 1l this authority had nol expired.



Notice of Annual General Meeting

SPECIAL RESGLUTIONS

THAT

{a) (in substitution for all such existing authonties and subject
to the passing of Resolution 11 set aut above) the directors
be empowered pursuant to Section 570 and Sechion 573 of
the Act to allot equity secunties {as defined in Section 560
of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authonty canferred
by Resolution 11 above and/or to sell shares held by the
Company as treasury shares for cash as if Section 561(1) of
the Act did not apply to any such aliotment, provided that
this power shall be himited to

(1) the allotment of equity securities and sale of treasury
shares for cash in conmection with an offer of, or
invitation to apply for, equity securities:

(aa) to shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be
practicable) to therr existing holdings; and

(bb) 10 helders of other equity securities, as required
by the rights of those securties, or as the Board
otherwise considers necessary,

and so that the Board may 1mposSe any himits of restrictions
and make any arrangements which 1t considers necessary
or appropnate to deal with treasury shares, fractional
entitlernents, record dates, leqgal, requlatary or practical
problems in, or under the laws af, any territory or any other
malter, and

{11) In the case af the authority granted under Resalution
11 and/or in the case of any sale of treasury shares
for cash, 1o the allotment (otherwise than under
paragraph (1) above) of equity securities or sale of
treasury shares up to a nominal amount of £3,966,887
{being approximately 5% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at the latest practicable date
pnor to publication of the notice of meeting),

(b) the power given by this resclution shail expire upon the
expiry of the authanty conferred by Resolution 11 above,
save that the Company shall be entitled to make offers or
agreements befare the expiry of such power which would
or might require equity securities to be allotted after such
expiry and the dwectors shall be entitled to allo! equity
securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the
power canferred hereby had nat expired

THAT the Company be and 15 hereby generally and
unconditionatly authonsed 10 accordance with Section 701
of the Act to make market purchases {within the
meaning of Section 693(4) of the Act) of Ordinary shares
of 25p each in the capital of the Company on such terms
and in such manner as the directors may from tme to
time determine provided that

(3) the maximum number of Ordinary shares hereby
authonsed to be purchased shall be 14 99% of the
Company's Ordinary shares in 1ssue at the date of the
Annual Gereral mMeeting (equivalent tg 47,570,911 Oranary
shares of 25p each at 3 June 2021, the latest practicable
date prigr to publication of thys Notice);

{b) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may
be paid for any such share shall not be more than the
higher of

(i) 105% of the average of the middie marke! quatations
for an Ordinary share as taken from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Gfficial List for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which the Company
agrees to buy the shares concerned; and

(i) the higher of the price of the last iIndependent trade
and the highest current independent bid for ar Ordinary
share n the Campany on the trading venue where the
purchase is camed out at the relevant time;

{c) the minirmum pnce {exclusive of expenses) which may be
paid for an Ordinary share shall be 25p, being the nominal
value per Ordinary share; and

{d} the authonty hereby conferred shail expire at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company
10 2022 (or, 1f earhier, at the close of business on 27 October
20722), save that the Company shall be entitled to enter
Into a contract to purchase Grdinary shares which will, or
may, be completed or executed wholly or partly after the
power expires and the Company may purchase Grdinary
shares pursuant ta such contract as if the power canferred
hereby had not expired.

- THAL, with effect from the conclusion of this meeting,
the Articles of Association produced to the meeting and
initialled by the Chairman of the meeting for the purposes of
identification be hereby appraved and adopted as the Articles
of association of the Company, in substitution for, and to the
exclusion of, the existing Articles of Assotiation

Registered Office

Registered in England No: 84492 11-12 Hanaver Stieet
tondon

WIS Y0

Ry Order of the Board

For and on behalf of

Lini Company Matters Limited
Secretary

3 June 2021
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NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

A member entitled ta attend and vote at the meeting
convened by the above Notice is entitled tc appoint one

or more proxies to exercise all or any of the rights of the
member to attend, speak and vate in his or her place,
Shareholders are strongly encouraged to appoint the Charman
of the meeting as their proxy, rather than any other named
persan who may not be permitted to attend the AGM in the
event of restnctions or hmits on attendance A proxy need

not be a shareholder of the Company. To appoint more than
one proxy, the proxy form should be photocopied and the
name of the proxy to be appointed indicated on each proxy
form tagether with the number of shares that such proxy is
appointed in respect ¢f. Completion and submission of a proxy
instructton will not preclude a member from attending and
voting in person at the AGM (subject to any restrictions on
physical attendance)

lo be valid any proxy form or other instrument appointing

a praxy must be returned by post, by courier ar by hand to
the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investar Services
PLC, The Pavilions, Bnidgwater Road, Bristai BS99 67, or
alternatively, by going to www.eproxyappointment.com
and following the instructions provided. All proxies must

be appointed by no later than 48 hours before the time of
the AGM. In the case of joint holders, where mare than one
of the joint halders purports to appoint a proxy, anly the
appointment submitted by the most senior holder will be
accepted Semianty 1s determined by the order in which the
names of the joint holders appear in the Company’s register
In respect of the jaint helding (the first named betng deemed
the mosi senior)

In order to be able tg attend and vote at the AGM or any
adjourned meeting (and also for the purpose of calculating
how many votes a person may cast), a person must have

his or her name entered on the Register of Members of the
Company by 2.30 pm onr 23 July 2021 (or 6 00 pm on the

date two days before any adjourned meeting). Changes to
entries on the Reqister of Members after this ime shall be
disregarded 1n determiming the rights of any persan ta attend
ar vote at the meeting

voting wilf be canducted on a pali at the Meeting. Gn a poll
vote every sharehalder will through their proxy have one vote
for every ordinary share af which he or she 1s the holder

sharehelders should note that 1t 15 passible that, pursuant to
requests made by shareholders of the Company under Section
527 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company may be required
to pubhsh on a website a statement setting out any matter
relating to: (1) the audit of the Company’s accounts {including
the auditer’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to
be laid before the AGM, ar (i) any crcumstance connected
with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since
the previous meeting at which annual accounts and reporls
were laid In accordance with Section 437 of the Companies
Act 2006

132 TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST

The Company may not reguire the sharehalders requesting
any such website publication 10 pay Its expenses 1n ccmplying
with Sections 527 or 528 of the Companies Act 2006. Where
the Company is required to place a statement on a website
under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, 1t must forward
the statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the
time when it makes the statement available on the website
The business which may be dealt with at the AGM includes
any statement that the Company has been required under
section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 to publish on a
website

Any carparation which 1s @ member of the Company tan
appoint one or more corporate representatives who may
exercise on its behalf alf of its powers as a member provided
that they do not do so 1n relation to the same shares

Ihe night to appoint a proxy does nct apply 1o persons whose
shares are held on thew behalf by another persen and who
have been nominated to receive communication from the
Company in accordance with Section 146 of the Companies Act
2006 ("nomimated persons”). Nominated persons may have

a right under an agreement with the registered shareholder
whao halds shares on their behalf to be appainted (or to

have somegne else appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively, if
nominated persens de nat have such & right, or do not wish
to exercise 1t, they may have a nght under such an agreement
to give instructions to the persan holding the shares as to the
exercise of voting rights.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies
through the (REST electrenic proxy appeintment service

may do so for the AGM to be held on 27 July 2021 and any
adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in
the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have
appointed a voting service provider should refer to their CREST
sponsors or voting service provider(s), who will be able to
take the appropriate action an their behalf

In arder for a proxy appaintment or instruction made by
means of CREST to be valid, the apprapriale {REST message

{a "CREST Proxy Instruction”™) must be properly authenticated in
accordance with kuraclear UK & Ireland Limited's specifications
and must contain the infarmation required for such
instructions, as described in the CRESI Manual. 1he message
must be transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s
agent, Ccmputershare Investar Services PLC (CREST Participant
ID- 3RA50Q), no later than 48 hours before the time appointed
for the meeting. Far this purpose, the time of receipt will

be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp
applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from
which the Company's agent is able to retrieve the message by
enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CRESI

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST spansor ar
voling service provider should nate that Furcclear UK & Ireland
tmited does not make available special procedures in CRESI
far any particular messages.
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Nermal system timings and hmitations will therefore apply

in relation Lo the input of CREST Praxy Instructions. 1115 the
respansibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, If
the CREST member is 3 CREST persanal member or sponsored
mernber or has apponted a vating sefvice piovider, to procure
that hus or her CREST sponsor or voting service provider

takes) such action as shall be necessary to ensure thal a
message 1s lransmitted by means of the CREST system by any
particular time In this connection, CREST members and, where
apphicable, their CREST sponsor of voting service provider are
referred in particular to those secticns of the CREST Manual
toncerning practical imitations of the CREST systen and
timings. The Company may treat as invalid 8 CREST Proxy
instryction 1n the circurnstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a)
of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001

Any member attending the meeting (subject to any
restrictions in place at the ume of the meeting) has the nght
to ask questions. The Company must cause to be answered
any such guestion relating to the business beng dealt with at
the meeting but no such answer need be given If: () to do sa
would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting
orinvolve the disclosure of confidential information; (b) the
answer has already been given on a website in the form of an
answer to 3 question; or (¢ 1t 1s undesirable in the interests
of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the
question be answered. Questions of a very similar nature may
be grouped together to ensure the grderly running of the
AGM

A copy of this notice, and other infarmation required by
section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, can be found at
www.trproperty com

Members satistying the threshalds in secticn 338 of the
Companies Act 2006 may require the Company to give, ta
members of the Company entitled o recerve natice of the
AGM, notice of a resalution which those members imtend to
move {and which may properly be moved) at the AGM. A
resolution may properly be moved at the AGM unless

{1 1t wauld, if passed, be ineffective (whether by reason of
any inconsistency with any enactment ar the Company’s
constitution or otherwise); (in) 1t 1s defamatory of any persan;
or {m) 1t 1s frivalous or vexatious A request made pursuant
Lo this nght may be in hard copy or electionic form, must
iwentfy the resolution of which notice 15 1o be given, must
be authenticated by the persan(s) making it and must be
received by the Company nat later than six weeks befare the
date of the AGM.

Members salisfying the thresholds in sectior 3384 of the
Caompames Act 2006 imay request the Campany ta mclude

In the business to be dealt with at the AGM any matter

{other than a proposed resalution) which may praperly be
inciuded in the business at the AGM. A matter may properly
be included in the business at the AGM unless: (1) it 1s
defamatary af any person, or (i) 1t 1s frivolous or vexatious

A reguest made pursuant to this nght may te n hard copy

or electromic form, must identify the matter to be included in
the business, must be accompanied by a statement setting
oul the grounds for the request, must be authenticated by the
person(s) mak:ng 1t and must be received by the Company not
ater than six weeks before the date of the AGM.

Biographical details of the directors are shown on pages 38
and 35 of the Annual Report & Accounts

- As at 3 June 2021 (being the latest practicable day prior

to publication of this Notice), the issued share capita! of

the Company 1s 317,350,980 Ordinary shares of 25p each.
Iherefore, the total number of voting rights in the Company at
3 june 202115 317,350,980

. The terms of reference of the Audit Commutiee, the

management Engagement Commuttee, the Nomination
Committee, the New Arlicles of Association and the Letlers of
Appointrment for directors will be available for inspection for
at least 15 minutes prior 10 and duning the Campany’s AGM

You may not use any electronic address provided either in
this Nolice or any related detuments Lo communicate for any
purpases cther than those expressly stated.

", The Company may pracess personal data of attendees at the

Annual General Meeting This may include webcasts, photos,
recording and audio and videa links, as well as other forms
of personal data The Company shall process such personal
data in accordance with its privacy policy, which can found af
hitps.//www trproperty.com/legal
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RESOLUTIONS 1, 2, AND 3: ACCOUNTS,
DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT AND
DIVIDEND

These are the resolutions which deal with the presentation of
the audited accounts, the approval of the Direclors’ Remuneration
Report and the declaration of the final dividend.

Ihe vale o approve the Remuneration Report 1s advisary only
and will not require the Company to alter any arrangements
detalled in the report sheuld the resolution not be passed.

Ihe Board 1s proposing a final dividend for the year ended

31 March 2021 of 900p per ordinary share. If approved at the
AGM, the Company would pay the dividend on 4 August 2021
to those shareholders on the Company’s register at the close of
business on 18 June 2021.

RESOLUTIONS 4,5, 6, 7, AND 8: RE-ELECTION OFf
DIRECTORS

These resclutions deal with the re-election of Simon Marrison,
nim Gillbanks, David watson, Kate Bolsover and Sarah-Jane
Curtis. In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all
directors will retire on an annuai basis and have confirmed that
they will offer themselves for re-election

A performance evaluation has been completed and your Board
has determined that each of the directors continues to be
effective and demonstrates their commitment to their rcle

Their biographical details, which are set out on pages 38 and

39, demonstrate how the Bgoard has the apprapnate balance

af skills, experience independence and knowledge to lead the
Company’s long-term sustainable success. Accordingly, the Board
uranimously recommends their re-election.

RESOLUTIONS 9 AND 10: AUDITORS

These ¢eal with the reappointment of the Audilars, KPAMG
LLP and the authorsation for the directors to determine their
rermuneration.

RESOLUTION 11: ALLOTMENT Of SHARE CAPITAL

Our Board considers 1t appropriate that 2n authority be gianted

tc allot shares i the capital of the Cempany up to a maximum
norminal amount of £26,445,915 {representing approximately one
thirg of the Company’s 1ssued share capital as at 3 June 2021,
being the latest practical date prior to publication of this Netice of
the meeting). As at the date of this notice the Company does not
hold any shares in treasury.

The directars have no present intention of exercising this
authority and would only expect to use the authaority if shares
could be issued at, or at 3 premium 1o, the Net Asset Value per
share.

This authority will expire at the earlier of close of business
on 27 Octaher 2022 and the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting of the Company to be held in 2022.
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RESOLUTION 12: DISAPPLICATION OF STATUTORY
PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS

This resolution would give the directors the authanty to allot
shares {or sell any shares which the Company elects to hald
in treasury) for cash without first offering them to existing
sharehalders in propartion to their existing shareholdings.

This authonty would be Imited to allotrments ar sales in
connection with pre-emptive affers and offers to holders of
ather equity securities If required by the rights of those shares
or as the board otherwise considers necessary, ar otherwise up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,966,887. This aggregale
nominal amount represents 5% of the total 1ssued share capital
af the Company as at 3 June 2021, the latest practicable date
prior ta publication of this Notice. in respect of this aggregate
norminal amount, the directors confirm their intention to follow
the provisions of the Pre-kmption Group's Statement of Principles
regarding cumulative usage of authorities within a rofling
3-year period where the Principles provide that usage in excess
of 7.5% should not take place without prior consuftation with
shareholders.

the authonty will expire at the earlier of close of business on
27 October 2022 and the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting of the Company to be held in 2022

RESOLUTION 13: AUTHORITY TO MAKE MARKET
PURCHASES OF THE COMPANY'S ORDINARY
SHARES

At the AGM held in 2020, a special resolution was propesed and
passed, qiving the directars authonity, until the canclusion of the
AGM 10 2021, to make market purchases of the Company’s own
issued shares up to a maximum of 14.99% of the issued share
capital

Your Board 15 propasing that they should be given renewed
authanty ta purchase Qrdinary shares in the market. Your

Board believes that to make such purchases in the market at
appropriate tmes and prices 15 a suitable method of enhancing
shareholder value The Campany would, within guidelines set
from time 1o Lime by the Board, make either a single purchase or
a senes of purchases, when market conditions are suitable, with
the aim of maximising the benefits to sharehalders.

Wwhere purchases are made at prices below the prevailing Net
Asset Value per share, this will enhance the Net Asset value

for the remaining shareholders 1t is therefore intended that
purchases would only be made at prnices below Net Asset Value.
Your Board cansiders that it will be most advantageaus 1o
shareholders for the Campany to be able ta make such purchases
as and when it considers the timing to be favourable and
therefore does not propose to set a timetable for making any
such purchases.

The Companies (Acquisiion of Own Shares) (Treasury Shares)
Regulations 2003 enable companies In the United Kingdom tg
held in treasury any of their own shares they have purchased
with a view 1o possible resale at a future date, rather than
cancelling them. If the Company does re-purchase any of its
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shares, the directors do not currently mntend 1o hald any of the
shares re-purchased in treasury The shares so re-purchased will
cortinue to be cancelled.

The Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authonity firmit the maximum
price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for any such
share It shall not be more than the higher of:

(1) 105% of the average of the middle market quctations for an
Qrdinary share as taken from the London Stock Exchange Daily
Official List for the five business days immediately preceding
the date on which the Company aqrees to buy shares
concerned; and

(i1} the hugher of the price of the last independent trade and
the highest current independent bid for an Crdinary share in
the Company on the trading venue where the purchase 1s
carned out.

The minimum price to be paid will be 25p per Ordinary

share {being the nominal value). the Listing Rules alsa hmit

a Iisted company to purchases of shares representing up to
15% of 1ts 1ssued share capital In the market pursuant to a
general authonty such as this For this reason, the Company 15
iimiting 1ts autharity t0 make such purchases to 14 99% of the
Company’s Ordinary shares in issue at the date of the AGM; this
15 equivalent to 47,570,971 Qrdinary shares of 25p 2ach (nominal
value £11,892,/27) at 3 June 2027, the latest practicable date
prior to publication this Notice The authaority will last untl the
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2022

RESOLUTION 14: ADOPTION OF NEW ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

Resclution 14 relates ta the adoption of new Artictes of
Assoclation (the "New Articles™) in ordes to updale the
Company’s current Articles of Assooiation (the “Current Articles”),
which were adopted on 14 December 2012 The New Articles
reflect develapments in best practice, and provide additional
danfication and flexibility. The main changes in the New Articles
are summarnised m the Appendix on pages 106 and 107 Other
changes, which are of @ minor, technical or clanfying nature have
not been nated in the Appendix. The New Articles showng all
the changes ta the Current Articles are available for inspection,
at wwwetrproperty.com and will also be available at the Annual
General Meeting

RECOMMENDATION

Your Board believes that the resolutions cantained n this Natice
of Annuat General Meeting are in the best interests af the
Company and sharehalders as a whole and recommends that you
vote in favour af therm as your Directors intend to do in respect of
their beneficial sharehaldings

TR PROPERTY INVESTMENT TRUST
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APPENDIX

Further information and Explanatery notes regarding
amendments to the Company’s articles of association

Sigma Shares and Deferred Shares

The New Articles amend the Current Arficles to remove
provisions and teferences relating to Sigma Shares and Deferred
Shares 1his reflects that an 14 December 2012 all Sigma Shares
were consohidaled and redesignated as Ordinary Shares, and
the resulting Deferred Share was purchased by the Cempany far
cancellation. Ihe Company now has a single class of Ordinary
Shares.

Untraced sharehoiders

The New Articles amend the position in relation to untraced
shareholders. Rather than requinng the Company Lo lake out
two newspaper advertisements, the New Articles require the
Company to use reascnable efforts to trace the shareholder.
‘Reasanable eftorts’ to trace a sharehalder may include, if
considered appropriate, the Company engaging a professional
asset reunification company or other tracing agent to search for
a shareholder who has not kept their shareholder details up to
date

In addition, the New Articles provide that money from the sale
of the shares of an untraced shareholder will be forfeited if not
claimed after two years, rather than six years

These changes reflect best practice and provide the Company
with appropriate flexibility im connection with iccating untraced
shareholders.

Sub-division of shares

the New Articles clanfy that any shares resuling fromn a sub
division of the Company's existing shares may, In addition to
having any preference or advantage as compared with the
Company’s other shares, also have deferred or other nights This
change makes administering any sub-division of shares more
straightforward.

Operation of general meetings

The New Articles contain specific provisians ta clanfy that the
Company <an hold “hybnd” general meetings (including annual
general meetings) and 1o set out how such meetings are to
be conducted. Under the New Articles, the Company may hoid
“hybrid” general meetings in such a way that enabies members
to attend and participate in the business of the meeting by
attending a physical locatton or by attending by means of an
electronic facility. voting at hybrid meetings will, by default, be
dewided on a poll. Hybrid meetings may be adjourned in the
event of a technological failure

the New Articles allow the Company, where appropriate, to make
changes to the arrangements for general meetings (incduding the
introduction, change or cancellation of electronic facilities) aftes
notice of the meeting has been issued. The Company may give
notice of any such changes in any manner considered appropriate
(rather than via an advertisement in two national newspapers),
The New Articles also expliatly allow the Company to introduce
health and safety arrangements at its meetings.

These changes were introduced 10 provide the Board greater
fexibility 1o align with technological advances, changes in
investor sentiment and evelving best practice, particularly in light
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of the Covid-19 outbreak and the uncertain duration of socal
distancing measures and restrictions an gatherings. The Board
believes thal hybrid meetings will allow for greater sharehalder
and stakehoider engagement aver the coming years in a way
that 1s more convenient for all parties. Absent exceptional
arcumstances, members of the Board intend to continue the
practice of attending general meetings of the Company in person
In line with the views expressed by the Investment Assotiation
and Institutional Shareholder Services, the changes will not
permit meetings to be held exclusively on an electronic basss, so
a physical meeting will still be required In deciding whether and
how to hold a hybnd general meeting in future, the Company
will have reqard to the views of shareholders and institutional
governance bodies at the relevant time as well as to relevant
guidance or codes of best practice,

Ihe New Artictes also specifically refer to the possibility of
satellite/multi-venue meetings, such as the use of overflow
rcoms. Satellite meetings are legally valid even without such a
provision but it has been added for clarity.

These changes are primanly contained in articles 47, 48, 50
and 5310 the New Articles A number of other cansequential
amendments have been made to the New Articles

Objections or Efrofs in Voting

In relation to the statutory requirement that a proxy must vote
in accordance with any instructigns given by the member by
wham the praxy 1s appointed, the New Articles state explicitly
that the company 15 not required to check that proxies and
corparate representatives have voted in accordance with their
instructions or that their failure to do so wauld vitiate the result
of a shareholder vate.

Number of directors
The New Articles reflect the statutary mimmum of two directars,
and introduce a maximum of 10 directors.

Reappeintment of directors

in line with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance
Code, the New Articles require directors to retire {and should
they wish to remain in office, seek re-etection) at each annual
general meeting 1his requirement does not apply ta directars in
their first year of appointment who were appeinted in the period
between the AGM nctice being 1ssued and the AGM isell. This
corfirms existing Company practice.

Directars fees

The Current Articles provide that the aggregate ot all fees paid

to directors shall nat exceed £250.000 per annum. Article 88 of
the New Articles increases this amount to £300,000 to reflect the
amount approved by resoluticn of the Company on 22 july 2014,

Borrowing Powers

The New Articles include in the defimtion of “borrowings” the
rminonty proportion of maneys borowed by a member of the
group and owing lo a partly-owned subsidiary undertaking
{(with “the minonty proportion” meaning a propertion equal to
the proportion of the 1ssued share capital of a partly-owned
subsidiary undertaking which 1s not attnbutabie to a member of
the group).
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Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends

The Current Articles provide that f a dividend or other payment
due to members has nat been claimed far twelve vears after
being declared or becoming due, it will be forfeited to the
Company. Afticle 122 of the New Articles reduces this period from
twelve 10 Six years.

Payments of dividends and other amounts

The New Arlicles give the Board greater flexibility o determine
the apprapriate methad(s) it pays dividends (and ather sums)
to shareholders This flexibility will help the Board take account
of developments in market practice and keep down the
administrative cost of making payments. The New Articles

also provide that where a payment cannot be made because

a shareholder has not provided valid account details to the
company, that amount will treated as unclaimed untl the
shareholder provides those detalls

Capital Reserve

The New Articles remove Article 132 in the Old Articles, which
was included to ensure that the company qualifies as an
investment trust and 1s treated as an investment company
taifowing the madernisation of the investment trust regime and
amendments to legislation abolishing the restnction on the abihity
to distribute capttal prefits, this provision is no longer necessary

Strategic report and supplementary materiais

The Companies Act 2006 and the Campanies (Receipt of Accounts
and Reports) Regutations 2013 allow the Campany to send a copy
of 1ts strategqic report with supplementary matenal instead of

its full accounts to a member wha has elected or tacitly agreed
to receve these documents, provided that the Company 15 not
prohibited from doing so 1n 1ls articles Article 129 1s intended to
make it clear there 1s no such prohibition Shareholders should
note that they can always view the full annual report an the
Lompany’s website i request 3 hard capy from the Campany’s
registrar.

Gender Neutral Drafting
The New Articles amend the Cufrent Articles so that gender
neutral lanquage 15 used

General

Other changes which are of a minor, technical ar danfying nature
or which have been made 1o remove provisions in the Current
Articles which duplicate English company law are not noted.
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HELEASE OF REsulls
The half year results are announced in late November The full
year results are announced in early June.

AMMUAL SENERAL MIETING

The AGM is held 1 Landon i July

TIVIDEND PAYSEMT DATES

Dividends are usually paid on the Ordinary shares as follows:

Interim: January

Final: August
GINMEDEND PAYMENTS
Dividends can be paid Lo shareholders by means of BACS
(Bankers’ Automated Clearing Services}; mandate forms for
this purpose are available from the Registrar. Allernatively,
shareholders can wiite lo the Registrar (the address is given on
page 108 of this report) ta give their instructions; these must
nclude the bank account numbey, the bank account title and the
sort code of the bank lo which payments are to be made
DOVLOEND REINYESTMENT PLAN (DRI
TR Property Investment Trust ple offers shareholders the
apportunity to purchase further shares in the Company through
the DRIP Please nate that foliowing Brexit sharehsiders in Europe
are no longer able to participate in the DRIP BRIP fafms may
be obtained from Computershare Investor Services PLC through
ther secure website www.nvestarcentre ca.uk, or by phoming
0370 707 1694 Charges do apply; dealing commission of 075%
(subject to a minirmum of £2 50). Government stamp duty of
0.5% also applies

SHA A D AT
Ihe market prices of the Company’s shares afe published daily
in The kinancial Times Some of the infarmation 15 pubhished in

other leading newspapers The financial imes also shows figures
for the estimated Net Asset Values and the discounts apphcable.

FHARD PRI NG TG
1SIN GBOOO9064097

SEDOL (906409

Bloomberg TRY LN

Reuters IRY.L
Datastream IRY

AL AARY

Detalls of the benchmark are given In the Strateqic Report
on page 24 of this Report and Accounts. The benchmark index is
published daily and can be found on Bloomberg;

FISE EPRA/NARELI Developed turope Capped Net Total
Return Index in Sterling
Blocomberg TRORAG Index

tNTERNET
Detalls of the market pnce and Net Asset value of the

Ordinary shares can be found on the Company’s website at
www.lrproperty.comn

Sharehaolders who hold their shares in certiicated form can check
their holdings with the Registrar, Camputershare Investor Services
PLC, via www investorcentre co.uk Please nate that to gain
access to your detalls on the Computershare site you will need
the halder reference nurnber stated on the top left hand corner of
your share certificate.

DISARILITY ALT

Copies of this Report and Accaunts and other documents (ssued
by the Company are avafable from the Company Secretary. If
needed, copies can be made available in a vanety of formats,
including Braille, audia tape or larger type as appropriate

You can contact the Registrai, Computershare Investor Services
2L, which has installed textphones to allow speech and hearing
impaired people wha have their awn textphane to contact

them directly, without the need for an intermediate operatar, by
dialling 0870 702 0005 Spedially trained operatars are available
during normal business hours to answer quefies via this service.

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through & typetalk” operator
(pravided by the Royal National Institute for Deaf Peaple} yau
should dial 18001 followed by the number you wish to dial.
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NOMINZE SHARE (ODE

where notification has teen provided in advance, the Company
will arrange for copies cf shareholder commumications 1o be
pravided to the operatars of nominee accounts. Nominee
investors may attend general meetings and speak at meetings
when invited 10 do so by the Chairman.

Col Base L0sT

Tacetna of 2yt ot L sharehoiders s
fpnty Dotd Sagpoy shuacss

Upon a disposal of all or part of a shareholder’s holding of
Ordinary shares, the impact on the shareholder’s capital gains
tax base cost of the conversion to Sigma shares m 2007 and the
redesignation ta Ordinary shares in 2012 should be considered.

In respect of the conversion to Sigma i 2007, agreement
was reached with HM Revenue & Customs ("HMRC") to base
the apportionment of the capitat gains tax base cost on

the proportion of Ordinary shares that were converted by a
sharehalder into Sigma shares on 25 July 2007,

Therefore, If an Qrdinary sharehalder converted 20% of therr
existing Ordinary shares into Sigma shares on 25 july 2007, the
capital gains tax base cost of the new Sigma shares acquired
would be equal to 20% of the original capital gains tax base cost
of the Qrdinary shares that they held pre-conversian The base
cost of their remaining holding of Ordinary shares would then be
80% of the onginal capital gains tax base cost of their Qrdinary
shares held pre-conversion.

As part of the re-designation of the Sigma shares into Ordinary
shares in December 2012, a further shareholder’s agreement
was reached with HMRC thal a sharehalders capital gains tax
base cost in their new QOrdinary shares should be equivalent to
their capital gains base cast In the pre existing Sigma shares
(t.e. their capital gains base cost under the existing agreement if
applicable).

If in doubt as to the consequences of this agreement with HMRC,
shareholders should cansult with their own professional advisors.
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MARKET PURCHASES

Ihe shares of IR Property Investment Trust plc are iisted and
traded an the London Stack kxchange. Investors may purchase
shares through their stackbroker, bank or other finanaal
intermediary.

HOLDING SHARES IN CERTIFICATED FORM

investors may hold thew investment in certificated form. Qur
requstrars, Computershare operate a dealing service which enables
inveslors to buy and sell shares quickly and easily online without

a broker or the need 1o open a irading account. Alternatively the
investor Centre allows investars to manage portfofios quickly and

securely, update details and view balances without annual charges.

fFurther details are available by cantacting Compulershare on 8370
707 1355 or visit www computershare.com.

TR Property Investment Trust plc now offers sharehaiders the
opportunity 1o purchase further shaies in the company through
the Dividend Re-investment Plan (“DRIP™) through the registrar,
Computershare Shareholders can obtain further infarmation on
the DRIP through therr secure website www investorcentre.co uk,
ar by phoning 0370 707 1694 Charges do apply. Please note

that to gamn dccess to your details or register far the DRIP an the
Computershare site you will need the holder reference number
stated on the top left hand carner of your share certificate

SAVING SOREMES 948 AN THTHeR I SMY
A number of banks and wealth management organisations
provide Savings Schemes and 1SAs through which UK chents ¢an

nvestin IR Property Investment Irust ple

ISA and savings scheme praviders do charge dealing and other
fees for operating the accounts, and investars should read the
ferms and Condisons provided by these cormpanies and ensure
that the charges best suit their planned investment profile Mast
schemes carry annual charges but these vary between provider
and praduct. Where dealing charges apply, in some cases these
are apphed as a peicentage af funds invested and others as a
flat charge 1he opumum way to hold the shares will be ditferent
lor each investor depending upon the frequency and size of
investments to be made.

Detalls are given below of twa praviders offering shares in
IR Property Investment Irust, but there are many other options

HILES I T PSS R R S A

Interactive investor provide and administer a range of self-select
investment plans, including tax-advantaged 1SAs and SIPPs
{Self-Invested Personal Pension), and Trading Accounts

For mare mformation, interactive investar can be contacted on
0345 607 6001, of by visiing https //www.i.co uk/

Interaciive investar offer investors in TR Praperty and qther
investment teusts a free opt-in online shareholder voting and
information service that enables investors ta receive sharehaider
commumications and, If they wish, 1o vote on the sharehaldings
held in ther account

IR Property is also on the interactive super 60 rated |ist

§ SRR bt Lt T
BMO offer 3 number of Private Investor Plans, ‘nvestment Trust
and Jumior 1SAs and Children’s Investment Plans Investments

tan be made as lump sums ar through reqular savings. For fiore

Pyl -una Tl

infarmation see inside the back cover. BMO can be conlacted on
0800 136 420, or wisit www.bmogam com.

Please remember thal the value of your investments and any
income from them may ga down as well as up Past performance
1s not a guide to future performance. You may not get back

the amount that you invest. If you are in any doubt as to the
suitabibity of a nlan or any investment available within a plan,
please lake piafessional advice.

oo Selwenes yad ISAS ansion 23 G Mg
Toust Savngs (ATS) BNP Parthas

Following the acquisiion of Alliance Trust Savings by interactive
investor, ATS self-directed accounts were transferred to the
interactive investor platform on 14th Qctaber 2019.

In 2012 BNP Paribas closed dowan the part of their business that
aperated Savings Schemes and 15As. Investors were given the
chaice of transferring their schemes to Allkance 1rust Savings
("ATS™) or 1o a prowider of their own choice, or ta dose their
accounts and sell the holdings

If investors did not respond to the letters from BNP Paribas, therr
accounts were transferred to ATS

Following the acquisition of Allance Trust Savings by interactive
investor, AIS self-directed accounts were tiansferred to the
interactive investor platform on 14 October 2019,

SHARE FRAUD ANDG BOILER BOOM 5780,
Shareholders 1in @ number of Investment Trusts have been
approached as part of a share fraud where they are informed

of an apportunity 1o sell their shares as the company is

subject to a takeover bid This s not true and 1s an attempt to :

defraud shareholders. The share fraud alse seeks payment of a
“tommission” by shareholders to the parties carrying out the fraud.

sharenolders should remain alert to this type of scam and treat
with suspicion any contact by teleshone offening an attractve
ivestrnent opparturity, such as a premium prce for your shares,
or an attempt 1o convince you that payment is required in order
to refease a settlement tor your shares. 1hese frauds may also
aoffer to sell your shares in compames which have little or ng
value or may offer you banus shares These so called “boiler
room” scams can also Avolve an attempt e obtain your personal
and/or banking information with which to commit dentity fraud.

The caller may be friendly and reassurning or they may take a
more urgent tone, encouraging you o act quickly otherwise you
could lose maney or miss out an & deal

If you have been contacted by an unauthornsed firm regarding
your shares the FCA would like lo hear fram you You can report
an unauthonsed firm using the FCA helpline an 0800 111 6768 or
by visiing ther website, which also has other useful informatian,
at www fcaorg.uk

If you receive any unsolicited investment advice make sure you
get the comect name of the person anc organisabion If the calls
persist, hang up If you deal with an unauthonised firm, you will
not be eligible to receive payment under the financial Services

Compensation Scheme

Please be advised that the Board or the Manager would
never make unsolicited telephone calls of such a nature to
shareholders.
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BMO ISA

You can use your ISA allowance to make an annual
tax-efficient investment of up to £20,000 for the
current tax year with a lump sum from £100 or regutar
savings from £25 a month. You can also transfer any
existing 1SAs to us whilst maintaining the tax benefits.

BMO JUNIOR ISA (JtSA)”

A tax efficient way to invest up to £9,000 per tax year
for a child. Contributions start from £100 lump sum or
£25 a month. JISAs or CTFs with other providers can be
transferred to BMO.

BMO LIFETIME ISA (LI1SA)

For those aged 18-39, a Lifetime 1SA could help towards
purchasing your first home or retirement in Jater life.
Invest up to £4,000 for the current tax year and receive
a 25% Government bonus up to £1,000 per year. invest
with a lump sum frem £100 or regular savings feom
£25 a month.

BMO CHILD TRUST FUND (CTF)”

If your child already has a CTF you can invest up to
£9,000 per birthday year, from £100 lump sum or £25 a
month. CTFs with other providers can be transferred

to BMO.

BMO GENERAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT {GIA)

This is a flexible way to invest in our range

of Investment Trusts. There are no maximum
contributions, and investments <an be made from
£100 lump sum or £25 a month.

BMO JUNIOR INVESTMENT ACCOUNT (JIA)

This is a flexible way to save for a child in our

range of Investment Trusts. There are no maximum
contributions, and the plan can easily be set up under
bare trust {(where the child is noted as the beneficial
owner) of kept in your name if you wish to retain
control over the investment. Investments can be made
from a £100 [ump sum or £25 a month per account.
You can also make additional lump sum top-ups at any
time from £100 per account.
“the C1F and JISA accounts are apened by parents n the child's name

and they have actess to the money at age "8 " "Calls mdy De recorced o
rronitated far tra.ning ard qua' ity purpases

a0 @

B0 ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

CHARGES

Annual management charges and other charges apply accarding 1o
the type cf plan

ANNUAL ACTOUNT CHARGE

ISATLISAL E60+VAI

A E40+VAI

PRATHA ST £25+VAI

You ¢an pay the annual charge from your account, or by direct debit
(in addiion to any annual subscnption limits),

DEALING CHARGES

£12 per fund {reduced to £0 for deals placed through the online BMO
investor Portal) for ISA/GIA/LISA/JIA and JISA. There are no dealing
charges on a (7F

Dealing charges apply when shares are bought or scid but not an the
reinvestment of dividends or the investment of monthly direct debits.

Government stamp duty of 0.5% also applies on the purchase of
shares (where applicable}

The value of investments can go down as well as up and you may

not get back your aniginal investment. Tax benefits depend on yaur
individual crcumstances and tax allowances and rules may change
Please ensure you have read the full lerms and Conditions, Privacy
Policy and relevant Key Features documents before investing. For
requlatory purposes, please ensure you have read the Pre-sales Cost &
Charges disclosure related to the product you are applying for, and the
relevant Key informalion Documents (KIDs) for the investment trusts
you want ta invest into.

HOW 70 INYEST
To open a new BMQ plan, apply onkne at bmogam.com/apply

Online applications are not avallable if you are transfernng an existing
plan with anather provider to BMO, or if you are applying for a new
plan «n mare than one name buf paper applications are avalable at
bmainvestments co.uk/documents or by contecting BMO.

MEW (USTOMERS
Call: A0 136 129
Email- i bmagam e

EXISTING PLAM HOLDERS

Call: DI AGT 3030 .
Emall  svrmsiorenguine s T Dmagarm  3m
By post: :

Yau can also nwvest in the trust through online dealing platforms for
private investors that offer share dealing and 15As. Companies include:
Barclays Stockbrokers, EQi, Halifax, Hargreaves Lansdown,
HSBC, Interactive Investor, Lloyds Bank, The Share Centre

bmoinvestments.co uk

§ facebock com/bmainvestmentsuk

00345 600 3030, 9.00am - 5.00pm, weekdays, calls may be recorded
or monitored for training and quality purposes.

BMO Assel Management L m:led 1s authornised and regulated by the financisl Conduct Authonty and 1s a member of BMO Global Asset mManagement EMEA of which the

ultimate parent company i1s the 3ank of Montreal 737518 (56 05/21_UK
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